University of Wisconsin Milwaukee UWM Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations

August 2022

Facilitators and Barriers to Electronic Personal Health Record Use in the Older Adult Population

Janelle Theisen University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.uwm.edu/etd

Part of the Nursing Commons

Recommended Citation

Theisen, Janelle, "Facilitators and Barriers to Electronic Personal Health Record Use in the Older Adult Population" (2022). *Theses and Dissertations*. 3080. https://dc.uwm.edu/etd/3080

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by UWM Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UWM Digital Commons. For more information, please contact scholarlycommunicationteam-group@uwm.edu.

FACILITATORS AND BARRIERS TO PATIENT PORTAL USE IN THE OLDER ADULT

POPULATION

by

Janelle Theisen

A Dissertation Submitted in

Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Nursing

at

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

August 2022

ABSTRACT

FACILITATORS AND BARRIERS TO ELECTRONIC PERSONAL HEALTH RECORD USE IN THE OLDER ADULT

by

Janelle Theisen

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 2022 Under the Supervision of Professor Julia Snethen, Ph.D., RN, FAAN

Technology is rapidly being implemented into healthcare. The electronic personal health record (ePHR) has been implemented to improve health outcomes, patient engagement, selfmanagement of chronic disease, and decrease cost of healthcare. Research has examined the impact on older adult's ePHR use, and which characteristics influence an older adult's willingness to use the ePHR. However, there is little evidence to describe facilitators and barriers, and the hypothesized consequences. A correlational design with a convenience sample of older adults (n = 210). Measures included a self-reported survey, adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. survey, Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form, UCLA Loneliness Scale, and an observation checklist. Descriptive statistics, frequency distributions, Pearson r and standard multiple regression used for data analysis. Multiple regression analysis for the dependent variable of intent to use indicates the overall model explains 70.3% of the total variance in older adults' intent to use ePHR (F (7, 200) = 67.6, p < .001). User experience ($\beta = .50$, p < .001) and perceived control ($\beta = .367$, p < .001) were statistically significant predictors on older adult's intent to use ePHRs. Multiple regression analysis for the dependent variable of performance indicates the overall model explains 26.3% of the total variance in older adult's performance with ePHR (F (7, (49) = 2.5, p < .028). The measure of depression was statistically significant in predicting older

adults' performance with ePHRs (β = .32, *p* <.037). This study identified several facilitators and barriers to older adults' intent to use and performance with electronic personal health records (ePHRs). Understanding facilitators and barriers to ePHR use could inform healthcare progress. Further research is needed to identify the influence of depression and loneliness on older adults' intent to use and performance with ePHRs.

© Copyright by Janelle Theisen, 2022 All Rights Reserved

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title Page	i
Abstract	ii
Copyright Page	iv
List of Figures	ix
List of Tables	X
Acknowledgements	xi
Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
Background and Significance	2
Purpose	5
Research Questions	5
Research Hypotheses	6
Theory Incorporation	6
U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework for Older Adults	7
Efficiency	
Learnability	9
Perceived User Experience	9
Perceived Control	
Incorporation of Variables Within Framework	
Strengths and Limitations of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework	
Theory Relevance and Significance to Nursing	
Theoretical and Operational Definitions	
Older Adult	
Sensoriperceptual Deficits	
Presence of Depression	
Perceived Control	
User Experience	
Loneliness	
Intent to Use	

Performance	15
Electronic Personal Health Record	15
Chapter Summary	16
Chapter 2	17
State of the Science	17
Introduction	17
Background	17
The Older Adult Population	18
Characteristics of Older Adult ICT Users	19
Types of Technology Use	21
Internet Use	22
Smartphone Use	23
Tablet Use	23
Social Media Use	23
Depression in the Older Adult	24
Loneliness in the Older Adult	25
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A	
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature"	26
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary	26 64
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3	26 64 65
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods	26 64 65 65
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction	26 64 65 65 65
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction Research Design	26 64 65 65 65
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction Research Design Research Questions	26 64 65 65 65 65
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction Research Design Research Questions Research Hypotheses	26 64 65 65 65 65 66
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction Research Design Research Questions Research Hypotheses Assumptions of Study	26 64 65 65 65 65 66 66
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction Research Design Research Questions Research Hypotheses Assumptions of Study Sample/Subjects	26 64 65 65 65 66 66 66
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction Research Design Research Questions. Research Hypotheses Assumptions of Study Sample/Subjects Setting	26 64 65 65 65 66 66 66
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature"Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction Research Design Research Questions Research Hypotheses Assumptions of Study Sample/Subjects Measures	26 64 65 65 65 66 66 66 67 68
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature"Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction Research Design Research Questions Research Hypotheses Assumptions of Study Sample/Subjects Setting Measures Procedures	26 64 65 65 65 66 66 66 67 68 73
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction Research Design Research Questions Research Hypotheses Assumptions of Study Sample/Subjects Setting Measures Procedures Data Analysis	26 64 65 65 65 66 66 66 67 68 73 76
Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature" Chapter Summary Chapter 3 Methods Introduction Research Design Research Questions Research Hypotheses Assumptions of Study Sample/Subjects Setting Measures Procedures Data Analysis Ethical Considerations	26 64 65 65 65 66 66 66 66 67 73 76 78

Summary	79
Chapter 4	81
Results	81
Introduction	81
Manuscript Two: "Factors Affecting Older Adults' Intent to Use Electronic Personal H Records (ePHRs)"	Health 82
Manuscript Three: "Exploring Influencing Factors for Older Adults' Performance with Electronic Personal Health Records (ePHRs)"	1 118
Chapter Summary	164
Chapter 5	165
Discussion	165
Introduction	165
Synthesis of the Research	165
Synthesis of the Manuscripts	168
Implications of the Study	170
Nursing Practice	170
ePHR Design	170
Education and Support	171
Policy	172
Increase Internet Access	172
Financial Investment	172
Suggestions for Future Research	173
Conclusion	174
References	175
Appendices	190
Appendix A: Demographic Questionnaire	190
Appendix B: Adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey [©] Item Measures of Variables	195
Appendix C: U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey [©] Adaptation Permission	196
Appendix D: Correlation of Original and Adapated U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. [©] Survey Items	199
Appendix E: Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form	200
Appendix F: UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3	201
Appendix G: Twin Cities Physicians ePHR Permission	203
Appendix H: Observation Checklist	204

Appendix I: Consent Form	
Appendix J: Adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. [©] Survey	
Curriculum Vitae	

LIST OF FIGURES

LIST OF TABLES

Table	1	[5

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There have been many individuals that have helped me throughout the dissertation process. First and foremost, I want to thank my Major Professor, Dr. Julia Snethen for challenging me to develop a strong knowledge base and to motive me to achieve my goals. I would like to thank the other members of my committee as well. Thank you to Dr. Seok Hyun (Joshua) Gwon, for asking thought-provoking questions and ensuring my work is conceptually sound. Thank you to Dr. Julie Ellis, for encouraging me throughout the process and providing depth to the dissertation. Thank you to Dr. Priya Nambisan, for agreeing to join in the final committee, and for your insight into this topic. I would also like to thank Dr. Murad Taani, who guided my statistical analysis and assistance with the results of my data.

I would also like to thank those who supported my progress throughout the years. I want to thank Professor Dawn Krist, who without your assistance, I may still be doing my literature review. I want to thank Professor Christine Brockway, who continued to encourage me and push me to set goals and achieve them. I want to thank my co-workers, who without your encouragement, I would never have thought I was capable of doing this. I want to thank my coworkers, family, students, and friends who helped with recruitment through word-of-mouth. I also want to thank my colleagues, who edited, advised, and discussed my work to produce a quality product.

I also want to express my gratitude to my family. To my husband and my children, you were my rock throughout this program. You continued to support me, even when it seemed like the end would never arrive. To my parents and sisters, who kept their faith in me and never let me give up. You all were my cheerleaders and were understanding when I needed to focus on my work instead of family events. I appreciate you all, and couldn't have done this without you.

xi

Chapter 1

Introduction

Technology use has become an important aspect of life, influencing the workplace, academic settings, and healthcare (Czaja et al., 2006). In healthcare, technology provides delivery services, in-home monitoring and communication, transmission of health-related information and data, and support groups (Czaja et al., 2006). One type of healthcare technology, the electronic personal health record (ePHR), is increasingly being used across healthcare settings (Chaudhry et al., 2006). Due to advancements in healthcare technology, patients and caregivers are encouraged to utilize interventions such as electronic personal health records to understand and manage their health conditions (Czaja, 2015).

Healthcare technology affects all patients and caregivers, and can interfere with patient autonomy and management of health conditions (Thompson et al., 2011). One aspect of health care technology, the ePHR, is intended to improve access and quality of care for patients (Wildenbos, Peute, & Jaspers, 2017). Electronic personal health records are web-based programs that help patients to perform several tasks, such as communicating with providers and monitoring health records (Zettel-Watson & Tsukerman, 2014). One perceived benefit of ePHRs is the ability to improve health outcomes, particularly for persons with chronic illnesses and older adults (Wildenbos et al., 2017). In addition, recent legislation promotes ePHR implementation across healthcare settings (Scheck McAlearney et al., 2016). While research exists on the benefits of ePHRs, it is unclear what factors contribute to the older adult's enrollment and usage (Wildenbos et al., 2017).

Background and Significance

Chronic disease significantly affects health care costs for both older adult patients and healthcare systems. Estimates show that treatment and monitoring of chronic diseases can be as much as 75% of healthcare expenditures in the United States (Davis, Bender, Smith, & Broad, 2015). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2017) states that chronic and mental health conditions account for 86% of the nation's \$2.7 trillion in spending. The aging population has important implications for spending due to the higher incidence of chronic disease and healthcare expenditures (Neuman & Cubanski, 2015). According to Moore (2014), one of the groups that had the highest hospital costs in 2012 were patients aged 65 to 84 years. To reduce the cost of health spending related to chronic disease management, engagement of the patient is necessary (Sands & Wald, 2014). Research indicates that self-management and collaboration with providers leads to better health outcomes in patients with chronic conditions (Nolte & Osborne, 2013). One solution to improving engagement and self-management of the older adult is the implementation of electronic personal health records.

Historically, patients with chronic conditions and older adults sought primary providers face-to-face to provide direct care and manage co-morbidities (Scheck McAlearney et al., 2016). Electronic personal health records allow providers to deliver individualized patient education and provide health coaching electronically in between appointments (Kruse, Argueta, Lopez, & Nair, 2015). In 2009, the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act was created to encourage development of health information systems (HealthIT.gov, 2016). The HITECH Act provides organizations opportunities to establish programs to improve health care quality, safety, and efficiency using health information systems (HealthIT.gov, 2016). Organizations have since implemented electronic health records, provided decision support

interventions, and started remote monitoring of older adults (Bowles, Dykes, & Demiris, 2015). In addition, legislative incentives to implement electronic personal health records have shifted the role of providers from director to facilitator of disease self-management (Scheck McAlearney et al., 2016).

The legislation and incentives for organizations to utilize health information technology and the cost of chronic conditions fuels a collision within the older adult population. Factors including computer self-efficacy and digital disengagement challenge health systems to find effective solutions to overcome barriers to using ePHRs (Price-Haywood, Harden-Barrios, Ulep, & Luo, 2017). Online health management systems such as ePHRs are already utilized and will continue to increase in popularity and use (Zettel-Watson & Tsukerman, 2016). Therefore, it is critical to understand factors that influence older adult patient enrollment and usage of ePHRs in order to best facilitate engagement.

According to the Administration on Aging (2020), there is an estimated number of 54.1 million older adults aged 65 years or older. The number of older adults is projected to increase by an estimated 30 to 40 million people by the year 2050 (Administration on Aging, 2013). The older adult population is adapting to technological advancements, but at a much slower rate than younger generations (Pew Research Center, 2014). The percentage of older adults who used the internet increased between 2008 and 2012, yet remained 27% below the percentage of all U.S. adults (Pew Research Center, 2014). The University of Washington (UW) Soaring project is a program designed to identify how older adults manage personal health information (Orthopaedic Healthcare Solutions, 2017). From the initial results of the UW Soaring project, one in five older adults reported using an ePHR to access online medical records and information (Orthopaedic Healthcare Solutions, 2017). Other research indicated that 80% of the older adult population

enrolled in an ePHR, but utilization varied between 10% and 30% (Arcury et al., 2017; Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016). Despite the correlation of electronic personal health record use and favorable health outcomes, adoption of ePHRs in the older adult population is still low (Wildenbos et al., 2017).

Research indicates that factors such as health literacy level and socioeconomic status affect older adult's use of ePHRs (Wildenbos et al., 2017). Research has also been conducted on the effect of biological, psychological, and social aging processes in relation to older adult's ePHR use (Wildenbos et al., 2017). Physical limitations such as impaired range of motion have been researched, whereas sensoriperceptual deficits have not been studied (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). In addition, older adult's cognition and memory impairment research is prevalent (Patomella, Kottorp, Malinowsky, & Nygård, 2011; Rosenberg, Kottorp, Winblad, & Nygård, 2009), but evidence of depression as a factor to ePHR use is absent. Mental health conditions, such as depression (Finlay & Kobayashi, 2018), as well as socioeconomic status (Cotterell, Buffel, & Philipson, 2018) have been linked to another factor, loneliness. Research on loneliness has indicated that individuals who are lonely have a greater risk for developing chronic conditions (Cotterell et al., 2018). However, there is a lack of evidence on the effect of loneliness on older adults' intent to use and performance with ePHRs. Initial research suggests that perceived control and user experience with ePHRs impact older adult's intent to use, but further research is needed (Caboral-Stevens, 2015).

While the use of ePHRs is linked to health care benefits, lack of utilization could negatively affect older adult health outcomes (Depatie & Bigbee, 2015). If chronically ill older adults continue to have low ePHR adoption, they may not experience all of the services offered (Wildenbos et al., 2017). Evaluation of older adult's experiences and preferences for ePHR use can lead to increased adoption rates (Wildenbos et al., 2017). Therefore, it is essential to identify and understand facilitators and barriers to electronic personal health record use in the older adult.

Purpose

The purpose is to examine the relationship between individual factors of older adults and their use of electronic personal health records (ePHRs).

Table 1

Independent and Dependent Variables

Independent Variables	Dependent Variables
Depression	Intent to use
Perceived control	Performance
User experience	
Sensoriperceptual deficits	
Loneliness	

Research Questions

- 1. What is the older adult's degree of depression?
- 2. What is the older adult's degree of loneliness?
- 3. What is the older adult's perceived control of electronic personal health records?
- 4. What is the older adult's user experience with electronic personal health records?

- 5. What is the relationship between sensoriperceptual deficits and intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?
- 6. What is the relationship between performance and intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?
- 7. What is the relationship between the independent variables and intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?
- 8. What is the relationship between the independent variables and performance with electronic personal health records in the older adult?

Research Hypotheses

- Controlling for older adult's sensoriperceptual deficits, the degree of depression, the degree of loneliness, perceived control, and user experience will be correlated with intention to use electronic personal health records.
- Controlling for older adult's sensoriperceptual deficits, the degree of depression, the degree of loneliness, perceived control, and user experience will be correlated with performance with electronic personal health records.

Theory Incorporation

The Use of Technology for Adaptation by Older Adults and/or Those With Limited Literacy (U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y.) Framework for Older Adults (Figure 1) was selected for study guidance and support (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). The purpose of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework is to utilize theories and concepts that explain or predict intent to use electronic personal health records by the older adult (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). The U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework is appropriate as it identifies facilitators and barriers to using health information technology, such as ePHRs (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). The framework consists of developed concepts, propositions, assumptions, and outcomes that directly relate to the older adult (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). The framework incorporates internal and external variables that predict an older adult's intent to use ePHRs. The following section will explain the major tenants of each premise of the framework and describe the significance to nursing.

Figure 1. Pictorial representation of the derived Use of Technology for Adaptation by Older Adults and/or Those With Limited Literacy Model[©] (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015, p. 7)



U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework for Older Adults

The U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework for Older Adults (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015) is a newer conceptual model. It was developed to explain or predict the potential intent to use a

health website by older adults. It was derived from three theoretical frameworks: the Roy Adaptation Model, the Technology Acceptance Model, and the Theory of Planned Behavior (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). The framework bases its tenets on the assumption that older adults utilize technology and online resources based on perceived usability (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015).

The U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework incorporates the constructs of efficiency, learnability, perceived user experience, and perceived control to measure intent to use technology (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Two determinants are categorized as user components: perceived user experience and perceived control (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Learnability and efficiency are categorized as computer system components (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015).

Efficiency

The construct of efficiency is based on two determinants: perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Davis (1989) describes perceived usefulness as the degree in which a person believes a system would improve performance. Perceived ease of use is the degree in which someone believes the system would be free from difficulty (Davis, 1989). In the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework, efficiency is defined as the amount of effort required to use the system and how well the system meets the user's needs (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). In this study, data on perceived ease of use from an adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] was analyzed as a factor influencing electronic personal health record use in older adults.

Learnability

The second computer system component is learnability, which historically has been difficult to define. In the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework, learnability encompasses the ability of an individual with no previous technology experience to both perform well and achieve optimal performance (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Learnability addresses two categories: initial learnability and extended learnability. Initial learnability identifies the initial performance with a technology system (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Extended learnability describes the change in performance over time (Grossman, Fitzmaurice, & Attar, 2009). Learnability will be measured through the variable of performance in this study. Performance was measured through observation and questions adapted from the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®].

Perceived User Experience

The first user component is perceived user experience, which is the level of satisfaction in using the system and design (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Perceived user experience is the holistic experience of the individual's interaction with a system (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Perceived user experience focuses on the characteristics of the product as well as the user's internal state (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). In addition, the construct emphasizes the interrelatedness of the system, the user, and the context within which the encounter occurs (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). In this study, perceived user experience, as measured by the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®], was analyzed to determine influence on electronic personal health record use in older adult.

Perceived Control

Perceived control is the second user component, and is defined as the amount of control users have to choose a path to proceed (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Perceived control is composed of three facets: cognitive, decisional, and behavioral control (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Cognitive control describes how an individual interprets an event based on the ability to gather and appraise information (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Decisional control is the ability to choose from different opportunities of action (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Behavioral control is an individual using direct means to influence an event (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). In this study, perceived control is an independent variable that was measured using the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®].

Incorporation of Variables Within Framework

The U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework provides structure for incorporation of other variables that affect ePHR use in older adults. The independent variables of perceived control and perceived user experience define the characteristics of the user (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). This study sought to identify the relationship between user variables and intent to use and performance with electronic personal health records. The user in this study is the older adult. The older adult interacted with the technology/system component, which measured perceived ease of use and performance. An electronic personal health record test account was used during the data collection phase for the primary researcher to observe performance. The interface in the study was the ePHR. Finally, measured unique individual factors included sensoriperceptual deficits, presence of depression, and loneliness, along with demographic information and presence of chronic illness. The components of usability and behavior were not directly measured. However, the results of the study may be able to predict or explain improved self-management of chronic

conditions in older adults (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Identifying factors that influence ePHR use in older adults may lead to improved health outcomes as a result of behavior changes.

Strengths and Limitations of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework

One of the critical features of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y Framework is that it is specifically geared toward the older adult population. The aim of the framework seeks to address a lack of evidence related to the use and acceptance of informational technology in the older adult (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). The U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework also addresses cognitive and functional changes, motivations, and intent to use ePHRs (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). One assumed limitation of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework is that it is situation-specific, limiting the scope and focus (Meleis, 2012). With the focus on a specific population, generalization to other populations may be challenging (Meleis, 2012). However, since the target population of the study is the older adult, the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework is an appropriate choice. Another limitation is the lack of utilization in the literature. Because the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework is new and emerging, there is little evidence that references and applies the framework in nursing research. Initial studies have indicated relevant and significant findings toward intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult population (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). However further research is needed on the assumptions, reliability, and adaptability of the conceptual model (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). One aim of the study was to seek to validate the framework as a guiding principle for older adults and ePHR use.

Theory Relevance and Significance to Nursing

Implementing technology interventions such as ePHRs can be a complex issue as older adults learn to navigate the system (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). If the older adult is unable to perform or lacks intent to use ePHRs, implementation of ePHR use could be ineffective (Thompson et al., 2011). By understanding barriers that lead to inadequate performance or lack of intent to use ePHRs, nurses may be proactive in the decision-making processes (Machado, Lima, Cavalcante, de Araujo, & Vieira, 2014). As more issues in older adult utilization of ePHRs are raised, nurses may be more involved in management of chronic conditions (Thompson et al., 2011).

Theoretical and Operational Definitions

The following definitions are provided to the reader as a means of ensuring consistency.

Older Adult

According to the World Health Organization (WHO) (2015), an older adult is any individual who has reached the chronological age of 65 years. The United Nations designates any person over the age of 60 categorically an older adult (WHO, 2015). For consistency, the operational definition of an older adult is identified as any individual who is 65 years in age or older.

Sensoriperceptual Deficits

Age related changes can limit the older adult's ability to accurately and efficiently perform computer skills necessary to navigate electronic personal health records (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Visual changes can lead to blurred vision and increased glare, or loss of field of vision (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Hearing changes can lead to misinterpretation of sounds or cues emitted from computers (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). While there are other sensory or physical limitations that can occur, sensoriperceptual deficits for this study are limited to hearing

and vision deficits. The operational definition of sensoriperceptual deficits is self-identification by the older adult of hearing and/or vision impairment.

Presence of Depression

Depression may be known as major depressive disorder or clinical depression. Individuals who experience depression have persistent feelings of sadness or hopelessness, and often lose interest in things they once enjoyed (Shelton, 2018). The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) lists several criterion for a diagnosis of depression, and requires an individual to experience at least five symptoms during a two-week period (Shelton, 2018). The conceptual definition for depression is the presence of distressed mood, accompanied by somatic and cognitive changes that affect the individual's ability to function (Shelton, 2018). The operational definition of depression is identified through use of the Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form and indicated by a score of greater than ten (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986).

Perceived Control

According to Morris and Marshall (2004), there are three facets of perceived control: cognitive, decisional, and behavioral. Cognitive control relates to interpretation of an event through information gathering and appraisal (Averill, 1973). Decisional control addresses the chance and ability to choose from different courses of action (Averill, 1973). Behavioral control is when an individual uses decision authority to influence an event (Averill, 1973). The definition used for perceived control is the degree to which an individual feels they can affect outcomes via voluntary actions (Averill, 1973). The operational definition for perceived control was measured via the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015).

User Experience

User experience is multifactorial and complex. It consists of the user's internal state, the characteristics of the system, and the context or environment (Hassenzahl & Tractinsky, 2006). User experience is a holistic experience that combines elements of the system and the emotions, the situation, and usability of the individual (Hassenzahl & Tractinsky, 2006). The conceptual definition for user experience is the attitude toward the overall experience, characteristics of the system, and the context in which the interaction occurred (Hassenzahl & Tractinsky, 2006). The operational definition for user experience was measured using the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015).

Loneliness

Loneliness is described as a perceived discrepancy between an individual's desired and actual level of social interaction (Ong, Uchino, & Wethington, 2016). Social isolation and loneliness are often closely linked, but in fact are different concepts (Chipps, Jarvis, & Ramlall, 2017). Social isolation is an objective measure of an individual's lack of contact with social networks (Cotterell et al., 2018). Loneliness, however, is a subjective perception and experience of lack of interaction (Poscia et al., 2017). The conceptual definition for loneliness is the subjective perception of less than desirable contact with an individual's social network (Kemperman, van den Berg, Weijs-Perrée, & Uijtdewillegen, 2019). The operational definition for loneliness was measured by the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3 (Russell, 1996). Loneliness was measured on a continuous scale, with higher numbers indicating more loneliness (Russell, 1996).

Intent to Use

Intent to use stems from factors that drive or influence a particular behavior (Ajzen, 1991). Intent to use is an indicator of system use and is directly impacted by perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness (Punnoose, 2012). The conceptual definition for intent to use is the cognitive representation of an individual's willingness and readiness to perform a task or behavior (Punnoose, 2012). The operational definition for intent to use was measured through the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©].

Performance

The term performance comes from the concept of usability. Usability is concerned with the relationship between computers systems and the user, and measures effectiveness and efficiency (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Usability can describe both the effectiveness of using a product as well as the quality of the user experience (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). The conceptual definition of performance is the ability and ease with which an individual achieves specific tasks within a system (Benbunan-Fich, 2001). The operational definition of performance is the ability to complete specified tasks in an electronic personal health record test account.

Electronic Personal Health Record

Electronic personal health records are an application in which an individual can maintain and manage personal health information (HealthIT.gov, 2016). Electronic personal health records provide a secure website where patients can access medical data and communicate with providers (Turner et al., 2015). Electronic personal health records differ from electronic medical records and electronic health records in regards to end users (HealthIT.gov, 2016). Electronic medical records (EMRs) are considered digital versions of a paper chart, and have clinicians as

the end user (HealthIT.gov, 2016). Similarly, electronic health records (EHRs) have clinicians as end users, but include all clinicians involved in patient care (HealthIT.gov, 2016). Electronic personal health records (ePHRs) are designed with the patient as the end user (HealthIT.gov, 2016). The definition for electronic personal health record is a secure online website where patients access personal health information from anywhere with an internet connection (HealthIT.gov, 2016). An electronic personal health record test account was provided by Twin Cities Physicians.

Chapter Summary

In this chapter, the background and theoretical framework are proposed for a dissertation study to examine the relationship between individual factors of older adults and their use of electronic personal health records. The dissertation addresses the problems of legislative requirements to use ePHRs and lack of utilization in the older adult. The dissertation is composed of five chapters and three articles prepared for publication. Chapter One is an introduction to the problem and the dissertation. Chapter Two is a critical review of the literature along with a manuscript of a synthesis of the literature. Chapter Three details the methodology utilized for the study. Chapter Four presents the results of the study along with two manuscripts explaining the results for each dependent variable. Finally, Chapter Five concludes the dissertation presenting a synthesis of the study and future implications.

Chapter 2

State of the Science

Introduction

This chapter provides a review of the current state of the science surrounding technology use and the older adult population. The purpose of the study is to examine the relationship between individual factors of older adults and their use of electronic personal health records. Included in this chapter is a published manuscript. The prepared manuscript is a systematic review of the literature on the facilitators and barriers to electronic personal health record use in the older adult population.

Background

Technology adoption has become a critical skill needed for individuals to function in society (Rikard et al., 2018). Society is becoming more reliant on technology innovations in all aspects of everyday life (Rikard et al., 2018). The term technology can have various meanings, for example, it can be the application of scientific knowledge to energy, construction, and communications, among others (Britannica, n.d.). Because of a broad range of definitions of technology, for this study, technology is limited to information and communications technology (ICT) (Ramsden Marston et al., 2019). ICT is defined as any technological tool and/or resource used for creating, sharing and exchanging information (UNESCO, 2021). ICT focuses primarily on communication technologies, such as internet, cellphones, and wireless networks.

While ICT is utilized by people of all ages, it has specific benefits to the older adult population. Increased use of ICT has the potential to positively impact health and health care systems (Rikard et al., 2018) and positively influence well-being, degree of loneliness, and social support (Knapova et al., 2020). However, the older adult (aged 65 and older) may not experience positive health outcomes due to the digital divide, (Rikard et al., 2018) which refers to the gap in adoption of ICT between younger and older adults (Bixter et al., 2019). Although the adoption rate of ICTs is growing fast in the older adult population, it is still much lower than the younger generations (Abdelrahman et al., 2021). This chapter seeks to identify characteristics of older adults who utilize ICT. Factors impacting general ICT use in the older adult will also be compared to ePHR use in the older adult. A systematic review on facilitators and barriers to electronic personal health records, a specific type of ICT, is included.

The Older Adult Population

The older adult population (aged 65 and older) is the fastest growing portion of the population (Knapova, 2020). The Administration on Aging (AoA) publishes reports on the American population age 65 and older, and in 2019 the older adult was estimated to be 54.1 million, representing approximately 16% of the U.S. population (AoA, 2020). The percentage of older Americans is projected to grow to 21.6% of the population by the year 2040 (AoA, 2020). Older adults have been more resistant to adopting technology compared to younger generations (Aggarwal et al., 2020). However, there are a growing number of older adults utilizing information and communication technologies (Aggarwal et al., 2020).

The use of information and communication technologies is largely affected by sociodemographic factors (Hülür & Macdonald, 2020). Research has shown that sociodemographic factors affect the older adult population similarly compared to the general population (Hülür & Macdonald, 2020). Lower rates of usage of ICT in older adults is correlated to older age who are less affluent, minority, and less educated (Hülür & Macdonald, 2020). In

addition, nonusers tend to have a disability or chronic condition, live alone or are single or widowed (Knapova et al. 2020).

Characteristics of Older Adult ICT Users

While older adults are classified as aged 65 and older, there is variability within this age group. The AoA (2020) identifies three groups: the young-old (65-74 years), the middle-old (75-84 years), and the old-old (85 years and older). The number of older adults in the young-old subgroup remains the highest (31.5 million) compared to those 85 and older (6.6 million) (AoA, 2020). The young-old are almost twice as likely as those in the old-old category to use the internet (82% vs. 44%) as well as have smartphones (59% vs. 17%) (Anderson & Perrin, 2017). The difference in usage between age groups is also seen in electronic personal health record (ePHR) use in the older adult. Portz et al. (2019) states that older adults, particularly in the old-old group, have a decrease in ePHR adoption. Likewise, the percentage of older adults setting up an ePHR decreased with age (National Poll on Healthy Aging, 2018).

The digital divide is evident across racial and ethnic composition as well. In 2019, 24% of older adults aged 65 or older identified as racial or ethnic minority (AoA, 2020). Research on ICT found that non-Hispanic whites were more likely to be users than members of racial and ethnic minority populations (Lee et al., 2020). In particular, older African Americans and Hispanics have decreased usage of many different digital technology (Yoon et al., 2020). Similarly, Walker et al. (2020) identified that African Americans have one of the lowest growth rate of ePHRs nationally. Although research suggests racial disparities in ICT use, the extent is unclear (Mitchell et al., 2019). Current research on ICT use on racial/ethnic groups is limited to specific geographic areas or technology, without national representation (Mitchell et al., 2019).

Therefore, it is hypothesized that the gap in ICT usage among racial/ethnic groups is higher than reported (Mitchell et al., 2019).

In addition to age and race, differences exist in ICT use in relation to income. The median income of older individuals reported in 2019 was approximately \$27,000, with men having an income about \$16,000 higher than women (AoA, 2020). In general, Americans with higher household incomes were more likely to have multiple devices (63% with \$100,000 or more) compared to 23% of lower income households (Vogels, 2021). Internet and ICT usage tends to be lower in less affluent populations, in part due to lack of access (Hülür & Macdonald, 2020). Vogels (2021) found that 13% of the population making less than \$30,000 per year did not have access to technology. In comparison, only 1% of the population with an annual income over \$100,000 did not have access to technology (Vogels, 2021). Electronic personal health record use also had a higher percentage of patients with higher household income (59% for \geq \$60,000 vs. 42% for < \$60,000) (National Poll on Healthy Aging, 2018).

Older adults with some college or higher education levels were more likely to engage with ICT than those who completed lower education levels (Hülür & Macdonald, 2020). The Pew Research Center (2017) found that older adults who were college graduates adopted technology at higher rates than older adults with lower levels of education. Fang et al. (2019) implied that education is the primary predictive sociodemographic variable towards ICT use. Higher education levels are often linked to social factors including income and occupation, further creating variation across the older adult population (Fang et al., 2019). The National Poll on Healthy Aging (2018) also found that adults with more education were more likely than others to set up and use an ePHR. Adoption and use of ICT in the older adult was negatively correlated with the presence of a disability or a chronic health problem (Knapova et al., 2020). Nineteen percent of adults aged 65 or older had reported no function or significant difficulty in at least one functioning domain (AoA, 2020). Disabilities with the highest percentages included impairment in vision, hearing, mobility, communication, cognition, and self-care (AoA, 2020). Leading chronic conditions in the older adult are arthritis, coronary heart disease, myocardial infarction, cancer, breathing disorders, stroke and diabetes (AoA, 2020). Cognitive and functional decline have been shown to factor into usage of ICT in older adults (Izadi-Avanji et al., 2021). Declines in the older adult can limit the use of ICT, such as a reduced physical or cognitive ability to interact with the device (Izadi-Avanji et al., 2021).

Marital status and living arrangements are associated with ICT use and adoption at the individual level (Knapova et al., 2020). Nationally, a larger percentage of older men (70%) were married in comparison to older women (48%) (AoA, 2020). Approximately 30% of all older women were widows, which significantly outnumbers the percentage of widowers (AoA, 2020). Due to the high number of widows, there are more older women who live alone (33% vs. 20%), and the proportion increases with age (AoA, 2020). Research summarizes that nonusers of ICT have a tendency to live alone, be single, or widowed (Knapova et al., 2020).

Types of Technology Use

Technology knowledge and usage are becoming increasingly necessary for older adults to interact within their living environment (Lee & Maher, 2021). In order to address changes within the older adult population and facilitate adoption of ICT, it is critical to know what types of technology are currently used by the older adult (Lee & Maher, 2021). ICT, particularly health related technologies, can address challenges in the older adult and provide support in their

communities (Jaana & Paré, 2020). According to the Pew Research Center (2017), the main types of technology utilized by the older adult include the internet, smartphones, tablets, and social media.

Internet Use

Approximately 67% of older adults across the U.S. state that they use the internet, although this percentage decreases as they age (Pew Research Center, 2017). Lee et al. (2020) found that the primary reasons for an older adult to use the internet are for e-mail, searches, and communication with friends and family. Likewise, Aggarwal et al. (2020) identified education, social connectedness, and access to services as additional reasons for older adults to utilize the internet. Older adults are able to remain socially connected to others and build social support networks (Aggarwal et al., 2020) and access information such as banking, shopping, leisure activities and health-related updates (Aggarwal et al., 2020).

One advantage to using the internet for health-related concerns is the ability to access telehealth, which allows patients of any age to visit with a provider through video platforms (National Poll on Healthy Aging, 2019). While there are an increasing number of virtual visits, only 4% of older adults reported having a telehealth visit within the previous year (National Poll on Healthy Aging, 2019). Electronic personal health records are another benefit to internet use, as it allows individuals to communicate with a provider and exchange health information (National Poll on Healthy Aging, 2018). However, older adults stated they were not comfortable with technology (47%) and did not like communicating via computer (62%) (National Poll on Healthy Aging, 2018).

Smartphone Use

The number of older adults who own a smartphone has increased 24% since 2013 (Pew Research Center, 2017). At least 80% of the older population owned a cellphone, with 42% owning a smartphone (Pew Research Center, 2017). Jaana and Paré (2020) found that a significantly smaller number of older adults used a smartphone compared to the general adult population (49.8% vs. 84.2%). Older adults not only use smartphones to communicate with others, but to organize and collect information such as calendars and news (Abdelrahman et al., 2021).

Tablet Use

One-third (32%) of older adults stated they owned tablet computers, with 19% owning an e-reader (Pew Research Center, 2017). While ownership of tablets is increasing in the older adult population, it still lags behind the adult population (Jaana & Paré, 2020). Unlike other forms of technology, there has been a sharp increase in tablet use in the 75 and older population (Vaportzis et al., 2018). One thought is that older adults prefer tablets over traditional computers due to portability and usability (Vaportzis et al., 2018). For example, older adults have an easier ability to adjust font sizes and icons on a tablet, which is more useful for those with motor and visual impairments (Vaportzis et al., 2018).

Social Media Use

Older adults utilize social media for activities such as finding news and information as well as connecting with friends and family (Pew Research Center, 2017). Thirty-four percent of older adults have used a social networking site, which has increased 7% since 2013 (Pew Research Center, 2017). Adults in the young-old age range are more likely to utilize social media

(45%) than those 75 years and older (20%) (Pew Research Center, 2017). Although older adults use social networking sites less frequently than other age groups, the number is expected to grow (Hülür & Macdonald, 2020). Older adults who use internet are more likely to use social media sites to remain connected and meet new people (Hülür & Macdonald, 2020).

Depression in the Older Adult

Information and communication technologies (ICT) can influence older adults and improve psychological well-being (Berg et al., 2017). Mental health and well-being are important aspects of care to consider in the older adult population. Worldwide, depression occurs in 7% of the older adult population, though the rates may not reflect the actual numbers affected, as mental health is often overlooked and untreated (WHO, 2017). According to the CDC (2021), estimates of older adults with depression in community environments (< 5%) is less than those requiring homecare (13.5%) or hospitalization (11.5%). However, as older adults with depression can have less ability to function, it can increase their expenses as they access more health care services (WHO, 2017). Strategies to promote health in the older adult include providing social support and implementing health and social programs related to mental illness (WHO, 2017). Information and communication technologies have been developed to facilitate interventions to improve the mental health of older adults (Haase et al., 2021).

The potential for ICT to support older adult's mental health, including depression, is increasingly evident in research (Andrews et al., 2019). Older adults have increased usage of technology for recreational activities and communication (Andrews et al., 2019). For example, the use of social networks may be able to increase older adult's engagement with others, which can lower their degree of depression (Domènech-Abella et al., 2017). Likewise, Izadi-Avanji et al. (2022) found that older adults who use ICT, such as social media, were more likely to
experience fewer mental health symptoms. However, little research has been done on the use of ICT for mental health support (Andrews et al., 2019). Recently, virtual visits and telehealth have been utilized for older adults' mental health concerns (National Poll on Healthy Aging, 2019). However, less than third (28%) of older adults who responded, stated they would consider a telehealth visit for addressing their mental health concerns (National Poll on Healthy Aging, 2019). 2019).

Loneliness in the Older Adult

Loneliness amongst older adults is associated with physical and mental health problems, such as depression (Byrne et al. 2021). Loneliness is described as a perceived deficit between the social contact a person desires and the actual level achieved (Rodrigues, 2021). A recent report indicated that 43% of older adults experience feelings of loneliness (Byrne et al., 2021). Loneliness is associated with a 26% increase in older adult mortality and can lead to a rapid decline in their physical functioning (Byrne et al., 2021). For example, individuals who have higher levels of loneliness have increased risks for dementia, cardiovascular disease, stroke, loss of physical mobility, and mental health conditions which can exacerbate symptoms of depression (Finlay & Kobayashi, 2018). Technology, particularly social technology such as ICT, increases older adults' engagement with others, which can mitigate the effects of loneliness and potentially improve health outcomes and can positively impact psychosocial health on individuals (Byrne et al., 2021). Although there is a correlation between social technology and decreased loneliness in older adults, the relationship to ePHR use is unclear (Byrne et al., 2021).

Manuscript One: "Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A

Systematic Review of the Literature"

Janelle L. Theisen MAN, RN, CNE, Julia A. Snethen Ph.D., RN, FAAN, Seok Hyun Gwon Ph.D., RN, Julie L. Ellis Ph.D., RN, Marty Sapp Ed.D.

Published in Journal of Informatics Nursing (2021), Volume 6, Issue 3

Abstract

A systematic review was conducted to examine relationships between individual factors of older adults and the usage of patient portals. Facilitators included improved communication, support, and training. Barriers include lack of experience, anxiety, privacy concerns, health limitations, and lack of interaction.

Key Words: older adults, patient portals, facilitators, barriers, usage

Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in Older Adults: A Systematic Review of the Literature

Healthcare is experiencing an information and technology boom. The new technology provides information and tools to help patients self-manage chronic health conditions (Czaja, 2015). Increases in technology use assume patients and caregivers have the knowledge to use technology to regulate and manage chronic health conditions (Thompson et al., 2011). Estimates indicate that over 37 million older adults will be managing at least one chronic condition by the year 2030 (Zettel-Watson & Tsukerman, 2016). The National Council of Aging (2021) reports that 80% of older adults have at least one chronic condition, and 77% have at least two. Organizations are developing prevention strategies for chronic conditions including self-care management interventions to address, in part, rising healthcare costs (Nahm et al., 2018). Legislation encourages organizations to utilize health information technology (HIT) such as patient portals (PPs) to improve patient outcomes (Nahm et al., 2018). Patient portals enhance coordinated care to improve and maintain patient outcomes (Sockolow et al., 2011).

The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act was created in 2009. The HITECH Act authorized incentive payments to organizations that utilized electronic health records (EHRs) with meaningful use (Nahm et al., 2018). To meet the requirements set by the HITECH Act, many organizations implemented patient portals (Nahm et al., 2018). Patient portals (PPs) are systems that can be accessed by electronic devices that provide patients access to health information and communication with providers (Griffin et al., 2016). PPs have shown to improve communication, decrease medical costs, and improve the quality of healthcare (Arcury et al., 2017). However, the number of patients utilizing PPs decreases by age (Arcury et al., 2017). While older adults' enrollment in patient portals (PPs) has

increased, the adoption of PPs remains low (Wildenbos et al., 2017). An older adult is identified by the World Health Organization (WHO) as any individual who has reached the chronological age of 65 years (2015). Factors have been suggested as contributors to low adoption rates in the older adult population, including limited technology and internet access (Wildenbos et al., 2017). However, extensive research has not been done (Wildenbos et al., 2017). Therefore, a literature review was conducted to identify factors influencing older adults' usage of patient portals.

Objective

This article aims to examine the relationship between individual factors of older adults and their use of patient portals. Increasing patient engagement in PPs to improve health outcomes requires a greater understanding of factors that impact older adults' usage. Three questions were formulated to guide the systematic review of literature.

1) What are the older adult adoption and usage rates with patient portals?

2) What facilitates older adults' adoption and usage of patient portals?

3) What are the barriers impacting older adults' adoption and use of patient portals?

Methods

Due to limited research on facilitators and barriers to patient portal use in older adults, a systematic review was conducted to identify gaps in research. The review was conducted in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement (Moher et al., 2009). Article searches were conducted through CINAHL, PubMed, Medline, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Articles describing patient portals, older adults' intent to use patient portals, and facilitators and barriers to using patient portals were identified for the review.

Study Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The inclusion criteria were as follows: a) full text was available; b) identification of patient portals or internet use; c) included older adults over the age of 65; d) printed in English; e) published in scholarly peer-reviewed journals. Both qualitative and quantitative articles were selected. Reviews and expert opinions were included to obtain different approaches and methodologies. Articles with incomplete data were excluded, or those that did not mention patient portals, internet use, or older adults.

Data Collection Process

An initial search using terms *aged*, *elderly*, *geriatric*, *older adult*, *internet use*, *personal health record use*, *patient portal use* and *health* was conducted. The initial search yielded 1113 publications (see Figure 1). Refinement of the search of articles containing keywords *aged*, *elderly*, *geriatric older adult*, *patient portal*, and *patient electronic health record* yielded 590 results. Adding in the search term *health* yielded 431 results. Finally, adding in *access* or *use* yielded 354 results. Duplicates were eliminated and abstracts were reviewed, bringing the query down to 61 articles. Articles were then read for content, and reference lists were reviewed to identify other relevant studies. After review of reference lists, 16 additional publications were included, bringing the total to 77. Inclusion and exclusion criteria were followed and articles were further reviewed for content. Twenty articles were included in the final review. Data was extracted from the articles and compiled in evidence tables based on type of research (see Tables 1 and 2).

Extracted data included research design, research location, and research question or hypothesis. Measures, analyses, and data collection strategies used in the articles were also extracted. Last, the findings, strengths, and limitations were extracted. All data was organized in

qualitative and quantitative evidence tables (Tables 1 and 2). Expert opinions and systematic reviews were limited and are included in the qualitative evidence table. A matrix was created to identify facilitators and barriers to patient portal use in the selected articles (Table 3). Article content was reviewed in detail, and facilitators and barriers were identified as presented in the matrix.

Bias and Quality Assessment

Potential bias could have occurred through publication bias, in which positive findings are more likely to be published (Gray et al., 2017). Quality assessments for each article were done using the Evidence Appraisal Tool (Dang et al., 2018). A quality rating of an "A" indicates the research contains characteristics of experimental or quasi-experimental studies (Dang et al., 2018). Research characterized as a "B" or a "C" suggests non-experimental studies and expert opinion (Dang et al., 2018). Quality assessment ratings were identified for each article in the corresponding evidence tables.

Results

Facilitators and barriers to patient portal use were identified (see Table 3). Of the twenty studies included in the final review, twelve used quantitative methods and eight used qualitative methods. Eighteen studies were conducted in the United States, one in the United Kingdom, and one in Australia. Three perceived facilitators of patient portal use were identified: improved communication, support, and training. Five perceived barriers of patient portal use were identified. Barriers included lack of experience using patient portals, anxiety, privacy and security concerns, physical and mental health limitations, and lack of personal interaction.

Adoption and Usage Rates

Patient portals have been available since the 1990s (Irizarry et al., 2015). However, estimates indicate less than 10% of US consumers utilize PPs for communication and selfmanagement (Casey, 2016). Low adoption and usage rates may be attributed to bias in who receives access codes. Ancker et al. (2011) identified that 16% of subjects received an access code, and 60% of those users activated their account. Access codes were significantly more likely to be issued to patients who were female, younger patients, Caucasian, and English speakers (Ancker et al., 2011; Peacock et al., 2017). Disparities in issuing of access codes can be attributed to self-selection or selection by providers, but the relationship is largely unexplored (Ancker et al., 2011; Peacock et al., 2017).

Another factor leading to low adoption and usage rates is access to the internet. Economically disadvantaged, less educated, and older adults that live in rural or low-income urban areas are less likely to be online (Cresci et al., 2010). Cresci et al (2010) indicated that individuals who did not utilize internet-based programs were older (*Mean age* = 74.27, *SD* = 8.10), compared to those using internet-based programs. In addition to a lack of access to the internet, older adults appear to be less likely to use internet-based programs. Compared to younger adults, the percentage of older adults utilizing information technology is drastically lower (Cresci et al., 2010). Between 2008 and 2012, the percentage of older adults using the internet increased by six percentage points (Pew Research Center, 2014). However, the overall rate of older adults using the internet (27%) remains below the percentage of all U.S. adults who go online (Pew Research Center, 2014). One in five older adults participating in the University of Washington Soaring Project use a PP to access online medical records and information (Orthopaedic Healthcare Solutions, 2017). Low PP adoption rates have led to an increased research to examine factors that influence PP use in older adults (Pew Research Center, 2014).

Perceived Facilitators

Improved Communication

Patient portals have been shown to improve communication and satisfaction with care (Griffin et al., 2016; Kruse et al., 2015). Patients, including older adults, recognize that computer technology such as PPs is useful for communication (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). After utilizing PPs, 92% of older adults surveyed shared information with the primary care provider (Kim et al., 2009). In addition, older adults identified that having updated health information led to improved communication with providers and influenced the use of PPs (Casey, 2016; Kim et al., 2009). O'Donnell et al. (2011) found in their study that eighty-eight percent of older adults indicated PPs would improve communication between providers and patients. Likewise, a comparison between a control and intervention group examined by Casey (2016) indicated a statistically higher communication rate when using PPs. Additionally, older adults identified a positive correlation between communicating through PPs and face-to-face communication with providers (Kim et al., 2009).

Patient portals not only increase communication between provider and patient but open discussion topics that may be difficult or awkward (Latulipe et al., 2015). Older adults highlighted questions about issues that were prompted through PPs that they might not have thought to ask their provider (Snyder et al., 2009). Topic prompts in a patient portal may encourage further face-to-face discussion about issues with a provider. Tieu et al. (2015) suggested that the ability to send secure messages with a provider improved subsequent face-to-

face visits Additionally, patients hypothesized that communication mediated through a PP may provide a neutral method to begin discussion. (Latulipe et al., 2015).

Benefits of Improved Communication. The coordination and communication between patients and providers can lead to improved self-management of chronic conditions (Tieu et al., 2015). Older adult participants stated that after using patient portals for communication, selfmanagement of care had increased (Kim et al., 2009; O'Donnell et al., 2011). Similarly, Kruse et al. (2018) found that 37% of articles found an increase in disease outcomes using a patient portal. Thirty-three percent of articles showed that older adults attributed greater self-management of chronic conditions due to educational resources present within a patient portal (Kruse et al., 2018). Another aspect of self-management includes retrieval of medical history data. Archiving of data and information can aid self-management of chronic conditions in the older adult (Latulipe et al., 2015). The ability to review stored information helps older adults remember details about health conditions, thus improving self-management (Latulipe et al., 2015).

Support

The second identified facilitator of patient portal use was support. Older adults tend to be more willing to use technology such as PPs if encouraged and supported (Adams et al., 2005; Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Often support is provided by friends, families, and peers (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). However, support in other settings was provided from non-relatives including graduate students and providers (Casey, 2016; Kim et al., 2009). Older adults identified that support of any kind, including verbal support, was critical to learning skills needed to navigate patient portals (Ng, 2008). Due to the support and encouragement, older adults were more likely to utilize PPs (Casey, 2016; Kim et al., 2009; Logue & Effken, 2012).

Training

A third facilitator of patient portal use in older adults is having training tutorials and programs (Kruse et al., 2015). In structured settings, helping others learn and collaborate with formal support assisted learning in older adults (Ng, 2008). Adams et al. (2005) suggested that most internet users are self-taught. Older adults rely heavily on formal training or informal support from family and friends (Adams et al., 2005). In another survey, 66% of older adults indicated help from another person would be required to use internet-based websites (Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016). Technology training programs can reduce anxiety in older adults and increase efficiency (Adams et al., 2005; Ng, 2008). After an educational intervention, participants had a statistically higher comfort level with patient portals (Casey, 2016). When staff or healthcare providers explained features of PPs, the likelihood that patients would use PPs increased (Casey, 2016).

Perceived Barriers

Lack of Experience

Patient portals are often created by technology inclined individuals (Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016). However, older adults, especially those over the age of 75, often have limited experience with computer use (Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016; Huber & Watson, 2014). As PPs are internet-based, difficulty in using the internet impacts older adults' willingness to adopt new skill sets (Adams et al., 2005). Older adult's perceived ease of use appears to be linked to previous experience with skill sets needed to navigate computer systems (Adams et al., 2005). For example, Tieu et al., 2017 indicated that older adults with limited experience using computers were more hesitant to utilize PPs. Lack of experience can contribute to difficulties using digital technologies such as PPs (Czaja, 2016; Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016; Price-Haywood et al.,

2017). Users with little to no experience with computers identified programs as complex and difficult to use (Adams et al., 2005). In addition to challenges with navigating PPs, older adults expressed difficulty with basic computer skills, such as creating and remembering passwords (Tieu et al., 2015). To address patient concerns, it is important for healthcare organizations to identify technology proficiency before implementing patient portals (Tieu et al., 2015).

Anxiety

Anxiety and worry are other perceived barriers related to PP use in the older adult. Chaffin and Harlow (2005) identified that learning a new skill, such as navigating PPs, was linked to higher anxiety levels in older adults. Likewise, Ng (2008) indicated that the lack of knowledge necessary was a source of worry in older adults. Several other patients mentioned that learning how to use a PP would take up too much time and would be difficult to learn (Latulipe et al., 2015). Anxiety associated with lack of experience with PP use may lead to decreased selfmanagement of chronic conditions. In one study, as the participant's age increased, their selfefficacy scores decreased (Hall et al., 2015). Self-efficacy is described as the individual's perception or confidence level when performing a task (Hall et al., 2015). Similarly, Logue and Effken (2012) identified that older adults were less likely to know how to use internet based PPs and were less confident in self-management.

Privacy and Security Concerns

Privacy and security concerns about patient portals were another perceived barrier. Older adults expressed concern about health information being online, a lack of confidentiality and potential hacking threats (Price-Haywood et al., 2017; Tieu et al., 2015). Older adults in another study were concerned with the amount of information online (Turner et al., 2015). Snyder et al. (2009) found that older adults were concerned about PP websites and who would be able to

access the information. Although older adults identified benefits to PPs, 41% of reviewed articles suggested that portal design had insufficient security protections (Kruse et al., 2015). Older adults understood password protected systems and security measures within patient portals (Latulipe et al., 2015). However, the risk that information could be used for identity theft or for insurance denials was expressed (Latulipe et al., 2015). In a follow-up study to PP use, 7.5% of participants indicated no intention of future use due to privacy and security concerns (Casey, 2016).

Physical and Mental Health Limitations

Physical limitations involving vision, hearing, and range of motion were identified as barriers to using technology (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Physical limitations, cognition, mental health disorders, and the presence of chronic diseases were found to impact PP use. Cresci et al. (2010) found that older adults in internet-based programs had a higher number of chronic diseases than those not utilizing internet-based programs. Ancker et al. (2011) identified three diagnoses highly associated with gaining PP access, but not necessarily usage of PPs: hyperlipidemia, asthma, and depression. In another study, a small number of seniors (7.9%) identified a physical problem as a barrier to using a computer (Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016). In addition to physical limitations, mental health disorders can also impact PP use. Casey (2016) found that older adults' depression scores were negatively correlated with PP use. Hällgren et al. (2014) suggested that individuals with a more significant cognitive impairment considered techbased interventions less relevant. Loss of interest, fatigue, and cognitive impairment can inhibit older adults' engagement with a PP, leading to poor patient outcomes (Casey, 2016).

Lack of Personal Interaction

Last, fear of losing personal interactions with providers were a perceived barrier to using patient portals (Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016; Tieu et al., 2015). Face-to-face interactions with providers are often identified as a preferred mode of communication (Latulipe et al., 2015). Older adults expressed fears that patient portals would replace face-to-face interactions with providers (Latulipe et al., 2015). Older adults emphasized the value in face-to-face visits and communication and expressed concern over technology replacing personal interactions (Tieu et al., 2015). In addition, the reliance on internet-based communication may lead to the loss of self-management of healthcare related tasks (Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016). With a shift towards portal-based communications, older adults may find it more difficult to access information and communicate with providers (Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016).

Discussion

Analysis of the research identified several factors that influence patient portal use in the older adult. Facilitators of portal use include improved communication, support, and training. Barriers of portal use include lack of experience, anxiety, security concerns, health limitations and concern for the loss of personal interactions.

Improved Communication

Patient portals provide patients with access to personal health information and facilitate improved communication with providers (Kruse et al., 2015). However, the challenges associated with the installation of PPs such as cost and learning a new technology can be frustrating (Kruse et al., 2015). One suggestion to improve PP use and increase acceptance is to standardize PP design with the user in mind (Kruse et al., 2015). The current design of portals is variable, and educational resources may or may not be present (Kruse et al., 2015). The design of

PPs can include functions that address the needs of older adult users. Design features such as adding audio dictionaries and health care references can aid in the self-management of diseases (Latulipe et al., 2015). Another improvement suggested is to address concerns on health literacy. Communication appears to be correlated to health literacy, which is the individual's ability to use information to make healthcare decisions (Kim et al., 2009; Snyder et al., 2009; Tieu et al., 2017). Although PPs may provide information, older adults may not understand what the information means (Kruse et al., 2018). By addressing literacy limitations, the benefit of improved communication with providers and improved self-management can be marketed (Kim et al., 2009; Snyder et al., 2009; Snyder et al., 2009; Snyder et al., 2009; Tieu et al., 2015).

Support

Older adults are more willing to use portals if encouraged and supported by their friends, families, and peers (Adams et al., 2005; Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Support and encouragement provide a sense of belonging and accomplishment, as well as a feeling of shared experiences (Ng, 2008). One suggestion to develop support for older adults is to include community resources and accommodations (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Examples of community resources may include educational programs, adaptive computer equipment, and formal and informal technology support (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Another recommended resource is to use age-specific training programs and manuals, which can increase ease of use in the older adult (Adams et al., 2005). By providing a structured environment, the older adult can develop a sense of trust that promotes a supportive atmosphere (Casey, 2016).

Education

Older adults often seek help and advice to navigate technology from friends and family, or they are self-taught (Adams et al., 2005). By introducing and implementing computer

education courses, an increased number of older adults utilized technology (Casey, 2016; Ng, 2008). Programs that emphasize new skills found using portals appear to be the focus of many courses offered (Cresci et al., 2010). Educational programs are recommended as it may encourage patient portal engagement by older adults (Hall et al., 2015). As many older adults identify the need for assistance with portals, educating older adults to use them is critical (Price-Haywood et al., 2017).

Lack of Experience

Lack of experience was correlated to the willingness to adopt PP use into their skillset (Adams et al., 2005; Czaja, 2015; Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016; Price-Haywood et al., 2017). While a lack of experience impacts the widespread adoption of portals, it is particularly true with the older adult population. However, researchers demonstrated that learning these skills can have a positive impact on older adults, specifically with problem-solving and improved patient outcomes (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). In order to make portals easier to use for the older adult, it is recommended to adapt a learner-centered approach. Having materials such as user manuals and instructions written with the older adult in mind can make it simpler and easier to understand (Adams et al., 2005; Czaja, 2015). Providing a variety of information delivery formats that address the needs of a more diverse population is also being considered (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005; Latulipe, 2015). Examples of alternative formats include visual aids, written instructions, and discussion (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005; Latulipe, 2015). Not only can training remove a barrier to portal use, it can have a positive effect on older adults' attitudes toward using portals (Latlipe et al., 2015; Ng, 2008).

Anxiety

The thought of learning a new technology was identified as a source of anxiety for older adults, which may hinder acceptance of portal use (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005; Ng, 2008). Training has been found to reduce anxiety when it comes to navigating new technology as well as increase efficacy (Adams et al., 2005; Ng, 2008). For example, drill and practice techniques have been found to be appropriate to familiarize older adults with the equipment (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Decreasing older adults anxiety around computer and the internet requires providing them with emotional support (Kim et al., 2009). Additionally, Kim et al. found that to reduce anxiety in older adults, it is important to ensure the availability of resources for understanding health information (Kim et al., 2009).

Security Concerns

Many older adults fear invasion of privacy, theft, or fraud as potential risks to using technology, especially web-based technology (Cresci et al., 2010; Kruse et al., 2015). Patients needing to use open-access computers or public computers expressed a greater concern over security (Tieu et al., 2015). Older adults expressed more willingness to adopt new technologies if there was a guarantee that information would be protected and backed up (Price et al., 2013). Strategies such as encryption and secure networks have the potential to ease the barrier of mistrust (Latulipe et al., 2015). Patient portal developers could also consider implementing online security measures for public computer users (Tieu et al., 2015).

Health Limitations

Some of the most common physical limitations reported in the literature include vision, hearing, and range of motion (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005; Cresci et al., 2010). Health limitations not only affect the ability to utilize equipment but limit the time spent with the technology

(Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Visual disorders with older adults may make it more difficult to view the technology (Latulipe et al., 2015). In addition, many internet-based interventions include peripheral elements, which may be harder for older adults with decreased vision to identify (Latulipe et al., 2015). Other physical limitations that commonly occur in the older adult are hearing impairments and hearing loss (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Depending on the type of technology used, a decrease in hearing may impact the ability to access and utilize that information (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). For example, sounds and cues from video, audio dictionaries, or error messages, may be confusing or misheard (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). A third limitation is decreased mobility and range of motion (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). Multiple components of portals require manipulation of equipment, which could be difficult if the person has a mobility issue (Chaffin & Harlow, 2005). As a result of health limitations, many interventions have been specifically modified to enhance mobility and quality of life (Czaja, 2015; Latulipe et al., 2015). Initial research on the impact of physical health limitations has been conducted. However, there is little evidence on the impact of mental health illnesses such as depression on PP use. This is an area identified for future research.

Loss of Personal Interactions

Older adults expressed concern that using patient portals would lead to a loss of interactions with providers (Gordon & Hornbrook, 2016). Marketing emphasizing care coordination with providers and PPs is a recommended approach to overcome the fear of losing personal interactions (Latulipe et al., 2015). When promoting PPs, it is important for health care organizations to emphasize that the system is not a replacement for face-to-face visits (Latulipe et al., 2015). Including information about the benefits of patient portals, such as improving patient health and well-being, can also encourage portal use (Arcury et al., 2017). Ensuring

patients understand how portals are implemented can improve communication and outcomes without the losing personal interactions (Griffin et al., 2016). Last, patient portal designers could consider language barriers and assess potential effects of replacing face-to-face communication in the older adult population (Tieu et al., 2015).

Methodological Challenges

Assessment of the literature identified limited high quality quantitative research. A suggestion is to increase quantitative research to compare to the current body of qualitative research. One challenge to obtaining high quality research is difficulty in the ability to conduct randomized clinical trials (Bowles et al., 2015). In addition, previous research utilized multiple variables, making it difficult to determine which factors impacted behavior (Bowles et al., 2015). Another challenge is the feasibility of convenience samples, leading to less general representation of larger populations (Polit & Beck, 2017). Smaller sample sizes, which are more common than larger samples, impacted the statistical power of results (Hällgren et al., 2014). Last, research often utilizes self-reported data, which can lead to misrepresentation of actual behavior and ambiguity in responses (Polit & Beck, 2017).

Gaps in Literature

Initial research on PP use in older adults has been conducted. However, there is little evidence examining the contribution of motivation and various physical limitations common in older adults. Even though there is research on individual factors, there is little evidence to describe the relationship between facilitators and barriers and the hypothesized consequences. Proposed consequences include an inability to make informed decisions, decreased quality of life, and an inability to manage chronic health conditions. Further research can build on the knowledge gained by identifying barriers to performance and portal use when implementing

interventions (Arcury et al., 2017). Also, developing and incorporating standardized assessment tools could help better accommodate or recommend specific interventions for older adults (Gardner & Amoroso, 2004). Although intervention strategies show potential, more research is needed on physical limitations and potential solutions to overcome barriers. Additionally, no standardized measurement tools exist for measuring perceived barriers, so further research can be done to develop a tool. Last, evaluation of measurement tools can be performed to determine which instruments are the most beneficial for older adults (Blažun et al., 2014).

Conclusion

The analysis of the literature has identified prominent facilitators and barriers to patient portal use in the older adult. Perceived facilitators include improved communication, support, and training. Perceived barriers include experience and skills, anxiety, privacy and security concerns, physical and mental health limitations, and lack of personal interaction. Methodological challenges identified in the research include small sample sizes, convenience sampling, and a lack of standardized assessment and measurement tools. Future research can be focused on utilizing the knowledge gained by identifying barriers when implementing portal use. Research can also be conducted on developing and incorporating standardized assessment tools.

References

- Adams, N., Stubbs, D., & Woods, V. (2005). Psychological barriers to internet usage among older adults in the UK. *Medical Informatics and the Internet in Medicine*, 30, 3-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/14639230500066876.
- Ancker, J. S., Barrón, Y., Rockoff, M. L., Hauser, D., Pichardo, M., Szerencsy, A., & Calman, N. (2011). Use of an electronic patient portal among disadvantaged populations. *Journal* of General Internal Medicine, 26(10), 1117-1123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-011-1749-y</u>.
- Arcury, T. A., Quandt, S. A., Sandberg, J. C., Miller Jr., D. P., Latulip, C., Leng, X., Talton, J. W., Melius, K. P., Smith, A., & Bertoni, A. G. (2017). Patient portal utilization among ethnically diverse low income older adults: Observational Study. *JMIR Medical Informatics*, 5(4), e47. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/medinform.8026</u>.
- Blažun, H., Vošner, J., Kokol, P., Saranto, K., & Rissanen, S. (2014). Elderly people's interaction with advanced technology. *Nursing Informatics*, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-415-2-1.
- Bowles, K. H., Dykes, P., & Demiris, G. (2015). The use of health information technology to improve health care and outcomes for older adults. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 8, 5-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/19404921-20121222-01</u>.
- Casey, I. (2016). The effect of education on portal personal health record use. *Online Journal of Nursing Informatics*, 20(2). Available at <u>http://www.himss.org/ojni</u>.
- Chaffin, A. J., & Harlow, S. D. (2005). Cognitive learning applied to older adult learners and technology. *Educational Gerontology*, *31*, 301-329.

https://doi.org/10.1080/03601270590916803.

- Cresci, M. K., Yarandi, H. N., & Morrell, R. W. (2010). Pro-nets versus no-nets: Differences in urban older adults' predilections for internet use. *Educational Gerontology*, *36*, 500-520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03601270903212476</u>.
- Czaja, S. J. (2015). Can technology empower older adults to manage their health? *Generations: Journal of the American Society on Aging, 39*, 46-51.
- Dang, D., Dearholt, S., Sigma Theta Tau International, & Johns Hopkins University. (2018). Johns Hopkins nursing evidence-based practice: Model and guidelines. Sigma Theta Tau International.
- Gardner, C., & Amoroso, D. L. (2004). Development of an instrument to measure the acceptance of internet technology by consumers. In R. H. Sprague (Ed.). *Proceedings of the 37th* Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences.

https://doi.org/10.1109/HICSS.2004.1265623.

- Gordon, N. P., & Hornbrook, M. C. (2016). Differences in access to and preferences for using patient portals and other eHealth technologies based on race, ethnicity, and age: A database and survey study of seniors in a large health plan. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(3), e50. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5015</u>.
- Gray, J. R., Grove, S. K., & Sutherland, S. (2017). Burns and Groves The Practice of Nursing Research: Appraisal, Synthesis, and Generation of Evidence (8th ed.). Sanders.
- Griffin, A., Skinner, A., Thornhill, J., & Weinberger, M. (2016). Patient portals: Who uses them?
 What features do they use? And do they reduce hospital readmissions? *Applied Clinical Informatics*, 7, 489-501. <u>https://doi.org/10.4338/ACI-2016-01-RA-0003</u>.

- Hall, A. K., Bernhardt, J. M., Dodd, V., & Vollrath, M. W. (2015). The digital health divide:
 Evaluating online health information access and use among older adults. *Health Education & Behavior*, 42(2), 202-209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198114547815</u>.
- Hällgren, M., Nygård, L., & Kottorp, A. (2014). Everyday technology use among people with mental retardation: Relevance, perceived difficulty, and influencing factors. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 21, 210-218.
 https://doi.org/10.3109/11038128.2013.862295.
- Huber, L., & Watson, C. (2014). Technology: Education and training needs of older adults. *Educational Gerontology*, 40, 16-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2013.768064</u>.
- Irizarry, T., DeVito Dabbs, A., & Curran, C. R. (2015). Patient portals and patient engagement: A state of the science review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 17(6), e148. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4255</u>.
- Kim, E., Stolyar, A., Lober, W. B., Herbaugh, A. L., Shinstrom, S. E., Zierler, B. K., Soh, C. B., & Kim, Y. (2009). Challenges to using an electronic personal health record by a low-income elderly population. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *11*(4), e44. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1256.
- Kruse, C. S., Argueta, D. A., Lopez, L., & Nair, A. (2015). Patient and provider attitudes toward the use of patient portals for the management of chronic disease: A systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *17*(2), e40. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.3703</u>.
- Latulipe, C., Gatto, A., Nguyen, A. T., Miller, D. P., Quandt, S. A., Bertoni, A. G., Smith, A., Arcury, T. A. (2015). Design considerations for patient portal adoption by low-income, older adults. *CHI 2015*, 3859-3868. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/2702123.2702392</u>.

- Logue, M. D., & Effken, J. A. (2012). An exploratory study of the personal health records adoption model in the older adults with chronic illness. *Informatics in Primary Care, 20*, 151-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.14236/jhi.v20i3.21</u>.
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PloS Med 6*(7), e1000097. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed1000097</u>.
- National Council of Aging. (2021). *Get the Facts of Healthy Aging*. Retrieved January 15, 2021, from <u>https://www.ncoa.org/article/get-the-facts-on-healthy-aging</u>.
- Nahm, E., Zhu, S., Bellantoni, M., Keldsen, L., Charters, K., Russomanno, V., Rietschel, M., Son, H., & Smith, L. (2018). Patient portal use among older adults: What is really happening nationwide? *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464818776125</u>.
- Ng, C. (2008). Motivation among older adults in learning computing technologies: A grounded model. *Educational Gerontology*, *34*, 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03601270701763845</u>.
- O'Donnell, H. C., Patel, V., Kern, L. M., Barrón, Y., Telxelra, P., Dhopeshwarkar, R., & Kaushal, R. (2011). Healthcare consumers' attitudes towards physician and personal use of health information exchange. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 26(9), 1019-1026. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-011-1733-6</u>.
- Orthopaedic Healthcare Solutions. (2017). Helping older patients use their personal health records. Retrieved January 15, 2021, from <u>https://www.exscribe.com/orthopedic-e-news/helping-older-patients-use-personal-health-records</u>.
- Peacock, S., Reddy, A., Leveille, S. G., Walker, J., Payne, T. H., Oster, N. V., & Elmore, J. G.(2017). Patient portals and personal health information online: Perceptions access and use

by US adults. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 24(11), 173-177. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocw095.

- Pew Research Center. (2014). Older adults and technology use. Retrieved from http://www.pewinternet.org/2014/04/03/older-adults-and-technology-use/.
- Polit, D., & Beck, C. (2017). *Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice* (10th ed.). Wolters Kluwer Health.
- Price, M. M., Pak, R., Müller, H., & Stronge, A. (2013). Older adults' perceptions of usefulness of personal health records. *Universal Access in the Information Society*, 12, 191-204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-012-0275-y.
- Price-Haywood, E. G., Harden-Barrios, J., Ulep, R., & Luo, Q. (2017). eHealth literacy: Patient engagement in identifying strategies to encourage use of patient portals among older adults. *Population Health Management*, 20(6), 486-494.

https://doi.org/10.1089/pop.2016.0164.

- Snyder, C. F., Jensen, R., Orion Courtin, S., & Wu, A. W. (2009). Patient Viewpoint: A website for patient-reported outcomes assessment. *Quality of Life Research*, 18, 793-800. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-009-9497-8.
- Sockolow, P. S., Weiner, J. P., Bowles, K. H., Abbott, P., & Lehmann, H. P. (2011). Advice for decision makers based on an electronic health record evaluation at a program for allinclusive care for elders site. *Applied Clinical Informatics*, 2, 18-38.
- Thompson, H. J., Demiris, G., Rue, T., Shatil, E., Wilmowska, K., Zaslavsky, O., & Reeder, B. (2011). Brief communications: A holistic approach to assess older adults' wellness using e-Health technologies. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 17(10), 794-800. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2011.0059</u>.

- Tieu, L., Shillinger, D., Sarkar, U., Hoskote, M., Hahn, K. J., Ratanawongsa, N., Ralston, & Lyles, C. R. (2017). Online patient websites for electronic health record access among vulnerable populations: Portals to nowhere? *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 24 (e1), e47-e54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocw098</u>.
- Tieu, L., Sarkar, U., Schillinger, D., Ralston, J., Ratanawongsa, N., Rasick, R., & Lyles, C. R. (2015). Barriers and facilitators to online portal use among patients and caregivers in a safety net health care system: A qualitative study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *17*(12), 1-11. <u>https://doi.10.2196/mjir.4847</u>.
- Turner, A. M., Osterhage, K., Hartzler, A., Joe, J., Lin, L., Kanagat, N., & Demiris, G. (2015). Use of patient portals for personal health information management: The older adult perspective. AMAI 2015: Annual Symposium Proceedings, 1234-1241.
- Wildenbos, G. A., Peute, L., & Jaspers, M. (2017). Facilitators and barriers of electronic health record patient portal adoption by older adults: A literature study. In R. Randell et al. (Eds.), *Informatics for health: Connected citizen-led wellness and population health.* <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-753-5-308</u>.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2015). Definition of an older adult or elderly person:
 Proposed working definition of an older person in Africa for the MDS project. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/ageingdefnolder/en/.
- Zettel-Watson, L., & Tsukerman, D. (2016). Adoption of online health management tools among healthy older adults: An exploratory study. *Health Informatics Journal*, 22(2), 171-183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458214544047</u>.

Table 1.Quantitative Studies

						Evidence Rating	
Study #	Author and Date	Study Design	Sample Size	Findings	Limitations	Level	Quality
1	Adams (2005)	Quasi- experimental	<i>n</i> = 23	 Perceived usefulness of the internet (p = 0.068). Perceived usefulness of e-mail and positive effect on Internet usage (p = 0.019). Users perception of usefulness of Internet regardless of experience (p = 0.027). Effect of computer experience on perceived use of the Internet (p = 0.005). 	Lack of universal terminology; purposive sampling used	Π	В
2	Ancker (2010)	Retrospective analysis of data from portal and electronic health records	<i>n</i> = 74,368	 Hypertension (11,699) and hyperlipidemia (8764) most prevalent chronic conditions. Access codes more likely to be issued to women (adjusted OR 1.06, 95% CI = 1.01 to 1.11), younger patients (adjusted OR 0.97, 95% CI = 0.96 to 0.99), whites (adjusted OR 1.60, 95% CI = 1.50 to 1.71), speakers of English (adjusted OR 2.80, 95% CI = 2.45 to 3.20), those with insurance (adjusted OR 4.10, 95% CI = 3.84 to 4.37), more 	Significance levels not clearly indicated in tables or discussion of results. Patient-provider relationship not studied as confounding variable.	III	В

				 clinical visits (adjusted OR 1.042, 95% CI = 1.038 to 1.044), and more chronic illnesses (adjusted OR 1.15, 95% CI = 1.13 to 1.18). Activation more likely among older patients (adjusted OR 1.05, 95% CI = 1.01 to 1.08), non-blacks (adjusted OR 1.69, 95% CI = 1.50 to 1.90), speakers of English (adjusted OR 1.71, 95% CI = 1.23 to 2.40), privately insured (adjusted OR 1.71, 95% CI = 1.51 to 1.94), and those with more clinical visits (adjusted OR 1.012, 95% CI = 1.007 to 1.018). Frequency of portal use correlated to number of clinical visits (r = 0.31, p < 0.001), number of diagnoses (r = 0.18, p < 0.001), and age (r = 0.08, p < 0.001). 	
3	Casey (2016)	Quasi- experimental	<i>n</i> = 50	 Participants with higher CES-D scores used the PHR less and participants (r = -2.86, p ,0.05). Computer use comfort level was statistically higher four weeks after the PHR educational intervention (Z = -1.1668, p ,0.005). Amount of PHR use differed in the participant group receiving the educational intervention (M = 1.08) Small sample II size. Single geographic region. Lack of diversity in sample. 	В

				compared to the matched control group (M = 0.16 , U = 735.5 , p = 0.001).		
4	Cresci (2010)	Non- experimental	<i>n</i> = 1410	 Age correlated to interest in use of Internet (p = 0.0001). Differences found between No-Nets and Pro-Nets on education (p = <0.001). No-Nets were 2.280 times less likely to take classes/like to learn new things, 1.581 times less likely to have membership in community organizations, and 1.807 times less likely to do volunteer work. Lack of description of validity and reliability indicators for measures. Inadequate description of initial study to compare findings 	Ш	В
5	Gordon (2016)	Descriptive correlational study	n = 4980	 Older adults less likely to have registered for a patient portal, signed into patient portal, or used the patient portal. Access to digital technology decreased with increasing age. Black, Latino, and Filipino seniors were less likely to have digital devices. Response rate among black, Latino and Filipino seniors was limited. Did not take into account social determinants to patient preferences. Response rate among black, Latino and Filipino seniors was limited. 	III	В

					measures of health literacy.Did not directly state statistics to demonstrate significance.		
6	Hall (2015)	Quasi- experimental	n = 225	 Computer self-efficacy scores were lower between nonusers and users across all age groups. 	Findings not generalizable to all. Limited to respondents with landline telephones. Data was self- reported. May be influenced by bias and interpretation of the questions by the participant	Π	В
7	Kim (2009)	Univariate descriptive	<i>n</i> = 70	 100% of participants felt they were able to provide more health information to their health care provider with using the system (95% CI = 78.4 to 100). 90.9% of participants indicated the face-to-face meeting time with their 	Questionnaire not indicated as reliable or valid. Design or sampling	III	В

				 health care provider was used more efficiently with the system (95% CI = 51.2 to 96.0). 81.8% of participants indicated that the system improved the quality of overall health care they received (95% CI = 65.6 to 100). 	methods not clearly stated. Analysis of data not explicit.		
8	Logue (2012)	Descriptive survey methodology	n = 38	 Older seniors reported less confidence in their ability to use internet-based PHRs (t = 2.04, p = 0.01). Older seniors did not perceive that they had the resources in place to use PHRs (t = -2.80, p = 0.01). 	Population variance between two settings. Variations in age and ethnicity. Small sample size. Non-probability sampling procedure. Selection bias. Self-reported data. Difficult to connect statistical data to narrative.	III	В

9	O'Donnell (2011)	Cross- sectional telephone survey	<i>n</i> = 170	•	Supporters of physician health information exchange were more likely to be caregivers for chronically ill individuals (adjusted OR 4.6, 95% CI = 1.06 to 19.6). Respondents interested in using personal health information exchange were more likely to be frequent Internet-users (adjusted OR 3.3, 95% CI = 1.03 to 10.6). Respondents interested in using personal health information exchange feel communication among their physicians was inadequate (adjusted OR 5.7, 95% CI = 1.7 to 25.3). Respondents believe health information exchange would improve communication with physicians (adjusted OR 4.7, 95% CI = 1.7 to 12.8).	Did not separate results by age. Difficult to generalize results.	Ш	В
10	Peacock (2016)	Prevalence study	n = 3677	•	Respondents who accessed their own personal health information online were more likely to report being offered access by their health care provider ($p < 0.001$). Older, non-white, Hispanic, less educated, and lower income participants reported being offered portal access less often ($p < 0.05$).	Low response rate. Respondents may not be representative of the entire US population.	III	В

				•	Individuals 75 years and older were less likely to access online personal health information than younger respondents (OR 0.41).	Did not take into account differences across healthcare settings.		
11	Price- Haywood (2017)	Cross- sectional survey	<i>n</i> = 101,019		e-HEALS scores positively associated with higher education (estimate 5.9, SE = 1.1) and negatively associated with age (estimate -0.32, SE = 0.009).	Single institution. Limited scope on chronic diseases. Survey response bias.	III	В

Table 2.Qualitative Studies, Expert Opinions, and Systematic Reviews

						Evidence Rating	
Study #	Author and Date	Study Design	Sample Size	Findings	Limitations	Level	Quality
1	Chaffin (2005)	Expert opinion	N/A	 Four barriers to learning identified: motivation, skills, biological architecture, and lack of a supportive environment. A teaching and learning process was described to accommodate older adult learners. Strategies presented that could increase an older adult's ability to learn computer skills. 	No description of the design of the study. No sample size was identified or described.	V	С
2	Czaja (2015)	Expert opinion	N/A	 Barriers that prevent older adults from not fully utilizing technology applications include cost, accessibility, usability, training and technical support, and issues around privacy and data management. Program design should be focused on the users. An interaction between the designer and user needs to occur. 	No description or identification of a study. No sample size	V	С
3	Kruse (2015)	Systematic literature review	n = 27	• 11 out of 27 articles (41%) reported an improvement of patient-provider communication from using a patient portal.	Exclusion criteria not	III	В

				 11 out of 27 articles (41%) stated patient portals were not user-friendly and had a lack of patient technical support, education or access to the Internet. Only two databases searched. Key words limited during search process. 		
4	Latulipe (2015)	Interviews	<i>n</i> = 52	 Lack of technological experience and lack of access to technology are major factors contributing to lack of interest. Income may be a factor to usage of internet. Trust issues appeared to be a barrier to using patient portals. Patients fear that patient portals will replace face-to-face communication with providers. Interview questions not identified or explained. Patients who have not utilized patient portals gave feedback on benefits without having experience. 	III	В
5	Ng (2008)	Interviews	<i>n</i> = 10	 Five broad categories emerged: problems and difficulties, evolving motivation, learning supports, collaboration, and benefits. Recruitment occurred through one program. 	III	В

					Limited by ethnic and cultural aspects – all members were of one population group.		
6	Snyder (2009)	Interviews	<i>n</i> = 10	 Patients expressed concern over security of the website and who would be able to access information. Patients liked that questions asked were about issues they either didn't think of or might not normally talk about with their physician. 	Small sample size. No description of the interview questions. Patients were recruited from a single setting.	III	В
7	Tieu (2017)	Interviews	n = 25	 Participants with limited health literacy were more likely to require assistance and took longer to complete tasks. Participants experienced barriers in basic computer (n = 12), routine computer (n = 13), reading and writing (n = 8), and medical content (n = 5). 	Measure of health literacy was brief. Findings may be affected by task ordering effects. May not be generalizable to larger health systems or	III	В

					integrated care settings. Approach may have affected task performance.		
8	Tieu (2018)	Interviews	<i>n</i> = 16	 Barriers and facilitators of portal use included computer or internet access, technological skills and interest, security and privacy of information, patient-provider relationship, and chronic illness self- management. 	Limited to English speakers. Did not provide guided interview questions.	III	В
9	Turner (2015)	Semi- structured interviews	<i>n</i> = 74	 Facilitators of portal use included easy access to health information, direct communication with provider, and ability to make online appointments. Barriers to portal use included problems logging in, cost of maintaining internet access, aversion to using computers, and security concerns. 	May not be generalizable. Results may differ based on living situations.	III	В
Table 3.Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in Older Adults

Author	Type of	Access or	Improved	Support	Training	Experience	Anxiety	Privacy	Physical Martal	Lack of
Date	Research	Activation	Communication			and Skills		and Security	Health	Personal Interaction
								Concerns	Limitations	
Adams	Quantitative	х		х	Х	Х	х			
2005										
Ancker	Quantitative	Х	х							
2010										
Casey	Quantitative		Х	х	Х				Х	
2016										
Chaffin	Expert	Х	х	х	X	Х	X		Х	
2005	opinion									
Cresci	Quantitative	Х			Х			Х	Х	
2010										
Czaja	Expert	х	Х			Х		Х		
2015	opinion									
Gordon	Quantitative	Х	х			X			Х	Х
2016										
Hall	Quantitative	Х			X					
2015										
Kim	Quantitative	Х	х	X			Х		Х	
2009										

Kruse	Systematic		х				Х	
2015	review							
Latulipe	Qualitative		Х			Х	Х	Х
2015								
Logue	Quantitative		х	Х		Х		
2012								
Ng	Qualitative			Х	Х			
2008								
O'Donnell	Quantitative		Х	Х			Х	
2011								
Peacock	Quantitative	Х	х					
2016								
Price- Haywood	Quantitative	X		X	х	Х	Х	
2017								
Snyder	Oualitative		x				x	
2000	Quantanit							
2009								
Tieu	Qualitative					Х		Х
2017								
Tieu	Qualitative	Х	х			Х	Х	Х
2015								
Turner	Qualitative		х			Х	Х	
2015								

Databases Used: CINAHL, PubMed, Medline, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Search Terms Used: aged, elderly, geriatric, older adult, internet use, personal health record use, patient portal use, health



Chapter Summary

This chapter presented the current state of the science on information and communication technologies and electronic personal health record use in the older adult. The chapter began with an overview of general characteristics of the older adult as well as ICT use in this population. Factors impacting ICT use were then compared to older adults' usage with ePHRs. Depression and loneliness were described in relation to ICT and ePHR use, and gaps were identified in the literature. As a result, a systematic review of the literature manuscript was presented at the end of the chapter. The manuscript provides a more in-depth analysis of facilitators and barriers to ePHR use in the older adult population.

Chapter 3

Methods

Introduction

The purpose of the study was to examine the relationship between individual factors of older adults and their use of electronic personal health records (ePHRs). This chapter provides an in-depth discussion of the methodology utilized in the study. An explanation of the sample population, setting, procedures and data analysis are included. In addition, the chapter includes a detailed discussion of the measurements used in the study. Ethical considerations and limitations associated with the study are outlined.

Research Design

The study was a correlational design. Descriptive statistics and a description of relationships (Gray et al., 2017) were used. The study was aimed at determining the relationship or association between variables.

Research Questions

- 1. What is the older adult's degree of depression?
- 2. What is the older adult's degree of loneliness?
- 3. What is the older adult's perceived control of electronic personal health records?
- 4. What is the older adult's user experience with electronic personal health records?
- 5. What is the relationship between sensoriperceptual deficits and intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?

- 6. What is the relationship between performance and intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?
- 7. What is the relationship between the independent variables and intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?
- 8. What is the relationship between the independent variables and performance with electronic personal health records in the older adult?

Research Hypotheses

- Controlling for older adult's sensoriperceptual deficits, the degree of depression, the degree of loneliness, perceived control, and user experience will be correlated with intention to use electronic personal health records.
- Controlling for older adult's sensoriperceptual deficits, the degree of depression, the degree of loneliness, perceived control, and user experience will be correlated with performance with electronic personal health records.

Assumptions of Study

- Participants will answer all questions truthfully, honestly, and to the best of their ability.
- Participants are cognitively able to participate in the study.
- Participants will actively participate in observed portion of study.

Sample/Subjects

Participants for this investigation were older adults. Inclusion criteria was that the participant was aged 65 or older, and that they could speak and read English. Setting the age at 65 years or older was based on the classification of an older adult identified by the World Health Organization (WHO, 2015). The ability to speak and read English was required based on the

available resources for the study. The primary researcher conducted data collection and had a primary language of English. Subjects were recruited through convenience and snowball sampling.

The sample size was determined through power analysis to estimate the sample size needed to achieve statistical conclusive validity. Conducting a power analysis allowed for detection of differences or relationships that were present within the chosen population (Gray et al., 2017). In order to determine power, effect size was identified. The study determined sample size by obtaining at least 30 subjects for each study variable measured (Gray et al., 2017). Using the recommended average correlation, a total of 210 participants was needed for the study. A 10%-15% attrition rate was also calculated. The calculated total number of participants needed for the study was between 231-242 subjects in order to ensure the final sample size equals 210.

Setting

Subject recruitment consisted of face-to-face recruitment, advertisements, letters and emails. Creative strategies were considered, such as recruiting through pie or dessert socials at data collection sites (Gray et al., 2017). Subjects were invited to participate at independent senior housing facilities, senior centers, and local churches. Clinical partners with assisted living and senior communities were contacted. In addition, churches and senior groups at sites such as Bethlehem Baptist, Swanville Bible, and Harbor Church were contacted. Selection of facilities was determined by using sites where potential participants lived and the primary researcher had access to the location. In addition, accessing a community group led to further recruitment through word of mouth or snowball sampling (Gray et al., 2017).

Measures

Demographic information was collected on each participant (see Appendix A). Data included age, gender, race or ethnicity, education level, and income. Participants indicated if they have a chronic condition, specified the type of condition, and how many chronic conditions were present. Demographic information included whether the participant owned a computer, had experience with computers, and number of hours of computer use per day. Data was collected on whether the participant had an electronic personal health record account, if they used their electronic personal health records (ePHR), and what tasks they performed within the ePHR.

Sensoriperceptual deficits were limited to hearing and visual deficits. Sensoriperceptual deficits were identified with a participant self-report measure involving a simple questionnaire to determine if the participant had hearing and/or visual impairment. The questionnaire consisted of closed-ended items, with alternatives including a simple yes or no response. The questionnaire also identified if the participant used corrective lenses, hearing aids, or other assistive devices.

Perceived control and intent to use electronic personal health records (ePHRs) were measured using an adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). An adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] was created using selected items pertaining to the independent and dependent variables (see Appendix B). For all items on the adapted version, permission to change wording and instructions to reflect ePHRs was granted by the survey developer (see Appendix C). In addition, permission to use the subscales instead of the entire survey was also granted by the survey developer (see Appendix B).

The original U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] is a 5-point Likert scale consisting of 25 items, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Items from the

original U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] subscales were included as separate items on the adapted version (see Appendix D). The concept of perceived control includes the attributes of cognitive, decisional, and behavioral control (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). On the original U.S.A.B.I.L.T.Y. Survey[®], six of the items (Nos. 20-25) address the overall concept of perceived control (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Perceived control was then sub-divided into items on the original U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] measuring attitudinal control and items measuring cognitive control (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). On the original U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®], items 23, 24 and 25 addressed cognitive control, and items 20, 21 and 22 measured attitudinal control (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). The concepts of attitudinal and cognitive control were included in the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] as measures of perceived control and intent to use. Items 10-12 on the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] measured the subscale of perceived control, and items 7-9 on the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] measured intent to use ePHRs.

A Cronbach's alpha coefficient was conducted to determine internal consistency on the sub-scale items of perceived control (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for perceived control in the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] is 0.64 (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Gray et al. (2017) states that coefficients with a value greater than 0.80 are considered strong. However, newer instruments may only show limited to moderate reliability as indicated by coefficients of 0.70-0.79. In addition, subscales of newer instruments may only indicate internal reliability of 0.60-0.69, which is an acceptable value. Therefore, a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.64 is expected since the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] is a newer subscale of the instrument (Gray et al., 2017).

User experience was measured using the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Items 14-19 on the original U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] measured user experience (Caboral-Stevens, 2015), correlating to items 1-6 on the adapted version. Cronbach's alpha coefficient for user experience is 0.89, suggesting a strong reliability (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). The U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] was selected because it is specifically designed for older adults and their intent to use technology. The items in the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] measured the participants perceived control with ePHRs (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Therefore, items specifically measuring perceived control and intent to use were selected for inclusion in the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®]. In addition, the questions for user experience included in the adapted of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] came from the original U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®], which had scales with established psychometrics, including baseline reliability and validity (Caboral-Stevens, 2015).

The original U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] was tested for reliability and validity, including content validity and internal consistency (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). Face validity was conducted by using experts who reviewed the instrument (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Using feedback by experts, revisions were made based on suggestions (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). A panel of experts was utilized to determine content validity of the survey (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). The content validity index for items (I-CVI) as well as for scales (S-CVI) were calculated (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). The calculated I-CVI for the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] was 0.97, indicating that the items on the survey were highly relevant, as an acceptable I-CVI is 0.80 (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). The S-CVI/Ave for the original U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] was calculated at 0.97, which meets the standard criterion of 0.90 (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Internal consistency was used to determine reliability of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015).

Stevens, 2015). The total item correlation coefficient was 0.96, with all determinants except perceived control exceeding the Cronbach alpha of 0.80 (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Based on the initial subscale tests for reliability and validity, the adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] is an appropriate instrument to use for the study.

Depression was identified through use of the Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form and indicated by a score of greater than ten (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986). The GDS: Short Form (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986) was developed to cut down on the time requirement of completing lengthy scales (See Appendix E). Fifteen items from the Geriatric Depression Screen were selected according to the highest correlation to depressive symptoms (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986). The items were arranged in a yes-no format, similar to the original form (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986). The items were arranged in a yes-no format, similar to the original form (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986). Ten of the selected items indicate depression when the participant answered "yes" (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986). The remaining five items indicate depression when the participant answered "no" (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986). A validation study was conducted, comparing both versions of the Geriatric Depression Screen (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986). The Geriatric Depression Screen: Short Form (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986) was able to differentiate depressed from non-depressed participants (r = .84, p < .001).

Loneliness was measured using the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3 (UCLA V3), a version of the scale updated to improve readability to increase participant's comprehension of the items (Russell, 1996). The UCLA V3 scale consists of 20 items that measure participants' subjective feelings of loneliness (Russell, 1996). Participants rated each item of the UCLA V3 on a 4-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (Never) to 4 (Often) (Russell, 1996). Participants rated each item on the UCLA V3 indicating how often each statement reflects their perspective on loneliness (Russell, 1996). Several items on the UCLA V3 are reverse scored (Russell, 1996),

For example, the primary researcher would change the ranking of 4 to equal a score of 1 (see Appendix F). Individual item scores for the UCLA V3 were tallied and a total sum was reported (Russell, 1996). Higher total scores on the UCLA V3 indicated a higher degree of loneliness, whereas lower total scores indicated lower degrees of loneliness, ranging from 20-80 (Russell, 1996). A total score less than 28 indicated no/low loneliness, scores 29-42 suggest moderate loneliness, and scores greater than 43 indicated high degrees of loneliness (Cacioppo & Patrick, 2008). Version 3 of the UCLA scale appears reliable with Cronbach alpha ranges from .89-.94 across all samples (Russell, 1996). Convergent validity for the UCLA V3 was identified by significant correlations with other measures of loneliness, including the Differential Loneliness Scale (r = .72) (Russell, 1996).

Performance of ePHR tasks was measured through observation of the participant completing basic tasks in an electronic personal health record. The primary researcher obtained consent for a sample ePHR account with Twin Cities Physicians (see Appendix G). The sample ePHR account did not contain any actual patient information and was used only to observe the participant's ability to perform ePHR tasks. Each participant performed specific ePHR tasks within the sample account. The observation items were developed using the format of the original U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). The items on the observation checklist were developed as a combination of numerical data and narrative information about the type of ePHR assistance needed by the participant (see Appendix H) (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). The ePHR tasks were identified through the literature, and focused on the basic functions of ePHRs. Items were modified into a checklist in which the observer had specific behaviors and numerical values to choose from.

Procedures

Prior to data collection, construction of the adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] using subscale measures was completed. The developer of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] was contacted to obtain permission to use the survey, which was granted. Permission was also granted to modify the layout of the survey and alter the wording of the instructions and items to reflect electronic personal health records (ePHRs).

The primary researcher collected data for the dissertation study. The primary researcher was trained during practicum experiences and coursework to conduct quantitative research. Organizations were contacted through face-to-face interactions as well as telephone calls and emails. Healthcare organizations were identified based on existing clinical partnerships with the primary researcher and through personal contacts. Permission was obtained from each organization to collect data. The primary researcher was familiar with collecting informed consent from participants. Part of the informed consent process was to indicate that participation was voluntary and included explanation of risks and benefits of the study.

Participant recruitment involved identifying eligible candidates and encouraging them to participate in the study. A brief interview identifying inclusion and exclusion criteria was conducted to determine eligibility. The primary researcher included information about the benefits and risks of participating in the study. Explanation of how results will be shared, details of the study, and any assurances about confidentiality of information was disclosed to convey a nonthreatening and worthwhile experience for the participants.

Eligible participants were informed about the research study and had the option to consent or decline participation. The purpose of informed consent was to ensure that participants

had information about the research. Elements included in the informed consent included participant status, study goals, type of data, procedures, and the nature of the commitment. Finally, participants were informed that their consent was voluntary, and they had the right to withdraw at any time (see Appendix I). Basic contact information was collected using simple language to ensure participants comprehended the information. Written consent form statements were evaluated for consistency prior to distribution to participants. A request to waive documentation of informed consent was completed and approved by the University of Wisconsin – Milwaukee IRB. Consent was assumed when the participant partook in responding to the data collection surveys. The primary researcher ensured the data that was collected was de-identified to keep data confidential and private. Surveys were identified by assigning a number to each submitted response.

Once consent was obtained, the researcher collected the participants' demographic information. The initial questionnaire, the demographic data sheet, asked participants to selfidentify if they have any current or past hearing or visual impairments. Data collection on sensoriperceptual deficits was important to gather accurate data collection, interpret results and understand the population. The demographic questionnaire was administered by the primary researcher, who asked the participant each item and recorded the answer electronically on a Microsoft Word document.

Each participant was screened for depression using the Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form (GDS:SF) (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986). Participants were instructed that the GDS:SF was a screen for depression, not a definitive diagnoses from a provider. The survey was administered by the primary researcher who asked the participant each item and recorded the answer on an electronic Microsoft Word document. The screening took approximately 5 minutes to administer.

Each bolded answer was assigned one point by the researcher, indicating the presence of depression. If the participant answered "no" to identified items (Nos. 1, 5, 7, 11, 13), one point was assigned for each item. One point was assigned if the participant answered "yes" to any of the remaining ten items. The points were calculated for a total score that ranged from 0-15. A score of 0-5 was considered normal. A score over 5 was suggestive of depression, whereas a score of ≥ 10 was highly indicative of depression. If a participant scored higher than 5, they could continue with the study, however, the primary researcher recommended a follow-up assessment with a provider. In addition, all participants were offered a list of resources for services addressing depression.

Each participant completed the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3 (Russell, 1996). The survey was administered by the primary researcher who asked each question to the participant and electronically recorded their answer on a Microsoft Word document. The survey took approximately 10 minutes to administer. Identified questions (Nos. 1, 5, 6, 9, 10, 15, 16, 19, 20) were reverse scored (Russell, 1996). The researcher calculated a total score, which ranged from 20-80, with higher numbers associated with higher degrees of loneliness.

The adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015) collected data from participants regarding perceived control, user experience, and intent to use ePHRs (see Appendix J). The survey used Likert-type scales (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). The researcher asked the participants each question on the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] and recorded participant's answers into an electronic Microsoft Word document. The survey took between 10 to 20 minutes to complete.

Once the adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] was completed, participants who indicated that they were able to (n = 63), completed the sample ePHR account basic tasks.

The ePHR sample account was provided by Twin Cities Physicians, and the researcher had written permission to access the account. Participants received verbal instructions to accomplish the tasks, and were informed they could ask for further verbal instruction or clarification prior to performing the tasks. The primary investigator utilized structured observation as the participants performed the tasks using a checklist to evaluate their performance of the tasks. The checklist was identified using corresponding survey numbers to ensure de-identification of personal information. Tasks the participants were asked to perform included: (a) logging into the ePHR, (b) sending and reading messages, and (c) finding lab value information. Other observed tasks for the participants entailed reviewing medications, health history, and logging out of the system. The researcher timed how long it took individual participants to complete each task within the sample ePHR account. Task completion took the participants approximately 10-15 minutes. Following task completion, participants were thanked and the primary investigator responded to any of the participants remaining questions or comments.

The participant's data was compiled, coded, and entered into a data file using an SPSS statistical package. The coding transformed the data into numerical values to perform the statistical analysis. After the data was entered into the SPSS program, the data was cleaned and outliers were identified. A code book was created to keep a record of the coding and variable naming, as well as basic information.

Data Analysis

Data analysis was conducted using version 28 of the SPSS software. Before hypotheses were tested, pre-analytic activities were conducted. The first step that was taken was to identify missing data by inserting 999 to account for data that was not completed on the surveys. Examining frequency distributions of each variable identified missing values. The distributions of each outcome variable were analyzed using descriptive statistics, including frequencies, means, and standard deviations.

Variables with severely skewed distributions were transformed or analyzed with nonparametric tests to arrange data as close to a normal curve as possible (Gray et al., 2017). As multiple survey items were used to measure certain variables, a sum score was calculated within SPSS. A Pearson *r* correlation was conducted to determine if there were any relationships between the independent (depression, loneliness, perceived control, and user experience) and dependent (performance and intent to use ePHRs) variables. A scatter plot was created to provide a visual representation of the correlations. Scatter plots were used to provide preliminary information about the nature of the relationship and to identify nonlinear relationships (Gray et al., 2017).

Standard multiple regression was conducted, with all independent variables entered into the regression model simultaneously (Pallant, 2016). Each independent variable was evaluated for predictive power compared to other independent variables. Standard multiple regression was utilized to determine how much variance the independent variables were able to explain on the dependent variables as a group or block.

The primary researcher implemented data management in consultation with a doctorally prepared expert in statistics and Major Professor. All forms were kept in locked file cabinets. The primary researcher entered the data into a password protected database to ensure security and confidentiality. To ensure data accuracy, the primary researcher and another PhD prepared researcher entered, cleaned, and verified the de-identified data and corrected any entry errors prior to conducting the analysis. As an additional safeguard, frequency distributions of all variables were checked by the principal investigator and a PhD prepared researcher before

proceeding with the analysis, including looking for anomalies, skewness, or the presence of ceiling or floor effects, which can reduce variability (Pallant, 2016).

The assumptions for hierarchical multiple regression are that there are linear relationships between independent and dependent variables, requires a normal distribution, data must be symmetrically dispersed and the independent variables are not correlated with each other (Gray et al., 2017). After 25% of the data was collected, the primary researcher and a PhD prepared researcher with expertise in statistics reviewed the data to ensure that assumptions for the analysis could be met. No problems with the data were identified, and the assumptions were met.

Ethical Considerations

To ensure participant rights were protected, the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at University of Wisconsin - Milwaukee was consulted prior to initiation of the study. Participants were informed that they could choose or decline to participate in the study without persuasion or repercussion. Participants were also provided verbal instructions regarding the details of the research study, and informed that they could withdraw from the study at any time. Investigators involved with the research had current CITI training certificates on file with the IRB, to ensure the protection of human subjects (CITI Program, n. d.). In addition, permissions for use of instruments was obtained from the developer and permission to use the sample ePHR account came from the Twin Cities Physicians group prior to data collection.

Limitations

One limitation was the non-experimental design of the study, as it constrains the ability to support causal inferences in comparison to experimental or quasi-experimental studies. Participants were not randomized, but were self-selected volunteers, which can create sample

bias, and the findings cannot be generalized to a broader population. The use of questionnaires was that the respondent could leave an item unanswered, leading to missing data. By using self-reported instruments, there is a risk of response bias. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, data collection was required to be conducted online, and 70% of the participants had limited technology access to complete the task performances in the sample ePHR account. For the remainder of the participants (30%) who performed the task performance in the sample ePHR account, the data collection process could have impacted the participant's concentration by having the primary researcher observe them, or the brief 10-15 minute process may have been fatiguing. Finally, there is always concern regarding the potential for observer bias, though a category checklist was created to minimize bias.

Summary

The relationship between older adults and individual factors and their ePHR usability and behavior was examined using a quantitative approach. The correlational design enabled the identification of relationships between the independent and dependent variables. The target population was defined for this investigation as the older adult aged 65 years or older who could read and write in English. A convenience sample of participants was selected after determining the number needed to achieve the power required to effectively analyze the data. Recruitment of participants included word of mouth, flyers, and communication with healthcare organizations. Measures included demographic questions, the Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form, the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3, an adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©], and when possible, structured observation. The primary researcher followed a strict IRB approved protocol to ensure compliance and accuracy with data collection. Consultation with the Major Professor and a PhD prepared researcher with an expertise in statistics was conducted as needed. Data analysis

consisted of conducting frequencies, correlational statistical tests, and hierarchical regression analysis.

Chapter 4

Results

Introduction

The purpose of this dissertation is to identify facilitators and barriers to electronic personal health record (ePHR) use in the older adult population. This study examined the impact of individual factors on intent to use and performance with ePHRs. Independent variables for the study included depression, loneliness, perceived control, and user experience. Dependent variables were intent to use ePHRs and performance with ePHRs. Because two dependent variables were identified in the study, two separate manuscripts were prepared to present the results. The first manuscript details the results of facilitators and barriers of older adults' intent to use ePHRs. The second manuscript describes factors influencing older adults' performance with ePHRs.

Manuscript Two: "Factors Affecting Older Adults' Intent to Use Electronic Personal Health Records (ePHRs)"

Janelle L. Theisen MAN, RN, CNE and Julia A. Snethen Ph.D., RN, FAAN University of Wisconsin – Milwaukee Manuscript in Process

Abstract

Background: Technology continues to be implemented into healthcare and can enrich the lives of older adults. While older adults are utilizing technology for health management, they continue to have lower usage rates than younger adults. Electronic personal health records (ePHRs) have the potential to benefit older adult's health, yet factors influencing low ePHR access rates in this population have not been extensively researched.

Methods: A correlational design with a convenience sample of older adults (n = 210). Measures included a self-reported survey, adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey, Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form and the UCLA Loneliness Scale. Descriptive statistics, frequency distributions, Pearson r and standard multiple regression were used for data analysis.

Results: Multiple regression analysis for intent to use indicates the overall model explains 70.3% of the total variance in older adults' intent to use ePHR (*F* (7, 200) = 67.6, *p*, <.001). User experience (β = .50, *p* <.001) and perceived control (β = .367, *p* <.001) were statistically significant predictors on older adult's intent to use ePHRs.

Conclusions: This study identified several facilitators and barriers to older adults' intent to use electronic personal health records (ePHRs). Results from this study emphasize the need for user-

friendly designs implementing older adult feedback in the development and implementation of ePHRs.

Key words: older adult, technology, electronic personal health record, ePHR, facilitators,

barriers, usage

Introduction

Older adults aged 65 and older are the fastest growing subset of the general population (Knapova et al., 2020) expected to increase by 21.6% by the year 2040 (AoA, 2020). Technological advances in healthcare enrich the lives of older adults and improve their quality of life (Abdelrahman et al., 2021). The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act has led to organizations creating and implementing technology into healthcare systems (Nahm et al., 2020). Implementing technology into healthcare can increase communication and enable self-management, and lead to positive health outcomes (Portz et al., 2019).

Technology interventions have demonstrated the potential to promote and maintain health, though not everyone receives the benefits of digital health information (Tappen et al., 2020). While older adults are increasingly using technology for health management, they continue to have lower technology usage rates than younger adults (Knapova et al., 2020). One viable solution healthcare organizations are using to increase older adults' access to healthcare knowledge is the use of telehealth platforms, which can improve individuals' health outcomes (Oh et al., 2021). Telehealth platforms also allow older adults access to their medical information to better manage their healthcare (Reed et al., 2019).

Prior research has demonstrated the benefits of individuals accessing their electronic personal health records (ePHRs) (Hoogenbosch et al., 2018), which are secure websites that allow patients to view their records linked to their provider's electronic health record system (Portz et al., 2019). However, only half (49%) of older adults even have access to an ePHR (National Poll on Aging, 2018). Although older adults have expressed interest in electronic

personal health record use, factors influencing older adults' low ePHR access rates have not been extensively studied (Portz et al., 2019).

Limited research in the literature has focused older adults' facilitators and barriers to use ePHRs in their intent to use. Perceived usefulness and ease of use influences the older adult's intention to use technology (Hoogenbosch et al., 2019). The U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework for Older Adults guided this investigation (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). According to the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework, older adults' perceived control and perceived experience influences their intent to use ePHRs (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015). For this study, older adults' intent to use ePHRs is the cognitive representation of the individual's willingness and readiness to perform a task or behavior (Punnoose, 2012). The purpose of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Framework is to explain or predict older adults' intent to use electronic personal health records (Caboral-Stevens et al., 2015).

Purpose

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between individual factors of older adults and their intent to use electronic personal health records (ePHR). Seven research questions are associated with this study:

- 1. What is the older adult's degree of depression?
- 2. What is the older adult's degree of loneliness?
- 3. What is the older adult's perceived control of electronic personal health records?
- 4. What is the older adult's user experience with electronic personal health records?
- 5. What is the relationship between sensoriperceptual deficits and intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?

- 6. What is the relationship between performance and intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?
- 7. What is the relationship between the independent variables and intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?

Hypothesis

The hypothesis for this investigation:

 Controlling for older adult's sensoriperceptual deficits, the degree of depression, the degree of loneliness, perceived control, and user experience will be correlated with intention to use electronic personal health records.

Methods

Research Design

A correlational design guided this project. Descriptive statistics and a description of relationships between independent and dependent variables in this investigation (see Table 1) were identified. Participants completed a 24-item demographic survey that included questions about computer and ePHR use. Participants who indicated they were able to (n = 63) performed basic tasks within a sample ePHR account. The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee Institutional Review Board approved the study.

Table 2

Independent and Dependent Variables

Independent Variables	Dependent Variable					
Depression	Intent to use					
Perceived control						
User experience						
Sensoriperceptual deficits						
Loneliness						

Sample/Subjects

Participants for the study (N = 210) were 65 years or older, able to speak and read in English, and have telephone access at a minimum for ability to communicate. Convenience and snowball sampling facilitated recruitment of participants. In response to the power analysis requirements, 30 or more subjects were measured for each variable.

Setting

This study was conducted virtually through video conferencing; over the telephone; and at senior housing facilities and local churches. Older adults received invitations to participate through face-to-face recruitment, advertisements, flyers, letters, and emails. Virtual meetings took place over a video conference platform. Environmental settings ensured participant privacy and confidentiality prior to the survey administration. Telephone meetings began with the assurance that the participant's speaker phone was disabled and the participant was alone. Inperson meetings were held in empty rooms or isolated spaces.

Measurement

The six variables in the study were measured using 4 measures.

- 1. A demographic survey collected data on age, gender, race/ethnicity, education level, and income. In addition, information on chronic conditions, computer and ePHR ownership and usage was gathered. Identification of hearing and visual deficits was also included on the demographic survey. All survey items for the measure were multiple-choice questions or select all that apply, with the exception of age.
- 2. The degree of depression was measured through the Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986). The GDS: Short Form consists of 15 yes/no questions. Ten items indicate the presence of depression when the participant answers "yes." Five items indicate depression when the participant answers "no." Total scores over 5 were suggestive of depression and a score of 10 or greater was highly indicative of depression.
- 3. The degree of loneliness was measured with the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3 (Russell, 1996). The scale contains 20 items that measure subjective feelings of loneliness (Russell, 1996). Each item is a 4-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (Never) to 4 (Often). A total score less than 28 indicated no/low loneliness, scores 29-43 suggest moderate loneliness, and scores greater than 43 indicate high degrees of loneliness (Cacioppo & Patrick, 2008).
- Perceived control was measured with an adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Three items are measures of perceived control. Items are written as a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

- User experience was measured with an adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y.
 Survey[©] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Six items measured user experience. Items were written as a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).
- Intent to use was measured with an adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015). Three items are measures of intent to use. Items are written as a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

Procedures

Participant's interviews included an informed consent explanation for eligibility. Due to health practices surrounding COVID-19 and social distancing, a waiver to obtain written consent was received from the IRB. Consent for the study was assumed by participants as voluntary participation in the study. Once eligibility was determined, a random participant number was assigned to each participant. All items on each measure were verbally read to the participant by the researcher. Answers were verified by the researcher who verbally read back all of the responses to the participants, and then the investigator electronically recorded the participants' responses on a Microsoft Word document.

The researcher administered the demographic survey to the participant, which included data collection on hearing and visual deficits. Following the demographic survey, the Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986) was administered. Upon completion of the 15 items, the researcher calculated assigned points for a total score. Participants that scored a 5 or higher were allowed to continue with the study, however a follow-up assessment with a provider was recommended. In addition, as a precaution measure, all participants were offered a resource list for mental health services. The third step in the study was to administer the UCLA Loneliness Scale: Version 3. After the participant answered all 20 items, the researcher

calculated assigned points for a total score. Finally, participants were administered the adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] to gather data on perceived control, intent to use, and user experience. Participants answered 12 items and the researcher electronically recorded the responses on a Microsoft Word document.

Results

Data analysis was conducted using SPSS software version 28. Missing data were identified and the value 999 was imputed to reflect missing data. Descriptive statistics were analyzed to describe the demographic information of the participants.

Participant Characteristics

Participants in this investigation were all older adults (N= 210) (see Table 2). Half of the participants were between the ages of 65 and 74 years. Approximately one-third (32%) were between the ages of 75 and 84, and 17% were 85 years or older. Participants were equivalent in representation by gender, with 49% being male and 51% being female. The majority of participants were White (98.6%), followed by Hispanic or Latino (1.4%) and most (56%) had some college or higher level of education. The most frequent chronic illness reported by the participants was high blood pressure (59%), followed by high cholesterol (42.9%), arthritis (40.5%), and diabetes (20.5%). The majority of participants had some degree of visual impairment (71%) and used glasses for vision (85.2%). Forty percent of the older adults in this study had a hearing impairment, with 25.2% of them using hearing aids.

When participants were asked if they owned a computer, the majority responded affirmatively, with ownership greater than 5 years (73.3%). Similarly, participants (74.3%) described having used a computer for greater than 5 years. Approximately one-third of

participants reported their level of computer usage as beginner (32.9%), with the remaining participants reporting intermediate or higher computer usage (67.1%). Participants were asked about their knowledge of and usage of electronic personal health record (ePHR) use. Over half (54%) of participants knew about, understood, and used an ePHR for health management. Participants reported having learned about ePHRs primarily from healthcare providers (52.9%), followed by medical staff (13.8%) and nurses (11.0%). Most participants had never received any help to learn how to use or navigate an ePHR (60.5%), and those that did often received help from family or friends (13.8%). One-fourth of participants did not utilize an ePHR (25.7%), with another 94 (44.8%) having utilized one for greater than 5 years. The most common features participants used within an ePHR were reviewing lab values (53.8%), communicating with providers (51.4%), and reviewing medications and health history (41%).

Data Analysis

Four variables were transformed to produce a sum score: intent to use, user experience, sensoriperceptual deficits, and perceived control. A Pearson *r* correlation was conducted to determine any relationships between the independent and dependent variables. Standard multiple regression was conducted to evaluate correlations instead of hierarchical multiple regression due to the sample size.

Measures

The association of participants' age in relation to computer ownership, computer experience, level of experience, and knowledge, ownership, and experience with ePHRs was analyzed. A Pearson correlation coefficient was computed to examine the relationship between the variables. A weak negative correlation that was statistically significant, was found between

the participants' age and the variables of computer ownership, computer experience, level of experience, and knowledge, ownership, and experience with ePHRs (see Table 3).

A Pearson correlation coefficient was computed to assess the relationship between participant's education level and their experience with computers (see Table 4). A statistically significant correlation was found between the participant's education level and their ownership of computers (r(208) = .35, p < .01). A moderate positive correlation was found between participant's education level and their experience with computers (r(208) = .36, p < .01).

Another Pearson correlation coefficient was computed to assess the relationship between participant's household income and six demographic items (see Table 5). A statistically significant correlation was found between participant's household income and their computer ownership (r(208) = .31, p < .01). Additionally, a moderate positive correlation was found between participant's household income and their level of experience with computers (r(208) = .33, p < .01).

Frequency distributions were calculated to determine the older adults' *degree of depression* (see Table 6) and *degree of loneliness* (see Table 7). Of the 210 participants, 12.8% had a score of 5 or greater on the Geriatric Depression Screening Short Form, indicating that the participants had some depressive symptoms. Approximately 3% of the participants (n = 6), scored 10 or greater on the Geriatric Depression Screening Short Form, which is highly indicative of depression.

A majority of the 210 participants (55%) scored in the moderate range (29-43) on the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3, indicating that they experienced some loneliness. The average score for the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3 was 36, out of a possible range of scores

from 20-80 (*Mdn* 34), which would suggest that some participants were experiencing loneliness. The median of the entire UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3 is 50. The lowest obtained score on the UCLA Loneliness Scale V3 was 20, with the highest obtained score at 77. Close to a quarter of the participants scored less than 28 on the UCLA Loneliness Scale V3 (23%), indicating that they were not experiencing loneliness, while 23% scored in the high range (>43), suggesting they experienced a great deal of loneliness.

Three items on the adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] measured *perceived control* with ePHRs (Nos. 10-12), with responses ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree (see Table 8). Out of the 210 participants, 55% were neutral, disagreed, or strongly disagreed that ePHRs gave them a feeling of control over their health. A majority (61%) of participants knew what information was needed from the ePHR and could access that information from the record, while 53% reported that they felt more in control when able to access the information they received from the ePHR.

User experience was measured by six items on the adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] (Nos. 1-6). Participant responses ranged from strongly agree to disagree (see Table 8). A majority of participants (57%) agreed or strongly agreed that an ePHR was exactly what they needed, and sixty-three percent of participants were satisfied with the appearance of their ePHR. The majority of participants (60%) either did not have an opinion or did not have an audio feature in their ePHR. A majority of participants (63%) reported that they could successfully use an ePHR, while nearly half (49%) identified that the ePHR was pleasant to use. Finally, a majority of the participants (61%) also reported that they would recommend an ePHR to a friend.

The relationship between *sensoriperceptual deficits* and older adults' *intent to use ePHRs* was examined by conducting a Pearson correlation. A weak but statistically significant

correlation (r(207) = -.007, p > .05) was found between *sensoriperceptual deficits* and older adults' *intent to use ePHRs*. Likewise, a Pearson correlation was conducted to examine the relationship between older adults' *performance* with and *intent to use ePHRs*. A moderate negative correlation was found (r(62) = -.540, p < .001), indicating a significant linear relationship between the two variables of older adults' *performance* with and *intent to use ePHR*.

Standard multiple regression was conducted on participants *intent to use ePHRs* and the relationships between *depression, loneliness, perceived control* and *user experience* (see Table 9). The normal P-P plot and the scatter plot indicate that the variables had no deviations from normality. The model explains 70.3% of the total variance in older adults' *intent to use ePHR* with an adjusted explanation of 69.3% (F(7, 200) = 67.7, p <.001). Two variables were statistically significant, the first being *user experience* recording a higher beta value (*beta* = .50, p < .001) and the second was *perceived control* (*beta* = .367, p < .001). At that same time that the multiple regression analysis was run, a collinearity test was conducted. The concern was that the variables might be too highly correlated with each other, and the collinearity test identified that the data met the assumption of collinearity, and therefore, multicollinearity was not a concern.

Discussion

This study explored the older adults' facilitators and barriers to electronic personal health record (ePHR) use. Overall, this study supported previous research findings which identified relationships between individual independent variables and the dependent variable of *older adult's use of ePHRs*. This study also suggests that older adults either are using ePHRs or would like to use ePHRs to help manage their health.

Older adults, classified as those aged 65 and older, can be subgrouped: the young-old aged group (65-74 years); the middle-old aged group (75-84 years); and the old-old aged group (85 years and older) (AoA, 2020). There are more older adults (31.5 million) within the youngold aged subgroup compared to those in the old-old aged subgroup (6.6 million) (AoA, 2020). The decreasing percentage of older adults among the general public was similarly identified in this study, with half of the participants (50%) being in the young-old category. As age increased, the number of participants decreased (32% middle-old, 17% old-old). Differences in ePHR use between age groups were also identified. As the participants' age increased, computer ownership, experience, and knowledge, ownership and use of ePHRs decreased. Older adults may be less likely to adopt technology as they age, such as use of an ePHR (Portz et al., 2019). Therefore, ePHR developers and healthcare organizations should obtain ongoing feedback from older adults when developing new tools and updates.

Older adults' use of ePHRs differs between individuals with lower versus higher incomes. Households with higher income levels are more likely to own some form of technology device, which enables access to the ePHR (Vogels, 2021). Differences in income levels was reflected in the older adults' ePHR usage in this study, as evidenced by a moderate positive correlation between household income and computer ownership as well as level of experience with computers. Older adults with higher household incomes in this study were found to be more likely to own a computer, and were more comfortable with using a computer. Older adults who have more advanced computer experience and skills may be more prone to utilize an ePHR to manage their health. Vogels (2021) shared that individuals with lower incomes have fewer options for online access, yet there is a higher likelihood that they have access to a smartphone

with internet access. Therefore, developers of ePHRs and healthcare organizations can focus on mobile apps and interfaces to increase older adults' access and usage of ePHRs.

Participant's level of education was related to computer ownership and use of the computer, as demonstrated by a moderate positive correlation between the two in this study. Participants with a college education or higher were more likely to own a computer and have experience with using a computer compared to the respondents without a college degree. Research has demonstrated that users of ePHRs tend to have more formal education (Hoogenbosch et al., 2018). An assumption that Hoogenbosch et al. (2018) suggested was that individuals who completed higher levels of education had the potential to use the medical information they receive to make informed healthcare decisions.

Alternately, Hoogenbosch et al. (2018) found that limited knowledge or awareness of ePHR is a barrier to older adults' use of ePHR. In the current study, the majority of participants (79%) had basic knowledge of ePHRs, with 55% using an ePHR. However, a remaining 45 participants (22%) had never heard of an ePHR, or had no knowledge of an ePHR. A majority of the participants (53%) who were familiar with or used ePHRs, had learned basic knowledge, including the benefits of accessing the ePHR from their healthcare provider. Surprisingly, 11% of the participants were informed about ePHRs from a nurse, which seems to be a gap in communication by nurses. Nurses should play a more active role in promoting and integrating ePHR use, especially among older adults, to increase older adults' ePHR use and improve their health outcomes.

Electronic personal health records have many benefits, such as promoting patientprovider communication, providing access to healthcare information, and requesting prescription refills (Grossman et al., 2018). According to Johnson et al. (2021), the most common reasons
individuals access their ePHR is to view test results (86%), communicate with providers (58%) and view clinical notes (55%). Similarly, the majority of participants in this study used their ePHR to view lab results (53.8%), communicate with their providers (51.4%), and review their medications and health history (41%). Messaging and lab result sections in ePHRs were perceived as useful and easy to use, making them more attractive to non-ePHR users (Portz et al., 2019). Healthcare providers can promote older adults' ePHR use by introducing easy-to-use features to enable higher rates of ePHR adoption (Portz et al., 2019).

Perceived barriers to older adults' ePHR use were identified in the literature (Abdelrahman et al., 2010). One barrier is the lack of support or training on accessing and using an ePHR. Participants in this study were asked if they had received prior assistance in accessing an ePHR, and most had not received any help (60.5%). Previous research supports the current study's findings, in that older adults had higher usage rates if younger family members or friends supported their use (Abdelrahman et al., 2021). Healthcare providers can assist with ePHR navigation to help older adults overcome the barrier of lack of support and increase their ePHR access and usage. Supporting research suggests that providing appropriate training opportunities for older adults can increase their confidence, leading to increased ePHR usage (Lee et al., 2020).

According to Matthews et al. (2022), treatment for depressive symptoms, especially among newly diagnosed individuals, is low (35.7%), though older adults are at risk for misdiagnosis and undertreatment (Hurly, 2022). Hurley (2022) found that major depression affects about 1% - 5% of the older adult population. However, older adults' use of ePHRs can have a positive impact on managing their depression (Matthews et al., 2022). In this study, there was a higher percentage of participants with depressive symptoms (16%) compared to the

general older adult population. Individuals with depression are more likely to use the messaging feature with an ePHR to maintain regular communication and coordination, and to disclose uncomfortable information in a neutral environment (Matthews et al., 2022). Concerns about stigma surrounding mental health, information sharing, and security breaches, are barriers to using ePHRs for older adults with depression (Matthews et al., 2022). Security measures surrounding the exchange of health information, such as firewalls and security policies, should be considered during development and implementation of ePHRs.

Loneliness is associated with poor physical and mental health outcomes, such as an increased mortality rate, risk of cognitive decline, and decreased physical functioning (Byrne et al., 2021). Even though loneliness has adverse impacts on health, screening for loneliness is rarely integrated into healthcare (Perissinotto et al., 2019). Approximately 43% of older adults experience loneliness (Perissinotto et al., 2019) which increased during the COVID-19 pandemic (Dahlberg, 2021). In this study, the majority of participants had moderate to high degrees of loneliness (77%). Older adults who engage in social technology, including the possibility of using ePHRs for increasing communication and social interaction, may have decreased levels of loneliness (Byrne et al., 2021). Therefore, utilizing ePHRS not only for delivery of healthcare information, but also for social interaction, can positively decrease older adults' experiences of loneliness. Emphasizing social connection, communication, and interactive education and group features within an ePHR may appeal to older adults seeking increased social interaction.

The regression analysis demonstrated that user experience and perceived control were significant facilitators of older adult's intent to use ePHRs. Almost half of participants (45%) identified that the ePHR gave them a feeling of control over their health, and the majority (61%) knew what health information they needed and could access it from their ePHR. Research found

that perceived control is highly correlated with computer ability, therefore, facilitation of older adults' perceived control could increase use of ePHRs (Wong et al., 2019). Previous research suggests that negative user experience influences participants' intent to use ePHRs (Portz et al., 2019). In the current study, participants' responses varied on items measuring user experience, though the responses tended to strongly agreed or agreed. Effects from depression and loneliness were not statistically significant in the regression analysis. Limited research has been done on the impact of depression and loneliness on the older adults' ePHR use. Future studies need to consider the effects of depression and loneliness on the older adults' ePHR use.

Limitations

Although this study analyzed facilitators and barriers of older adults' intent to use ePHRs, the older adults' experiences may differ across ePHR systems. Participants may have variability in responses based on varying ePHR systems, so the findings may not be generalizable to all ePHR systems. As self-selected volunteers, participants have the potential to demonstrate selection bias, however, given that data were collected during the COVID pandemic, participation in the study could have been related to loneliness. Participants who had particularly strong or negative opinions about ePHRs may have been more likely to join the study. The limitations of self-reporting are also inherent to the study design, including unavoidable subjectivity in participant responses. Participants were largely from one geographical area and the collected data might not be representative of different settings or patient populations in other areas of the country. Further, race/ethnicity distribution in the sample was unbalanced. As such, the results should be considered carefully, as there may be significant effects related to race/ethnicity that were not researched or identified in this study. Lastly, restrictions requiring

virtual recruitment and data collection due to COVID-19 may have biased the sample against those with inconsistent internet or access to technology.

Conclusion

To conclude, this study identifies several facilitators and barriers to older adults' intent to use electronic personal health records (ePHRs). Benefits of ePHR use are supported by research, yet barriers to more robust acceptance of ePHRs by the older adult population continue to persist. Results of this study emphasize the need for a more user-friendly design to ePHRs, with feedback from older adults as critical to the development and implementation of ePHRs. Although there is a high correlation of depression and loneliness with poor health outcomes, little research exists on their influence on older adults' intent to use ePHRs. Further research on the influence of depression and loneliness on older adults' intent to use ePHRs should be considered.

References

- Abdelrahman, N., D., Haque, R., Polverento, M. E., Wendling, A., Gotez, C. M., & Arnetz, B. B.
 (2021). Brain health: Attitudes towards technology adoption in older adults. *Healthcare*, 9(23), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare9010023</u>.
- Administration on Aging (AoA). (2020). 2020 Profile of Older Americans. Retrieved from <u>https://acl.gov/sites/default/files/Aging%20and%20Disabilty%20in%20America/2020/Pr</u> <u>ofileOlderAmerican.Final_.pdf</u>.
- Byrne, K. A., Anaraky, R. G., Dye, C., Ross, L. A., Madathil, K. C., Knijnenburg, B., & Levkoff, S. (2021). Examining rural and racial disparities in the relationship between loneliness and social technology use among older adults. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 9, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/pubh.2021.723925</u>.
- Caboral-Stevens, M. (2015). *Theory development and pilot testing of a new survey instrument on usability by older adults* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from CUNY Academic Works.
- Caboral-Stevens, M., Whetsell, M. V., Evangelista, L. S., Cypress, B., & Nickitas, D. (2015).
 U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. framework for older adults. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 8(6), 300-306.
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Patrick, W. (2008). Loneliness: Human nature and the need for social connection. (First edition.). W.W. Norton.
- Johnson, C., Richwine, C., & Patel, V. (2021). Individuals' access and use of patient portals and smartphone health apps, 2020. ONC Data Brief, no. 57. Office of the National

Coordinator for Health Information Technology: Washington DC. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/data/data-briefs/individuals-access-and-use-patient-portals-and-smartphone-health-apps-2020.

- Grossman, L. V., Masterson Creber, R. M., Benda, N. C., Wright, D., Vawdrey, D. K., & Ancker, J. S. (2018). Interventions to increase patient portal use in vulnerable populations: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association, 26*(8-9), 855-870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocz023</u>.
- Hoogenbosch, B., Postma, J., Ginkel, J. M., Tiemessen, N., van Delden, J., & van Os-Medendorp, H. (2019). Use and the users of a patient portal: Cross-sectional study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(9), e262. <u>https://doi.org/10/2196/jmir.9418</u>.
- Hurley, K. (2022). Depression in the elderly. Retrieved from <u>https://www.psycom.net/depression/depression-in-the-elderly</u>.
- Knapova, L., Klocek, M., & Elavsky, S. (2020). The role of psychological factors in older adults' readiness to use eHealth technology: Cross-sectional questionnaire study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(5), e14670.
- Lee, O. E., Kim, D., & Beum, K. (2020). Factors affecting information and communication technology use and eHealth literacy among older adults in the US and South Korea. *Educational Gerontology*, 46(9), 575-586.

https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2020.1790162.

Matthews, E. B., Savoy, M., Paranjape, A., Washington, D., Hackney, T., Galis, D., & Zisman-Ilani, Y. (2022). Acceptability of health information exchange and patient portal use in depression care among underrepresented patients. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-022-07427-2</u>.

- Nahm, E., Zhu, S., Bellantoni, M., Keldsen, L., Charters, K., Russomanno, V., Rietschel, M., Son, H., & Smith, L. (2020). Patient portal use among older adults: What is really happening nationwide? *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *39*(4), 442-450. <u>https://doi.1177/0733464818776125</u>.
- National Poll on Healthy Aging. (2018). Logging in: Using patient portals to access health information. Retrieved from <u>https://www.healthyagingpoll.org/reports-</u> <u>more/report/logging-using-patient-portals-access-health-information</u>.
- Oh, S. S., Kim, K., Kim, M., Oh, J., Chu, S. H., & Choi, J. (2021). Measurement of digital literacy among older adults: Systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(2), e26145.
- Perissinotto, C., Holt-Lunstad, J., Periyakoil, V. S., & Covinsky, K. (2019). A practical approach to assessing and mitigating loneliness and isolation in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67(4), 657-662.
- Reed, M. E., Huang, J., Brand, R. J., Neugebauer, R., Graetz, I., Hsu, J., Ballard, D. W., & Grant, R. (2019). Patients with complex chronic conditions: Health care use and clinical events associated with access to a patient portal. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(6), e0217636. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0217636.
- Russell, D. (1996). UCLA Loneliness Scale (Version 3): Reliability, validity, and factor structure. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 66, 20-40.

- Portz, J., Bayliss, E. A., Bull, S., Boxer, R. S., Bekelman, D. B., Gleason, K., & Czaja, S. (2019).
 Using the technology acceptance model to explore user experience, intent to use, and use behavior of a patient portal among older adults with multiple chronic conditions:
 Descriptive qualitative study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(4), e11604.
 https://www.jmir.org/2019/e11604/.
- Punnoose, A. C. (2012). Determinants of intention to use eLearning based on the Technology Acceptance Model. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, 11, 301-337.
- Tappen, R. M., Cooley, M. E., Luckmann, R., & Panday, S. (2020). Digital health information disparities in older adults: A mixed methods study. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 9, 82-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-020-00931-3</u>.
- Vogels, E. (2021). Digital divide persists even as Americans with lower incomes make gains in tech adoption. Retrieved from <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/06/22/digital-</u> <u>divide-persists-even-as-americans-with-lower-incomes-make-gains-in-tech-adoption/</u>.
- Wong, J. I. S., Steitz, B. D., & Rosenbloom, S. T. (2019). Characterizing the impact of health literacy, computer ability, patient demographics, and portal usage on patient satisfaction with a patient portal. *JAMIA Open*, 2(4), 456-464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamiaopen/ooz058</u>.

Demographic Characteristics of Participants (N = 210)

Characteristic	п	%
Age at time of survey		
65-74	105	50%
75-84	69	32%
85-101	36	17%
Gender		
Male	103	49%
Female	51	51%
Race/Ethnicity		
White	207	98.6%
Hispanic or Latino	3	1.4%
Education Level		
Less than high school diploma	3	1.4%
High school degree or equivalent	78	37.3%
Bachelor's degree	70	33.5%
Master's degree	38	18.2%
Doctorate	9	4.3%
Other	11	5.3%
Household Income		
Below \$10k	5	2.4%
\$10k - \$50k	67	31.9%
\$50k - \$100k	64	30.5%
\$100k-\$150k	16	7.6%
Over \$150k	16	7.6%
Chronic Conditions		
Diabetes	43	20.5%
Asthma	18	8.6%
COPD	18	8.6%

Characteristic	п	%
Heart failure	22	10.5%
Kidney dialysis	2	1.0%
Kidney disease	9	4.3%
Hypertension	124	59.0%
High cholesterol	90	42.9%
Lung disease	5	2.4%
Arthritis	85	40.5%
Osteoporosis	35	16.7%
Depression	30	14.3%
Alzheimer's disease	4	1.9%
Cancer	31	14.8%
Other	19	9.0%
Computer Ownership		
No computer ownership	36	17.1%
Owned computer for 6-12 months	3	1.4%
Owned computer for 1-5 years	15	7.1%
Owned computer for greater than 5 years	154	73.3%
Computer Experience		
No computer experience	30	14.3%
Less than 3 months computer experience	3	1.4%
3-6 months computer experience	3	1.4%
6-12 months computer experience	2	1.0%
1-5 years computer experience	16	7.6%
Greater than 5 years computer experience	156	74.3%
Computer Experience Level		
Beginner	69	32.9%
Intermediate	119	56.7%
Expert	22	10.5%
Daily Hours of Computer Use on Average		
No computer use	42	20.0%

Characteristic	n	%
0-2 hours	85	40.5%
2-5 hours	64	30.5%
5-8 hours	14	6.7%
More than 8 hours	5	2.4%
Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Knowledge		
Never heard of ePHR	20	9.5%
Heard of ePHR but didn't understand	25	11.9%
Heard of ePHR and understood	50	23.8%
Heard of ePHR, understood and used	115	54.8%
Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Source		
Never heard of ePHR	26	12.4%
Provider	111	52.9%
Nurse	23	11.0%
Medical staff	29	13.8%
Family/Friends	10	4.8%
Internet	4	1.9%
Other	7	3.3%
Amount of Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Help Received		
No help received	127	60.5%
Minimal amount of help received	51	24.3%
Moderate amount of help received	19	9.0%
Significant amount of help received	11	5.2%
Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Source of Help		
No help received	123	58.6%
Provider	26	12.4%
Nurse	7	3.3%
Medical staff	9	4.3%
Family/Friends	29	13.8%
Training program/Course	7	3.3%
Internet	6	2.9%

Characteristic	n	%
Other	3	1.4%
Length of Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Ownership		
No ePHR ownership	54	25.7%
Less than 3 months of ePHR ownership	4	1.9%
3-6 months of ePHR ownership	1	<1%
6-12 months of ePHR ownership	5	2.4%
1-5 years of ePHR ownership	52	24.8%
Greater than 5 years of ePHR ownership	94	44.8%
Length of Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Usage		
No ePHR usage	87	41.4%
Less than 3 months of ePHR usage	8	3.8%
3-6 months of ePHR usage	3	1.4%
6-12 months of ePHR usage	3	1.4%
1-5 years of ePHR usage	36	17.1%
Greater than 5 years of ePHR usage	73	34.8%
Features Used Within Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR)		
No features used	82	39.0%
Logged in	122	58.1%
Sent/received messages	108	51.4%
Scheduled appointments	68	32.4%
Reviewed lab values	113	53.8%
Payed medical bills	34	16.2%
Reviewed medications/health history	86	41.0%
Request prescription refills	54	25.7%
Other	1	<1%
Sensoriperceptual Information		
Hearing impairment	84	40.0%
Visual impairment	149	71.0%
Wear eyeglasses	179	85.2%
Wear contacts	9	4.3%

Characteristic	n	%
Use hearing aids	53	25.2%
Use other vision assistive devices	12	5.7%

Measure	1	2	3	4	5	б	7
1. Age							
2. Computer Ownership	25**						
3. Computer Experience	21**	.74**					
4. Level of Experience	16*	.54**	.50**				
5. Knowledge of ePHR	25**	.51**	.47**	.46**			
6. Have ePHR	28**	.44**	.42**	.39**	.65**		
7. Experience with ePHR	19**	.45**	.50**	.47**	.73**	.73**	

Intercorrelations Among Six Demographic Items with Participant Age

**.Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed). *.Correlation is significant a the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Education							
2. Computer Ownership	.35**						
3. Computer Experience	.36**	.74**					
4. Level of Experience	.24**	.54**	.50**				
5. Knowledge of ePHR	.27**	.51**	.47**	.46**			
6. Have ePHR	.22**	.44**	.42**	.39**	.65**		
7. Experience with ePHR	.23**	.45**	.50**	.47**	.73**	.73**	

Intercorrelations Among Six Demographic Items with Education Level

**.Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Household income							
2. Computer Ownership	.31**						
3. Computer Experience	.27**	.74**					
4. Level of Experience	.33**	.54**	.50**				
5. Knowledge of ePHR	.10	.51**	.47**	.46**			
6. Have ePHR	.13	.44**	.42**	.39**	.65**		
7. Experience with ePHR	.13	.45**	.50**	.47**	.73**	.73**	

Intercorrelations Among Six Demographic Items and Household Income

112

**.Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Table 7

Total Score	n	%
0	60	28.6
1	49	23.3
2	35	16.7
3	25	11.9
4	14	6.7
5	3	1.4
5	5	2.4
6	5	2.4
7	6	2.9
8	4	1.9
9	3	1.4
10	1	.5
12	2	1.0
13	3	1.4

Frequencies of Participant Total Scores on the Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form (N = 210)

Total Score	n	%
20	5	2.4
21	4	1.9
22	9	4.3
23	4	1.9
24	6	2.9
25	3	1.4
26	6	2.9
27	5	2.4
28	7	3.3
29	3	1.4
30	9	4.3
31	17	8.1
32	12	5.7
33	8	3.8
34	11	5.2
35	6	2.9
36	14	6.7
37	3	1.4
38	8	3.8
39	4	1.9
40	8	3.8
41	5	2.4
42	3	1.4
43	4	1.9
44	8	3.8
45	3	1.4
46	4	1.9
48	1	.5

Frequencies of Participant Total Scores on the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3 (N = 210)

Total Score	n	%
50	4	1.9
51	7	3.3
52	3	1.4
53	1	.5
54	1	.5
55	1	.5
56	2	1.0
57	2	1.0
58	1	.5
61	2	.5
62	1	.5
65	2	1
66	1	.5
70	1	.5
77	1	.5

Participant Responses to Adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.T.Y. Survey Items on Perceived Control and User Experience (N = 210)

Item Number and Question	Strongly	%	Agree	%	Neither	%	Disagree	%	Strongly	%
	Agree n		n		n		n		Disagree	
									п	
1. An electronic personal health	41	19.5%	80	38.1%	50	23.8%	29	13.8%	10	4.8%
record is exactly what I need.										
2. I am satisfied with the overall	35	16.7%	98	46.7%	60	28.6	12	5.7	5	2.4
appearance of the electronic										
personal health record.	. –		10	••••						1.0
3. I am satisfied with the audio of	17	8.1	49	23.3	126	60	14	6.7	4	1.9
the electronic personal health										
record.		262		047	4 7	01.4	20	0 7	10	< 2
4. I can successfully use the	55	26.2	77	36.7	45	21.4	20	9.5	13	6.2
electronic personal health record.	10	22.2	70	27.6	F 1	24.2	10	0.6	10	()
5. I would recommend an electronic	49	23.3	/9	37.6	51	24.3	18	8.6	13	6.2
personal health record to a friend.	20	14.0	70	24.0	74	25.0	24	11 4	0	4.2
6. The electronic personal health	30	14.3	13	34.8	/4	35.2	24	11.4	9	4.3
record is pleasant to use.	20	12.0		21.4	70	27.1	20	14.2	7	2.2
10. The electronic personal health	29	13.8	00	31.4	/8	37.1	30	14.3	/	3.3
record gave me a reening of control										
over my nearth.	20	106	00	12.0	40	$\gamma \gamma \gamma$	22	11.0	0	12
and can access from the electronic	39	10.0	90	42.9	49	23.5	25	11.0	9	4.3
and can access from the electronic										
12. The information I received	77	12.0	Q /	40.0	69	22.4	\mathbf{r}	10.5	0	12
makes me feel in control	21	12.9	04	40.0	00	32.4		10.3	7	4.3

Regression Analysis Summary for Variables Influencing Older Adults' Intent to Use ePHRs (N = 210)

Variable	В	SE B	β	t	р
Sensoriperceptual Deficits	04	.12	01	31	.76
Age	03	.01	11	-2.5	.01
Education	002	.08	001	03	.98
Depression Total Score	.08	.05	.10	1.75	.08
Loneliness Total Score	004	.011	02	31	.76
Perceived Control	.31	.07	.37	4.75	.000
User Experience	.22	.04	.50	6.14	.000

Note: $R^2 = .70$ (N = 210, p < .001

Manuscript Three: "Exploring Influencing Factors for Older Adults' Performance with Electronic Personal Health Records (ePHRs)"

Janelle L. Theisen MAN, RN, CNE and Julia A. Snethen Ph.D., RN, FAAN University of Wisconsin – Milwaukee Manuscript in Process

Abstract

Background: Technology has the potential to improve older adults' health outcomes and quality of life. Although the percentage of older adults using technology has increased, it remains a smaller proportion than younger generations. Utilization of electronic personal health records (ePHRs) can assist older adults to manage their health. However, research on older adults' performance with ePHRs is lacking.

Methods: A correlational design with a convenience sample of older adults (n = 210). A structured observation of ePHR task performance was conducted (n = 57). Measures included a self-reported survey, adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey, Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form, UCLA Loneliness Scale, and an observation checklist. Descriptive statistics, frequency distributions, Pearson r and standard multiple regression were used for data analysis.

Results: Multiple regression analysis for performance indicates the overall model explains 26.3% of the total variance in older adults' intent to use ePHR (F(7, 49) = 2.5, p, <.028). The measure of depression was statistically significant in predicting older adult's performance with ePHRs ($\beta = .32, p <.037$).

Conclusions: This study identified several facilitators and barriers to older adults' performance with electronic personal health records (ePHRs). Partnering with providers, healthcare

organizations, and developers of ePHRs can promote more user-friendly designs that appeal to the older adult.

Key words: older adult, technology, electronic personal health record, ePHR, facilitators,

barriers, usage, performance

Introduction

Digital technology adoption is increasingly required in business areas, including healthcare (Oh et al., 2021). Technology can contribute to improved health outcomes and positively impact individuals' quality of life (Abdelrahman et al., 2021). The use of technology within healthcare provides improved geriatric care and can reach inaccessible populations (Abdelrahman et al., 2021). The older adult population (aged 65 and older) is projected to grow by 36% in the next 50 years (AoA, 2020), and is the fastest growing subset of internet users (Portz et al., 2019). Although the percentage of older adults using technology has increased, though it remains a smaller proportion than younger generations (Oh et al., 2021).

Improving inclusion and engagement of older adults in technology use is important for healthcare organizations (Oh et al., 2021), as it can increase provider access to health information. Therefore, telehealth platforms have been implemented to increase older adults' access to healthcare (Oh et al., 2021). Electronic personal health records are secure websites that contain personal health information and are directly connected to a provider's electronic medical system (Portz et al., 2019). Utilization of electronic personal health records (ePHRs) can assist individuals to manage their health, leading to care coordination for improved health outcomes and communication with providers (Portz et al., 2019). Benefits of ePHRs include enabling early intervention of healthcare problems, which can reduce health care costs (Portz et al., 2019).

Although ePHRs are a promising tool in managing older adults' health, a lag in older adults' ePHR adoption of technology exists (Portz et al., 2019). Adoption barriers to ePHR use in the older adult population include discomfort with technology, privacy concerns, and lack of knowledge of the benefits of ePHRs (Portz et al., 2019). However, according to the National Poll on Health Aging (2018), approximately 49% of adults between the ages of 65 and 80 reported

having an ePHR. There are demographic differences that contribute to higher utilization of ePHRs in older adults, including higher education level, higher income, and gender (56% of women vs. 45% of men) (National Poll on Aging, 2018). While research on older adults low usage of ePHRs was found in the literature (Oh et al., 2021), research on older adults' user interface or performance with ePHRs their adoption barriers is lacking (Portz et al., 2019). Therefore, this study aims to identify and understand the older adult's performance with ePHRs and barriers to ePHR adoption.

Purpose

The purpose of the study was to examine the relationship between individual factors of older adults and their performance with electronic personal health records (ePHRs). There were seven guiding questions identified:

- 1. What is the older adult's level of depression?
- 2. What is the older adult's level of loneliness?
- 3. What is the older adult's perceived control with electronic personal health records?
- 4. How do older adults describe their user experience with electronic personal health records?
- 5. What is the relationship between sensoriperceptual deficits and performance to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?
- 6. What is the relationship between older adults' performance and their intent to use electronic personal health records in the older adult?
- 7. What is the relationship between the independent variables and performance with electronic personal health records in the older adult?

Hypothesis

There was one research hypothesis for this study which stated, controlling for older adults' sensoriperceptual deficits, the degree of depression, the degree of loneliness, perceived control, and user experience will be correlated with the older adults' performance with electronic personal health records.

Methods

Research Design

This investigation was conducted as part of a larger study, which was developed using a correlational design. Four independent variables, depression, perceived control, experience, and loneliness were examined (see Table 1). Sensoriperceptual deficits, age and education were control variables, and performance was the dependent variable. Descriptive statistics and standard multiple regression analyses were performed to identify and describe relationships between the independent and dependent variables. This study was presented to and approved by the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee Institutional Review Board.

Independent Variables	Control Variables	Dependent Variable
Depression	Sensoriperceptual deficits	Performance
Perceived control	Age	
User experience	Education	
Loneliness		

Independent, Dependent, and Control Variables

Sample/Subjects

The target population for this study was the older adult, which is classified as individuals aged 65 years or older (WHO, 2015). Inclusion criteria were that the participant was aged 65 years or older, that the participant could speak and read English, and that the participant had a minimum of telephone access to communicate. Since this study researched the older adult's performance with electronic personal health records, participants needed to either have access to a screen for video conferencing or participate in face-to-face data collection for observation. A power analysis by obtaining at least 30 subjects for each study variable measured (Gray et al., 2017) indicated a total of 210 participants were needed for this study. Out of the 210 total participants, 63 participants were able to complete the observed performance of accessing a sample electronic personal health record. The regression results revealed 6 extreme values, which were eliminated from the analysis, bringing the total participant sample reported here to 57.

Setting

Recruitment was completed via face-to-face interaction, advertisements, flyers, letters, and emails, as well as convenience and snowball sampling. To ensure participant confidentiality, the environment was screened for potential security breaches prior to data collection. If the environment could not remain confidential, a different location was chosen. Data was collected virtually over the video conferencing platform Zoom, or face-to-face meetings. In-person data collection took place at senior housing facilities and local churches.

Measures

Five measures were used for data collection.

- Demographic information was gathered through a questionnaire developed by the primary researcher. Data included age, gender, race or ethnicity, education level, and income. Information regarding chronic conditions, computer and ePHR ownership and usage, hearing loss and visual deficits was reported. All survey items provided the participant with options for their responses, except for the fill in the blank option for age.
- 2. The Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986) was used to measure the degree of depression in the older adult. There are 15 yes/no questions on the GDS: Short Form. For ten of the questions, if the participant answered "yes," the presence of depression was indicated. The remaining five questions indicated symptoms of depression when the participant answered "no." A total score was calculated to determine the overall degree of depression.
- 3. The UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3 (Russell, 1996) was used to measure the degree of loneliness in the older adult. The scale consists of 20 items measuring the participant's

subjective feelings of loneliness using a 4-point Likert scale. Each item is scored from 1 (Never) to 4 (Often), and a sum score calculated. Three categories of scores could be obtained: no/low, moderate, and high. A total score less than 28 indicated no/low loneliness, scores 29-43 suggest moderate loneliness, and scores greater than 43 indicate a high level of loneliness.

- 4. An adapted version of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] (Caboral-Stevens, 2015) was used to measure the variables of perceived control, user experience, and intent to use. Items 10-12 on the adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] measure perceived control. Items 7-9 on the adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] measure intent to use, and items 1-6 measure user experience. Each item on the adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] is a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).
- 5. A researcher-developed checklist was used to ensure consistency with recording observations of participant's performance. The checklist consisted of 6 Likert items, ranging from 1 (unable to perform) to 5 (independent). Each item identified tasks to perform within a sample ePHR. Tasks were also individually timed and recorded from the initiation to completion of the task.

Procedures

Participants were interviewed initially to ensure they met the inclusion criteria for the study and informed consent was explained. A request to waive documentation of informed consent due to COVID-19 health practices and social distancing was completed and approved by the University of Wisconsin – Milwaukee IRB. The older adults verbally consented to participate in the study, and their participating in the data collection confirmed their consent, and a random participant number was assigned. Each survey was administered by the primary researcher who

verbally read each item to the participant. Participant answers were electronically recorded on a Microsoft Word document by the primary researcher, and then verified with the participant for accuracy.

A demographic survey was the first measure administered to the participants, including items on hearing loss and visual deficits. The Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form was administered following completion of the demographic survey. Participants answered 15 yes/no questions, and the researcher used the scoring guidelines to calculate a total score. If a total score was greater than 5, the participant was allowed to continue with the study, but the researcher verbally recommended a follow-up assessment with a provider. All participants were offered a list of resources for services addressing depression, regardless of score. Participants then completed the UCLA Loneliness Scale: Version 3. The researcher asked the participant the 20 items and calculated a total score, ranging from a minimum of 20 to a maximum of 80.

Upon completion of the first three surveys, participants with video conferencing capability proceeded to perform tasks within a sample ePHR provided by Twin Cities Physicians. Tasks to perform in the ePHR were: (a) log into the electronic personal health record; (b) send message; (c) read notes or messages; (d) look up lab values; (e) review medications; and (f) log out of the electronic personal health record. Video and screen sharing meetings were set up as screen share only, so the participant's face was not visible. A majority of participants (56%) did not require instructions on how to share screens via video conferencing at the beginning of the observation phase. Once the participant's screen was shared, video recording began. Participants were given verbal instruction to complete six basic tasks, such as logging in, sending a message to a provider, and reviewing medications. Each task was timed from the initiation of the task to the completion of the task. The researcher scored whether the participant could independently (68%) perform each task, or if they required assistance (32%), using the observer checklist (see Table 2). Video recording was stopped at the completion of the observation phase. Recordings were reviewed by the primary investigator within 10 minutes following data collection for verification of how long it took for the participant to complete each of the 6 tasks, and then the recording was permanently deleted.

After the participant completed tasks within the sample ePHR, the adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] was administered. Participants answered 12 items on perceived control, intent to use, and user experience with electronic personal health records. The researcher electronically recorded participant's responses on a Microsoft Word document, and verified the responses with the participant. At the completion of the data collection, participants were thanked, and the researcher responded to any remaining questions from the participants or comments.

Results

Data Analysis

Data analysis was conducted using SPSS software, version 28. Missing data were identified and the value 999 was inserted to account for data not completed on the surveys. Descriptive statistics, including frequencies, means, and standard deviations were computed to describe the participants' demographic characteristics. The independent variables of intent to use, user experience, sensoriperceptual deficits, and perceived control were transformed to produce a sum score. Correlations between the independent and dependent variables were identified through a Pearson *r* correlation and due to the small sample size of participants completing the sample ePHR (n = 57) a standard multiple regression was run.

Participant Characteristics

A total of 210 adults aged 65 and older participated in the study. Table 3 summarizes participant characteristics. Half of the participants were between the ages of 65 and 74 years, (see Table 3) Gender was equally represented, with 49% being male and 51% being female, and most participants were White (n = 207). A majority of participants had college or higher levels of education (n = 117), and reported at least one chronic condition, with the most common disorder being high blood pressure (n = 124). When asked about sensoriperceptual deficits, the majority of participants (n = 179) used glasses for vision, 84 participants reported a hearing impairment, and 53 needed to use a hearing aid for assistance.

Most participants owned a computer for over 5 years (n = 154), with 156 having greater than 5 years of computer experience. When participants were asked to select their level of computer use, 141 of the participants were intermediate level or higher. Participants' responses about knowledge of and use of electronic personal health record (ePHR) use were evaluated. A majority of participants (54%) knew about, understood, and used an ePHR for managing their health. Participants primarily learned about ePHRs from their providers (52.9%). However most participants (n = 127) had never received help to learn how to utilize an ePHR. Nearly half of the participants (n = 95) had utilized an ePHR for greater than 5 years. Participants mostly review their lab results (n = 113), communicate with their providers (n = 108) and review their medications and health history (n = 86) within their ePHR.

Findings

A correlational analysis was conducted to look at the relationship between the participant's age, and each of these variables: (a) computer ownership; (b) computer experience;

(c) level of experience; (d) and knowledge; (e) ownership; and (f) experience with ePHRs. All of the correlations were statistically significant, yet there were weak negative correlations (see Tables 4).

Additionally, a Pearson correlation coefficient analysis was run to assess the relationship between the participant's level of education and their experience with using computers (see Table 5). Moderate positive correlations were found between participants' education and their ownership of computers (r(208) = .35, p < .01), and participants' education and experience with computers (r(208) = .36, p < .01).

Household income was explored in relation to participant's income. A Pearson's correlation coefficient was run to identify whether there was a relationship between the participant's household income (see Table 6) and computer ownership. A statistically significant relationship was found between participants' household income and the variables of computer ownership (r(208) = .31, p < .01) and experience with computers (r(208) = .33, p < .01).

All 210 participants completed the depression screen. Frequencies from the depression screen were calculated to identify the older adults' *degree of depression* (see Table 7) and amount of *loneliness* (see Table 8). Twenty-seven participants scored a 5 or greater on the depression screen, which is suggestive of some depressive symptoms. Three percent of the participants (n = 6) had a total score of 10 or greater, which is highly indicative of depression. On the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3, scores could range between 20 and 80 (M = 50). Participants scored between 20 and 77 (M = 36). Most participants (n = 115) had total loneliness scores in the moderate range (29-43), with equal percentages scoring in the low (n = 49) and high ranges (n = 46) (see Table 8).

Perceived control calculations included using items 10, 11 and 12 from the subscale included on the adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©]. Participants selected options ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree (see Table 9). When asked whether the ePHR gave participants a feeling of control over their health, 95 agreed or strongly agreed with that statement. Participants (n = 129) knew what information was needed from the ePHR and could access it from the record, and 111 participants felt more control with the information they received from the ePHR (see Table 9).

The adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[®] measured the concept of *user experience*, including ease of use through items 1-6 on the survey. Participant responses ranged from strongly agree to strongly disagree, with the majority responding that an ePHR was exactly what they needed (n = 121). While most participants were satisfied with the appearance of their ePHR (n = 133), a few were less satisfied with the audio features within their ePHR (n = 125). The majority of participants (n = 132) identified they could successfully use an ePHR, and just under half (n = 103) thought the ePHR was pleasant to use. Additionally, 128 of the participants would recommend an ePHR to a friend (see Table 9).

The ePHR observation section was completed by 63 participants. Most participants (n = 38) independently performed the first task, logging into the sample ePHR account. However, 12 participants were completely unable to log into the sample ePHR account, and required assistance from the researcher to complete the task. Participants during the second task were requested to send a message within the sample ePHR, which 45 participants were able to do without assistance. The older adults were able to perform Task 3, read notes (n = 50); Task 4, find lab results (n = 54); and Task 5, reviewing medications (n = 54) with little to no assistance. Only 42 of the participants were able to log out of the sample ePHR account. However

participants on video conferencing often had the video screen covering the logout icon. With minimal guidance from the researcher regarding the manual process for moving the video screen, participants were then able to successfully log out without further assistance (see Table 10).

Each task completed by the participant was timed in seconds from start to completion of the task. It took participants between 12 seconds to 5 minutes to log into the sample ePHR account, after both written and verbal instructions were given to the participant. The time range for participants to complete the remaining tasks in the sample ePHR account was 1 second to 5 minutes (see Table 11).

A correlation analysis was conducted to determine if there was a relationship between *sensoriperceptual deficits* and older adults' *performance* with ePHRs. A weak but not significant correlation was found (r(62) = -.130, p > .05). In addition, a correlation analysis was conducted to identify whether there was a relationship between older adults' *performance* with and *intent to use* ePHRs. A moderate negative correlation was found (r(62) = -.540, p < .001), indicating that there is a significant linear relationship between the older adult's *performance* and their *intent to use* ePHRs.

The relationships between *depression*, *loneliness*, *perceived control* and *user experience* with *performance* with ePHRs was examined using standard multiple regression (see Table 12). Multicollinearity was not a concern in the regression as tolerance levels were not less than 0.1 and the variance inflation factor (VIF) for all variables was less than 10. The normal probability-probability plot (P-P plot) and the scatter plot indicate there are no deviations from normality, but 6 extreme values were removed. The overall model explains 26.3% of the total variance in older adults' *performance* with ePHR with an adjusted explanation of 15.8% (*F* (7, 49) = 2.5, *p*

<.028). The measure of *depression* was statistically significant in predicting older adults' *performance* with ePHRs (*beta* = -.32, p < .037).

Discussion

This study examined the older adults' facilitators and barriers to electronic personal health record (ePHR) use. Overall, this study supported previous research findings by identifying relationships between individual factors and the older adult's use of ePHRs. The findings suggest that older adults are using or are interested in using ePHRs to help manage their health. A gap in the literature was identified in this research related to the association between depression and loneliness and the older adult's performance with ePHRs.

An older adult is defined as an individual who has reached the chronological age of 65 years (WHO, 2015). The Administration on Aging (AoA, 2020) divides the older adult into three groups: the young old (65-74 years), the middle-old (75-84 years), and the old-old (85 years and older). There are approximately 31.5 million older adults who fall within the young-old group, compared to only 6.6 million older adults in the old-old group (AoA, 2020). In this study, 50% of participants were in the young-old group. As participant age increased, the number of participants decreased (32% middle old, 17% old-old). Research findings suggest that older adults are receptive to using ePHRs, however, older adults who are not as comfortable with technology may have different support needs to learn and use ePHRs (Son & Nahm, 2019). As younger adults who are technologically savvy start to age, the proportion of older adults using ePHRs is expected to grow in the future, so design of ePHRs with adult-friendly aspects should be considered (Son & Nahm, 2019).
Financial strain, lack of devices and unreliable or limited internet access are potential barriers to older adults using ePHRs. Older adults are often on fixed incomes, and may not be able to afford the high-speed internet that is often required for ePHRs to function effectively (Crouch & Gordon, 2019). Previous research has shown that low income is a social determinant of being an internet user (Crouch & Gordon, 2019), which can limit ePHR usage. As electronic personal health records use the internet as a platform, limited access to the internet is correlated with a lower usage rate of ePHRs. Consistent with previous research, the results of this study found that a higher household income was associated with an increased likelihood of older adults' access and use of an ePHR. Although individuals with lower incomes may have less access to the internet, it is more likely that older adults own a smartphone with internet capability (Vogels, 2021). Healthcare organizations and ePHR developers should take into consideration a mobile interface for the ePHR. In addition, web-based resources should be easy to navigate, and the content accessible to older adults who may have physical or computer skill deficits (Crouch & Gordon, 2019).

Education as a sociodemographic variable is influenced by other factors, such as income, occupation, and wealth (Fang et al., 2018). Individuals who have higher education levels often have more access to technology, and are more likely to use ePHRs (Fang et al., 2018). In addition, individuals with higher education levels often have a more positive perception of technology to access healthcare information to make decisions about their health (Lee et al., 2020). In this study, participants with a higher level of education were more likely to own a computer, and to have more experience with using a computer. As healthcare organizations and legislation continue to move forward with increasing ePHR access and use, investments should be made in staying connected with less affluent groups, including the older adult. Interventions

could be developed and implemented to provide affordable internet access and devices to underserved populations, and to provide tailored and relevant training opportunities at convenient locations.

Electronic personal health records (ePHRs) have the potential to increase patient engagement in their health management, which can lead to improved patient outcomes (Hoogenbosch et al., 2018). However, older nonusers of ePHRs tend to be those with fewer chronic health conditions (Hoogenbosch et al., 2018). Limited knowledge or awareness of ePHRs is a barrier to ePHR use, as older adults may not have access to the benefits ePHRs can provide (Hoogenbosch et al., 2018). Results from this study indicate that a majority of participants (79%) were aware of ePHRs, with approximately 55% of participants having used an ePHR previously. Prior research studies identify about 37% of older adults being nonusers and unaware of ePHRs (Hoogenbosch et al., 2018), compared to 22% of nonusers in this study. Healthcare providers were the most likely group to inform older adults about the benefits of the ePHRs and the benefits, while only 11% of participants were informed by nurses. Healthcare professionals can have an influential role in patient's healthcare management. By integrating ePHR usage into daily care, as well as providing support and training to older adults, healthcare providers can help increase ePHR use in the older adult population.

User experience and the ease of navigating an ePHR are often facilitators that lead to increased usage of ePHRs. Individuals are more likely to adopt a new technology if it is perceived as useful, credible, and has obvious benefits (Portz et al., 2019). Prior studies have shown that older adults identify communication, access to lab results, and the ability to electronically refill prescriptions as the more important features within an ePHR (Portz et al., 2019). Similarly, results from this study identify the most commonly used ePHR feature was to

review lab results (53.8%), communicate with the healthcare team (51.4%), and to review their medications or health history (41%). The features of messaging and lab results within an ePHR are often simple to use and easily understood, which can lead to improved communication between patient and provider and more seamless medication management (Portz et al., 2019). In addition, if older adults engage with user-friendly features, an increased satisfaction with the ePHR may contribute to further engagement with other components (Portz et al., 2019). Therefore, healthcare providers can provide education on easy-to-use features and provide navigational support to older adults in order to increase ePHR usage.

Social support and encouragement can compel older adults' active engagement with ePHRs (Fang et al., 2019). Adults who need help from another person to use the internet or other web-based application such as ePHRs were less likely to use them (Crouch & Gordon, 2019). Most participants in this study did not receive any help to learn how to use an ePHR (60.5%) and those that did received assistance from family members or friends (13.8%). Providing assistance and training opportunities to older adults can have the potential to increase their confidence with technology to maximize the utilization of ePHRs (Lee et al., 2020).

Use of ePHRs by patients has been correlated with higher rates of depression treatment and decreases in depressive symptoms (Matthews et al., 2022). Between 1% - 5% of older adults are diagnosed with depression, but many more may be undiagnosed (Hurley, 2022). Sixteen percent of older adult participants in this study scored a 5 or higher on the Geriatric Depression Screen: Short Form (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986). In addition, the regression analysis showed that depression was the only significant variable of older adults' performance with ePHRs. The regression results supports previous research which demonstrated that participants with depression were less likely to perform effectively with an ePHR. Electronic personal health

record features such as messaging and scheduling are appealing to older adults' with depression as it facilitates accessibility (Matthews et al., 2022). However, older adults with depression identified barriers to ePHR use, such as privacy concerns regarding the exchange of health information (Matthews et al., 2022). Additionally, older adults with depression were less likely to use an ePHR if there was no regular communication or if there was no perceived control over their health information (Matthews et al., 2022). Electronic personal health records with usability concerns were identified as a barrier to older adults' usage of ePHRs (Matthews et al., 2022). One solution to overcome ePHR security concerns is to implement policies that guide both patient and provider exchange of healthcare information. Additionally, ePHRs can be designed to promote healthcare management, by focusing on accessibility of the user interface.

Loneliness can have major implications on the health of older adults (National Poll on Health Aging, 2019). Social isolation is a risk factor for loneliness, which is associated with poor health outcomes, lower patient well-being, and higher mortality (Dahlberg, 2021). Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, 34% of older adults reported feeling a lack of companionship, and 27% identified isolation (National Poll on Aging, 2019). Since the outbreak of COVID-19, loneliness has increased not just in older adults, but among the general public (Dahlberg, 2021). Older adult participants in this study scored an average of 36 on the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3 (Russell, 1996), indicating a moderate degree of loneliness. The majority of participants (n = 161) total loneliness scores suggested a moderate to high degree of loneliness. Digital technology, including ePHRs, can positively impact older adults' perceived social support, leading to decreased feelings of social isolation (Byrne et al., 2021). Inclusion of screening tools for loneliness and isolation should be integrated into existing and future ePHRs (Perissinotto et

al., 2019). By identifying older adults at risk or experiencing loneliness and isolation, guidelines and interventions can be developed to address this barrier.

Limitations

Participants in this study performed tasks with a sample ePHR account provided by Twin Cities Physicians. However, because there is significant variability across different ePHR systems, the results may not be generalizable to all ePHR interfaces. Participants were not randomized, but were self-selected volunteers, making it difficult to generalize to a broader population. Participants with a strong or negative opinion on ePHRs may have been drawn to participate in the study, leading to results which may not be representative of the older adult population. Response bias may be present due to the use of self-reported instruments. Race, ethnicity, and geographical location were not uniformly represented, again, influencing the generalizability of results to other locations or population groups. Due to COVID-19 restrictions requiring virtual recruitment and data collection, the sample may be biased against older adults with inconsistent internet or access to technology. In addition, recruitment challenges due to COVID-19 limited the number of participants who were able to participate in the ePHR task performance, leading to a small final sample size.

Conclusion

In summary, this study identifies several facilitators and barriers to older adults' performance with electronic personal health records (ePHRs). Electronic personal health records can provide solutions to address healthcare challenges faced by older adults. This study demonstrates that a considerable number of older adults are familiar with and use ePHRs. Importantly, older adults who use ePHRs tend to be highly satisfied with them, and plan to

continue using them in the future. Understanding facilitators and barriers to older adults' performance with ePHRs could inform progress in this area. Partnering with providers, healthcare organizations, and developers of ePHRs can promote more user-friendly designs that appeal to the older adult. One potential implication from this study is that by including social technology and screening tools for depression and loneliness within ePHRs can reduce loneliness and the associated health consequences. However, further research on the impact of loneliness and depression on older adults' performance with ePHRs should be considered.

References

- Abdelrahman, N. D., Haque, R., Polverento, M. E., Wendling, A., Gotez, C. M., & Arnetz, B. B.
 (2021). Brain health: Attitudes towards technology adoption in older adults. *Healthcare*, 9(23), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare9010023</u>.
- Administration on Aging (AoA). (2020). 2020 Profile of Older Americans. Retrieved from <u>https://acl.gov/sites/default/files/Aging%20and%20Disability%20in%20America/2020/Pr</u> <u>ofileOlderAmerican.Final_.pdf</u>.
- Byrne, K. A., Anaraky, R. G., Dye, C., Ross, L. A., Madathil, K. C., Knijnenburg, B., & Levkoff, S. (2021). Examining rural and racial disparities in the relationship between loneliness and social technology use among older adults. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 9, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/pubh.2021.723925</u>.
- Crouch, E., & Gordon, N. P. (2019). Prevalence and factors influencing use of internet and electronic health resources by middle-aged and older adults in a US health plan population: Cross-sectional survey study. *JMIR Aging*, 2(1), e11451.
- Dahlberg, L. (2021). Loneliness during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Aging & Mental Health*, 25(7), 1161-1164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2021.1875195</u>.
- Fang, M. L., Canham, S. L., Battersby, L., Sixsmith, J., Wada, M., & Sixsmith, A. (2019). Exploring privilege in the digital divide: Implications for theory, policy, and practice. *Gerontologist*, 59(10), e1-e15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny037</u>.

- Gray, J. R., Grove, S. K., & Sutherland, S. (2017). Burns and Groves the practice of nursing research: Appraisal, synthesis, and generation of evidence (8th ed.). St. Louis, MO: Elsevier.
- Hoogenbosch, B., Postma, J., de Man-van Ginkel, J. M., Tiemessen, N., van Delden, J., & van Os-Medendorp, H. (2018). Use and the users of a patient portal: Cross-sectional study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(9), e262.
- Hurley, K. (2022). Depression in the elderly. Retrieved from https://www.psycom.net/depression/depression-in-the-elderly.
- Lee, O. E., Kim, D., & Beum, K. A. (2020). Factors affecting information and communication technology use and eHealth literacy among older adults in the US and South Korea. *Educational Gerontology*, 46(9), 575-586. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.20201790162.
- Matthews, E. B., Savoy, M., Paranjape, A., Washington, D., Hackney, T., Galis, D., & Zisman-Ilani, Y. (2022). Acceptability of health information exchange and patient portal use in depression care among underrepresented patients. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-022-07427-2</u>.
- National Poll on Healthy Aging. (2018). Logging in: Using patient portals to access health information. Retrieved from <u>https://www.healthyagingpoll.org/reports-</u> <u>more/report/logging-using-patient-portals-access-health-information</u>.
- National Poll on Healthy Aging. (2019). Loneliness and Health. Retrieved from <u>https://www.healthyagingpoll.org/reports-more/report/loneliness-and-health</u>.

- Oh, S. S., Kim, K., Kim, M., Oh, J., Chu, S. H., & Choi, J. (2021). Measurement of digital literacy among older adults: Systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(2), e26145.
- Perissinotto, C., Holt-Lunstad, J., Periyakoil, V. S., & Covinsky, K. (2019). A practical approach to assessing and mitigating loneliness and isolation in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67(4), 657-662.
- Portz, J. Bayliss, E. A., Bull, S., Boxer, R. S., Bekelman, D. B., Gleason, K., & Czaja, S. (2019).
 Using the technology acceptance model to explore user experience, intent to use, and use behavior of a patient portal among older adults with multiple chronic conditions:
 Descriptive qualitative study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(4), e11604.
 https://www.jmir.org/2019/e11604/.
- Russell, D. (1996). UCLA Loneliness Scale (Version 3): Reliability, validity, and factor structure. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 66, 20-40.
- Sheikh, J. I., & Yesavage, J. A. (1986). Geriatric depression scale (GDS): Recent evidence and development of a shorter version. *Clinical Gerontologist*, *5*(1-2), 165-173.
- Son, H., & Nahm, E. (2019). Older adults' experience using patient portals in communities: Challenges and opportunities. *Computers, Informatics, Nursing, 31*(1), 4-10. https://doi.org/10.1097/CIN.00000000000476.
- Vogels, E. (2021). Digital divide persists even as Americans with lower incomes make gains in tech adoption. Retrieved from <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/06/22/digitaldivide-persists-even-as-americans-with-lower-incomes-make-gains-in-tech-adoption/</u>.

World Health Organization (WHO). (2015). Definition of an older adult or elderly person:
 Proposed working definition of an older person in Africa for the MDS project. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/ageingdefnolder/en/.

ePHR Task Observation Checklist

Task	Time to Complete	Independent	Minimal Assistance	Moderate Assistance	Significant Assistance	Unable to Perform	Comments
Log into the electronic personal health record		5	4	3	2	1	
Send message		5	4	3	2	1	
Read notes or messages		5	4	3	2	1	
Look up lab values		5	4	3	2	1	
Review medications		5	4	3	2	1	
Log out of the electronic personal health record		5	4	3	2	2	

Demographic Characteristics of Participants (N = 210)

Characteristic	п	%
Age at time of survey		
65-74	105	50%
75-84	69	32%
85-101	36	17%
Gender		
Male	103	49%
Female	51	51%
Race/Ethnicity		
White	207	98.6%
Hispanic or Latino	3	1.4%
Education Level		
Less than high school diploma	3	1.4%
High school degree or equivalent	78	37.3%
Bachelor's degree	70	33.5%
Master's degree	38	18.2%
Doctorate	9	4.3%
Other	11	5.3%
Household Income		
Below \$10k	5	2.4%
\$10k - \$50k	67	31.9%
\$50k - \$100k	64	30.5%
\$100k-\$150k	16	7.6%
Over \$150k	16	7.6%
Chronic Conditions		
Diabetes	43	20.5%
Asthma	18	8.6%
COPD	18	8.6%

Characteristic	п	%
Heart failure	22	10.5%
Kidney dialysis	2	1.0%
Kidney disease	9	4.3%
Hypertension	124	59.0%
High cholesterol	90	42.9%
Lung disease	5	2.4%
Arthritis	85	40.5%
Osteoporosis	35	16.7%
Depression	30	14.3%
Alzheimer's disease	4	1.9%
Cancer	31	14.8%
Other	19	9.0%
Computer Ownership		
No computer ownership	36	17.1%
Owned computer for 6-12 months	3	1.4%
Owned computer for 1-5 years	15	7.1%
Owned computer for greater than 5 years	154	73.3%
Computer Experience		
No computer experience	30	14.3%
Less than 3 months computer experience	3	1.4%
3-6 months computer experience	3	1.4%
6-12 months computer experience	2	1.0%
1-5 years computer experience	16	7.6%
Greater than 5 years computer experience	156	74.3%
Computer Experience Level		
Beginner	69	32.9%
Intermediate	119	56.7%
Expert	22	10.5%
Daily Hours of Computer Use on Average		
No computer use	42	20.0%

Characteristic	n	%
0-2 hours	85	40.5%
2-5 hours	64	30.5%
5-8 hours	14	6.7%
More than 8 hours	5	2.4%
Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Knowledge		
Never heard of ePHR	20	9.5%
Heard of ePHR but didn't understand	25	11.9%
Heard of ePHR and understood	50	23.8%
Heard of ePHR, understood and used	115	54.8%
Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Source		
Never heard of ePHR	26	12.4%
Provider	111	52.9%
Nurse	23	11.0%
Medical staff	29	13.8%
Family/Friends	10	4.8%
Internet	4	1.9%
Other	7	3.3%
Amount of Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Help Received		
No help received	127	60.5%
Minimal amount of help received	51	24.3%
Moderate amount of help received	19	9.0%
Significant amount of help received	11	5.2%
Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Source of Help		
No help received	123	58.6%
Provider	26	12.4%
Nurse	7	3.3%
Medical staff	9	4.3%
Family/Friends	29	13.8%
Training program/Course	7	3.3%
Internet	6	2.9%

Characteristic	п	%
Other	3	1.4%
Length of Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Ownership		
No ePHR ownership	54	25.7%
Less than 3 months of ePHR ownership	4	1.9%
3-6 months of ePHR ownership	1	<1%
6-12 months of ePHR ownership	5	2.4%
1-5 years of ePHR ownership	52	24.8%
Greater than 5 years of ePHR ownership	94	44.8%
Length of Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR) Usage		
No ePHR usage	87	41.4%
Less than 3 months of ePHR usage	8	3.8%
3-6 months of ePHR usage	3	1.4%
6-12 months of ePHR usage	3	1.4%
1-5 years of ePHR usage	36	17.1%
Greater than 5 years of ePHR usage	73	34.8%
Features Used Within Electronic Personal Health Record (ePHR)		
No features used	82	39.0%
Logged in	122	58.1%
Sent/received messages	108	51.4%
Scheduled appointments	68	32.4%
Reviewed lab values	113	53.8%
Payed medical bills	34	16.2%
Reviewed medications/health history	86	41.0%
Request prescription refills	54	25.7%
Other	1	<1%
Sensoriperceptual Information		
Hearing impairment	84	40.0%
Visual impairment	149	71.0%
Wear eyeglasses	179	85.2%
Wear contacts	9	4.3%

Characteristic	n	%
Use hearing aids	53	25.2%
Use other vision assistive devices	12	5.7%

Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Age							
2. Computer Ownership	25**						
3. Computer Experience	21**	.74**					
4. Level of Experience	16*	.54**	.50**				
5. Knowledge of ePHR	25**	.51**	.47**	.46**			
6. Have ePHR	28**	.44**	.42**	.39**	.65**		
7. Experience with ePHR	19**	.45**	.50**	.47**	.73**	.73**	

Intercorrelations Among Six Demographic Items with Participant Age (N = 210

149

**.Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

*.Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Education							
2. Computer Ownership	.35**						
3. Computer Experience	.36**	.74**					
4. Level of Experience	.24**	.54**	.50**				
5. Knowledge of ePHR	.27**	.51**	.47**	.46**			
6. Have ePHR	.22**	.44**	.42**	.39**	.65**		
7. Experience with ePHR	.23**	.45**	.50**	.47**	.73**	.73**	

Intercorrelations Among Six Demographic Items with Participant Education Level (N = 210)

**.Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Household income							
2. Computer Ownership	.31**						
3. Computer Experience	.27**	.74**					
4. Level of Experience	.33**	.54**	.50**				
5. Knowledge of ePHR	.10	.51**	.47**	.46**			
6. Have ePHR	.13	.44**	.42**	.39**	.65**		
7. Experience with ePHR	.13	.45**	.50**	.47**	.73**	.73**	

Intercorrelations Amona	g Six Demograp	phic Items and Pa	articipant Hous	ehold Income	(N = 168)
-------------------------	----------------	-------------------	-----------------	--------------	-----------

**.Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Table 17

Total Score	п	%
0	60	28.6
1	49	23.3
2	35	16.7
3	25	11.9
4	14	6.7
5	3	1.4
5	5	2.4
6	5	2.4
7	6	2.9
8	4	1.9
9	3	1.4
10	1	.5
12	2	1.0
13	3	1.4

Frequencies of Participant Total Scores on the Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form (N = 210)

Total Score	n	%
20	5	2.4
21	4	1.9
22	9	4.3
23	4	1.9
24	6	2.9
25	3	1.4
26	6	2.9
27	5	2.4
28	7	3.3
29	3	1.4
30	9	4.3
31	17	8.1
32	12	5.7
33	8	3.8
34	11	5.2
35	6	2.9
36	14	6.7
37	3	1.4
38	8	3.8
39	4	1.9
40	8	3.8
41	5	2.4
42	3	1.4
43	4	1.9
44	8	3.8
45	3	1.4
46	4	1.9
48	1	.5

Frequencies of Participant Total Scores on the UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3 (N = 210)

Total Score	п	%
50	4	1.9
51	7	3.3
52	3	1.4
53	1	.5
54	1	.5
55	1	.5
56	2	1.0
57	2	1.0
58	1	.5
61	2	.5
62	1	.5
65	2	1
66	1	.5
70	1	.5
77	1	.5

Participant Responses to Adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey Items on Perceived Control and User Experience (N = 210)

Item Number and Question	Strongly	%	Agree	%	Neither	%	Disagree	%	Strongly	%
	Agree <i>n</i>		n		n		n		Disagree n	
1. An electronic personal health record is exactly what I need.	41	19.5%	80	38.1%	50	23.8%	29	13.8%	10	4.8%
2. I am satisfied with the overall appearance of the electronic personal health record.	35	16.7%	98	46.7%	60	28.6	12	5.7	5	2.4
3. I am satisfied with the audio of the electronic personal health record.	17	8.1	49	23.3	126	60	14	6.7	4	1.9
4. I can successfully use the electronic personal health record.	55	26.2	77	36.7	45	21.4	20	9.5	13	6.2
5. I would recommend an electronic personal health record to a friend.	49	23.3	79	37.6	51	24.3	18	8.6	13	6.2
6. The electronic personal health record is pleasant to use.	30	14.3	73	34.8	74	35.2	24	11.4	9	4.3
10. The electronic personal health record gave me a feeling of control over my health.	29	13.8	66	31.4	78	37.1	30	14.3	7	3.3
11. I know what information I need and can access from the electronic personal health record.	39	18.6	90	42.9	49	23.3	23	11.0	9	4.3
12. The information I received makes me feel in control.	27	12.9	84	40.0	68	32.4	22	10.5	9	4.3

ePHR Task	n	%
Log in		
Unable to perform	12	19.0
Significant assistance	2	3.2
Moderate assistance	5	7.9
Minimal assistance	6	9.5
Independent	38	60.3
Send message		
Unable to perform	5	7.9
Significant assistance	3	4.8
Moderate assistance	3	4.8
Minimal assistance	7	11.1
Independent	45	71.4
Read provider note		
Unable to perform	7	11.1
Significant assistance	1	1.6
Moderate assistance	2	3.2
Minimal assistance	3	4.8
Independent	50	79.4
Access lab results		
Unable to perform	3	4.8
Significant assistance	1	1.6
Moderate assistance	3	4.8
Minimal assistance	2	3.2
Independent	54	85.7

Frequencies of Participant ePHR Task Performance Ability (N = 63)

ePHR Task	п	%
Review medications		
Unable to perform	2	3.2
Significant assistance	1	1.6
Moderate assistance	2	3.2
Minimal assistance	4	6.3
Independent	54	85.7
Log out		
Unable to perform	2	3.2
Significant assistance	1	1.6
Moderate assistance	5	7.9
Minimal assistance	13	20.6
Independent	42	66.7

Time to complete ePHR task in seconds	n	%	
Task 1: Log on $(N = 52)$			
<1	1	1.9	
12	1	1.9	
45	1	1.9	
46	1	1.9	
52	1	1.9	
54	1	1.9	
55	1	1.9	
56	3	5.8	
60	1	1.9	
62	2	3.8	
64	2	3.8	
65	1	1.9	
67	1	1.9	
68	1	1.9	
69	1	1.9	
71	1	1.9	
73	1	1.9	
75	2	3.8	
76	1	1.9	
77	3	5.8	
78	1	1.9	
80	1	1.9	
82	1	1.9	
83	1	1.9	
84	1	1.9	
85	1	1.9	
88	1	1.9	
89	1	1.9	

Frequencies of Participant Time in Seconds to Complete ePHR Task

$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
18011.918311.923411.924011.9	
18311.923411.924011.9	
23411.924011.9	
240 1 1.9	
300 1 1.9	
Task 2: Send message $(N = 61)$	
<1 3 4.9	
2 7 11.5	5
3 6 9.8	
4 3 4.9	
5 4 6.6	
6 3 4.9	
7 6 9.9	
8 3 4.9	
9 1 1.6	
10 1 1.6	
11 2 3.3	
13 1 1.6	
15 4 6.6	
21 1 1.6	
22 1 1.6	
24 1 1.6	
26 1 1.6	
30 1 1.6	
32 1 1.6	
35 1 1.6	

57	1	1.6
78	1	1.6
89	1	1.6
117	1	1.6
120	3	4.9
160	1	1.6
180	1	1.6
300	1	1.6
Task 3: Read provider note $(N = 61)$		
<1	1	1.6
1	5	8.2
2	4	6.6
3	4	6.6
4	6	9.8
5	9	14.8
6	2	3.3
7	4	6.6
8	9	14.8
10	3	4.9
12	1	1.6
14	2	3.3
15	1	1.6
19	1	1.6
22	1	1.6
29	1	1.6
38	1	1.6
60	1	1.6
120	3	4.9
160	1	1.6
300	1	1.6
Task 4: Access lab results $(N = 61)$		
1	13	21.3
2	23	37.7

3	8	13.1	
4	5	8.2	
5	1	1.6	
7	1	1.6	
8	1	1.6	
18	1	1.6	
22	1	1.6	
42	1	1.6	
60	1	1.6	
120	3	4.9	
160	1	1.6	
300	1	1.6	
Task 5: Review medications $(N = 61)$			
1	15	24.6	
2	20	32.8	
3	7	11.5	
4	6	9.8	
5	2	3.3	
6	2	3.3	
10	1	1.6	
13	1	1.6	
28	1	1.6	
60	1	1.6	
120	3	4.9	
160	1	1.6	
300	1	1.6	
Task 6: Log out $(N = 61)$			
1	1	1.6	
2	2	3.3	
3	6	9.8	
4	7	11.5	
5	5	8.2	
6	3	4.9	

7	1	1.6	
8	1	1.6	
9	1	1.6	
10	2	3.3	
11	3	4.9	
12	1	1.6	
13	3	4.9	
15	1	1.6	
16	1	1.6	
17	1	1.6	
19	1	1.6	
20	2	3.3	
21	-	1.6	
24	1	16	
25	1	1.6	
30	2	3.3	
31	-	1.6	
32	1	1.6	
41	1	1.6	
45	1	1.6	
48	1	16	
50	1	16	
58	1	16	
60	1	16	
83	1	16	
120	3	49	
160	1	16	
300	1	1.6	
	*	1.0	

Regression Analysis Summary for Variables Influencing Older Adults' Performance with ePHRs (N = 57)

Variable	В	SE B	β	t	р
Sensoriperceptual Deficits	89	.46	25	-1.95	.06
Age	19	.06	39	-3.02	.004
Education	.37	.32	.15	1.17	.25
Depression Total Score	41	.19	32	-2.14	.04
Loneliness Total Score	.02	.06	.05	.34	.74
Perceived Control	.04	.23	.03	.16	.88
User Experience	06	.14	.14	48	.64

Note: $R^2 = .26 (N = 57, p < .0)$

Chapter Summary

In this chapter, two of the three manuscripts that were produced as part of this presentation were presented. Each manuscript provided data on the research questions and addressed the individual research hypotheses. Results were analyzed and interpreted for each manuscript. The findings in this study were supported with previous research findings. Identified barriers to ePHR use included depression, loneliness, financial strain, lack of devices, unreliable or limited internet access, and lack of knowledge of the benefits of ePHRs. Facilitators to ePHR use included higher completed levels of formal education, user experience, perceived control, ability to communicate, and support.

Chapter 5

Discussion

Introduction

The purpose of this dissertation was to examine the relationship between individual factors of older adults and their use of electronic personal health records (ePHRs). A correlational design format was used to collect and analyze data to respond to each research question. This chapter discusses the findings of this research and addresses the strengths and limitations of the study, possible impact on the discipline of nursing, and suggestions for future research.

Synthesis of the Research

Older adults' healthcare management can be positively impacted through the implementation of information and communication technologies (ICTs) (Rikard et al., 2018). To promote older adults' self-management of their health and be compliant with meaningful use legislation, and to improve patient outcomes, many healthcare organizations are utilizing electronic personal health records (ePHRs) (Nahm et al., 2020). Patients can access their health information and communicate with providers through secure web-based systems that facilitate access to electronic personal health records (Huang et al., 2022). According to Portz et al. (2019), utilization of ePHRs can lead to improved care coordination and communication, and decrease healthcare costs through prevention and early intervention.

Although there are identified benefits to older adults using ePHRs, digital inequality, often referred to as the digital divide, still exists (Rikard et al., 2018). The digital divide is a gap in technology use between older and younger adults, which can be seen in the adoption rates of

ePHRs (Bixter et al., 2019), as older adults lag in ePHR adoption and use compared to younger adults (Portz et al., 2019). Older adults are less likely to be technologically savvy, yet have expressed interest in using ePHRs, and the adoption rate of ePHR use is growing in the older adult population (Abdelrahman et al., 2021).

Potential facilitators and barriers to older adults' ePHR use were found in a systematic review of the literature, which revealed three facilitators and five barriers to older adults' ePHR use (Theisen et al., 2021). Facilitators included improved communication between patient and provider, support for patients who want to utilize ePHRs, and training opportunities to enable navigation of ePHRs. Perceived barriers to ePHR use were a lack of experience, anxiety using technology, privacy and security concerns, physical and mental health deficits, and a lack of personal interaction between the older adult and the healthcare team.

Messaging systems within ePHRs are often the most popular feature for older adults, as ePHRs can improve communication with healthcare providers (Cross et al., 2021). As a result of improved communication, older adults may have more control over their health and have improved self-management of chronic conditions (Grossman et al., 2018). However, some older adults prefer in-person communication and interaction, which creates a barrier to their use of ePHRs for communication (Portz et al., 2019). However, older adults' intent to use ePHRs may be improved through the promotion of the benefits and addressing user interface challenges (Reed et al., 2019).

A gap in older adults' skills and comfort in using web-based applications, such as ePHRs, often exists (Crouch & Gordon, 2019). A lack of computer skills and confidence can contribute to computer anxiety or apprehension (Portz et al., 2019). Physical limitations, such as visual impairments, may hinder older adults' ePHR adoption (Nahm et al., 2021). Design principles

such as font sizes and color combinations may be a barrier to ePHR use in older adults due to visual changes associated with aging (Nahm et al., 2021). Older adults are more likely to use ePHRs if they receive encouragement and are provided with support to learn how to access and use an ePHR (Abdelrahman et al., 2021). In addition, older adult training programs or courses were correlated to higher utilization of ePHRs (Lee et al., 2020). Older adults' ePHR use is influenced by electronic personal health record advocacy from healthcare providers (Hoogenbosch et al., 2018). Older adults had higher ePHR usage rates if they received support from younger family members or friends (Abdelrahman et al., 2021). Healthcare providers can guide older adults' navigation of ePHRs by introducing patients to common, easy-to-use ePHR features and then incorporating ePHR use into care interactions (Cross et al., 2021). Likewise, providing older adults with appropriate training opportunities for using technology and ePHRs can increase their confidence levels (Lee et al., 2020).

Older adults expressed concern about ePHRs online data safety and security (Abdelrahman et al., 2021), and privacy, especially amongst those dealing with depression. (Matthews et al., 2022). Older adults with depression are more likely to use features such as the messaging system to maintain regular communication with their healthcare provider (Matthews et al., 2022). Implementation of privacy and security measures, such as firewalls and password protection, must be ensured to safeguard older adults' privacy and confidentiality (Matthews et al., 2022).

Loneliness among older adults is a common health problem that can be associated with their physical and mental health problems (Byrne et al., 2021). Older adults experiencing loneliness have an increased risk of mortality, as well as dementia, stroke, and physical mobility limitations (Finlay & Kobayashi, 2018). Technology, especially social platforms, can decrease

older adults' feelings of loneliness, leading to improved health outcomes (Byrne et al., 2021). Healthcare providers can aide in reducing older adults' loneliness by integrating screening tools for loneliness and isolation into ePHRs (Perissinotto et al., 2019).

Gaps still exist in the literature regarding older adults' intent to use and performance with ePHR, including factors such as physical limitations or motivations. A majority of research that focuses on older adults' experiences with ePHRs have not investigated the impact that individual factors can have on older adults' use of ePHRs. Specifically, few investigations explore the predictors of ePHR use in the older adult, including the relationship between depression and loneliness. This dissertation adds to the growing body of knowledge in facilitators and barriers to older adults' ePHR use.

Synthesis of the Manuscripts

Contributing factors to older adults' low ePHR adoption rates have been suggested. However, extensive research has not been completed. Therefore, manuscript one, *Facilitators and Barriers to Patient Portal Use in the Older Adult: A Systematic Review of the Literature*, was prepared to address the gaps in the literature. A systematic review was conducted in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) Statement (Moher et al., 2009) to identify factors influencing older adults' use of ePHRs (Theisen et al., 2021).

Research was needed on identifying facilitators and barriers to older adults' ePHR use. One way in which this investigation examined facilitators of ePHRs use, was discussed in the second manuscript, *Factors Affecting Older Adults' Intent to Use Electronic Personal Health Records (ePHRs)*. The relationships between independent variables of depression, loneliness,
perceived control, and user experience and the dependent variable of intent to use ePHRs were studied. The dependent variable of older adults' ability to access and use an ePHR was addressed in manuscript three, *Exploring Influencing Factors for Older Adults' Performance with Electronic Personal Health Records (ePHRs)*. In this manuscript, the relationships between independent variables of depression, loneliness, perceived control, and user experience were examined with the dependent variable of the older adults' ability to use ePHRs. The findings from this dissertation suggest that although the benefits of ePHR use is supported, barriers to older adult's ePHR utilization persist.

The manuscripts reporting on the findings of the study, identified differences in ePHR use between subgroups of older adults. The study found that as older adults age, their computer ownership, experience, and knowledge and usage of ePHRs decreases. Older adult users of ePHRs had higher household incomes, higher education levels, and were younger in age. When using ePHRs, older adults identified the ability to access lab results, review health history and medication, and to communicate with providers as commonly used features. The results are congruent with prior research in regards identification of facilitators and barriers of older adult ePHR use.

Depression and loneliness as influencing factors on older adults' ePHR use were investigated during this study. A higher percentage of older adults with depression participated in the study compared to the general public. Individuals with depression may be drawn to use ePHR systems for communication but are less likely to access an ePHR without perceived control over their health information (Matthews et al., 2022). While depression may be an influencing factor on older adults' ePHR use, depression was only a significant predictor to older adults' performance with ePHR, not with their intent to use ePHRs. In manuscript two and three,

169

loneliness was not a significant predictor to either older adults' performance or intent to use ePHRs.

The regression analysis indicated that user experience and perceived control were significant facilitators of older adults' intent to use ePHRs. Older adults' perceived control is highly correlated with computer ability (Wong et al., 2019), demonstrated by a majority of participants being able to access information from their ePHR. Consistent with prior research findings, older adults who used ePHRs identified user experience as a significant facilitator to ePHR use (Portz et al., 2019).

Implications of the Study

The purpose of conducting research is to generate new knowledge in a discipline. Electronic personal health records can provide solutions to address healthcare barriers faced by older adults. Understanding facilitators and barriers to older adults' intent to use and performance with ePHRs could inform more progress in this area. This dissertation holds the potential to have an impact on nursing practice and policy and can contribute to the growing data on ePHRs.

Nursing Practice

ePHR Design

Differences in ePHR use between older adult subgroups suggest that as age increases, use of ePHRs decreases. Older adults are less likely to adopt ePHRs as they age (Portz et al., 2019). Research suggests that older adults are interested in using ePHRs, though they may not be as comfortable with technology (Son & Nahm, 2019). Physical changes associated with aging, such as visual impairments and decreased mobility, could make navigating ePHRs more difficult

170

(Crouch & Gordon, 2019). In order to increase ePHR usability for older adults, it is recommended is to obtain feedback from older adults when developing ePHRs (Dendere et al., 2019). Simple layouts with clear, large font could be incorporated into ePHRs to improve accessibility for older adults with decreased visual acuity (Son & Nahm, 2019). Another important consideration is to present information using nonmedical descriptions and images (Son & Nahm, 2019) or to include a medical dictionary (Hoogenbosch et al., 2018) to increase older adults' understanding of medical language. Involvement of the end-user of ePHRs during development and implementation addresses unique needs and abilities of the older adult (Nahm et al., 2020). Additionally, conducting evaluation of older adults' perspectives is imperative for future improvements in ePHR usability (Hoogenbosch et al., 2018).

Education and Support

Lack of knowledge and experience with using ePHRs can be a barrier for older adults. In order to address the gap in computer skills, healthcare providers can promote ePHR education and support to older adults (Crouch & Gordon, 2019). Providing education to older adults and their family members about ePHR features can increase ePHR use (Cross et al., 2021; Nahm et al., 2020). Healthcare professionals can further impact older adults' ePHR use by integrating ePHRs into patient care (Hoogenbosch et al., 2018) and by demonstrating proactive uses of technology (Cross et al., 2021). Training programs targeting older adults and caregivers can provide assistance when using ePHRs (Son & Nahm, 2019) and increase ePHR use in vulnerable populations (Grossman et al., 2018). Additionally training programs for providers and other healthcare members on ePHR features such as messaging can positively affect older adult's engagement with ePHRs (Cross et al, 2021). For example, demonstrating screen sharing or how to increase ePHR use by older adults (Cross et al., 2021).

Policy

Increase Internet Access

Financial strain, lack of internet-capable devices, and unreliable or limited internet can be barriers to older adults' ePHR use. Older adults are less likely to use internet resources than younger adults due to affordability devices or internet on a fixed income (Crouch & Gordon, 2019). Disparities seen in access to the internet and usage can be a barrier to ePHR use (Son & Nahm, 2019). Older adults with higher incomes are more likely to own more expensive computer devices and have high-speed internet. Individuals with lower incomes may instead utilize a smartphone(Vogels, 2021). Public health organizations can develop strategies and policies based on this data to increase internet access to vulnerable populations, including the older adult (Son & Nahm, 2021), while electronic personal health record vendors can focus on mobile apps and interfaces to increase the access and usage of ePHRs by older adults. Additionally, healthcare organizations could provide assistance to older adults in obtaining devices or high-speed internet, or assist in identifying public resources such as libraries to gain access (Crouch & Gordon, 2019).

Financial Investment

Federal laws and quality-based payment programs, such as The Medicare and Medicaid Electronic Health Record (HER) Incentive Programs, help to increase ePHR use and electronic communication by patients (Cross et al., 2021). As of January 2021, all CMS-regulated payers are required to implement web-based interfaces that allow patients to easily access their health

information (CMS, 2020). Although initiatives are in place to increase ePHR access and use, a gap in guidance and support is evident (Cross et al., 2021). Ongoing federal initiatives focusing on financial strategies to provide continuing development and integration of ePHR applications that improve self-management could increase ePHR use (Cross et al., 2021). Policy change is also needed to provide financial incentives to ePHR vendors for continuous improvement of ePHRs, and develop features that address more challenging primary care tasks (Cross et al., 2021). Strategies to assist in increasing older adults' self-efficacy in using ePHR can be established to include more social support and interaction with the ePHR (Son & Nahm, 2019). In addition, creating federal-level standards of quality for ePHR development can be a more effective approach to ensure usability (Nahm et al., 2020).

Suggestions for Future Research

More definitive research examining the facilitators and barriers to older adults' ePHR use is needed. Currently, there are still significant differences between older adults and the general adult population in relation to the use of ePHRs. In response to the gap in older and younger adults' ePHR use, future research should focus on older adults in order to better understand the needs and perceived facilitators and barriers for this group. In addition, future research is needed to understand the underlying challenges that are present in the implementation of ePHRs and study the feasibility and readiness of healthcare providers to leverage this tool to support patient care. While facilitators to ePHR use have been identified, more research is needed to determine best strategies for promoting ePHR engagement among older adults. Finally, limited research exists on the impact of depression and loneliness on older adults' ePHR use. Research on the impact of loneliness and depression on older adults' performance with and intent to use ePHRs should be considered.

173

Conclusion

In this chapter, synthesis of the literature was presented, as well as the findings from the three manuscripts associated with this dissertation. Implications for nursing practice and policy were discussed, along with areas for future research. The background of older adults' ePHR use shows the continued need for research into facilitators and barriers to ePHR use. The findings from this study can have great implications on future research in the area of technology and ePHR development and use.

References

Abdelrahman, N. D., Haque, R., Polverento, M. E., Wendling, A., Gotez, C. M., & Arnetz, B. B., (2021). Brain health: Attitudes towards technology adoption in older adults. *Healhtcare*, 9(23), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390.healthcare9010023</u>.

Administration on Aging (AoA). Administration for community living. (2013). A Profile of Older Americans: 2013. Retrieved from

http://www.acl.gov/Data_Outcomes/Index.aspx#Data_and_Statistics.

- Administration on Aging (AoA). 2020 Profile of Older Americans. Retrieved from <u>https://acl.gov/sites/default/files/Aging%20and%20Disability%20in%20America/2020Pr</u> <u>ofileOlderAmericans.Final_.pdf</u>.
- Aggarwal, B., Xiong, Q., & Schroeder-Butterfill, E. (2020). Impact of the use of the internet on quality of life in older adults: Review of literature. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, 21(e55), 1-6. <u>https://doi.10.1017/S146342362000084</u>.
- Andrews, J. A., Brown, L. J., Hawley, M., & Astell, A. J., (2019). Older adults' perspectives on using digital technology to maintain good mental health: Interactive group study. *Journal* of Medical Internet Research, 21(2), e11694. <u>https://doi.10.2196/11694</u>.
- Arcury, T. A., Quandt, S. A., Sandberg, J. C., Miller Jr., D. P., Latulipe, C., Leng, X., ... Bertoni,
 A. G. (2017). Patient portal utilization among ethnically diverse low income older adults:
 Observational study. *JMIR Medical Informatics*, 5(4), 1-25. doi:
 10.2196/medinform.8026.

Averill, J. R. (1973). Personal control over aversive stimuli and its relationship to stress. *Psychological Bulletin, 4*, 286-303.

- Benbaunan-Fich, R. (2001). Using protocol analysis to evaluate the usability of a commercial website. *Information & Management*, *39*, 151-163. doi: 10.1016/S0378-7206(01)00085-4.
- Berg, T., Winterton, R., Petersen, M., & Warburton, J. (2017). 'Although we're isolated, we're not really isolated': The value of information and communication technology for older people in rural Australia. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 36(4), 313-317. <u>https://doi.10.111/ajag.12449</u>.
- Bixter, M., T., Blocker, K. A., Mitzner, T. L., Prakash, A., & Rogers, W. A. (2019).
 Understanding the use and non-use of social communication technologies by older adults:
 A qualitative test and extension of the UTAUT model. *Gerontechnology*, *19*(2), 70-88.
 http://doi.10.4017/gt.2019.19.2.002.00.
- Bowles, K. H., Dykes, P., & Demiris, G. (2015). The use of health information technology to improve care and outcomes for older adults. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 8(1), 5-10. doi: 10.3928/19404921-21021222-01.
- Britannica, T. Editors of Encyclopaedia. (n.d.). *Technology. Encyclopedia Britannica*. <u>https://www.britannica.com/technology/technology</u>.
- Byrne, K. A., Ghajumy Anaraky, R., Dye, C., Ross, L. A., Madathil, K. C., Knijnenburg, B., & Levkoff, S. (2021). Examining rural and racial disparities in the relationship between loneliness and social technology use among older adults. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 9, 1-12. <u>https://doi.10.3389/fpubh.2021.723925</u>.

- Caboral-Stevens, M. (2015). *Theory development and pilot testing of a new survey instrument on usability by older adults* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from CUNY Academic Works.
- Caboral-Stevens, M., Whetsell, M. V., Evangelista, L. S., Cypress, B., & Nickitas, D. (2015).
 U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. framework for older adults. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 8(6), 300-306.
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Patrick, W. (2008). Loneliness: Human nature and the need for social connection. (First edition.). W.W. Norton.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2021). Depression is not a normal part of growing older. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/aging/depression/index.html</u>.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2017). Chronic diseases: The leading causes of death and disability in the United States. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/overview/index.htm</u>.
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). (2020). Interoperability and patient access fact sheet. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/interoperability-and-patient-access-fact-sheet</u>.
- Chaffin, A. J., & Harlow, S. D. (2005). Cognitive learning applied to older adult learners and technology. *Educational Gerontology*, *31*, 301-329.

- Chaudhry, B., Want, J., Wu, S., Maglione, M., Mojica, W., Roth, E., ... Shekell, P. G. (2006). Systematic review: Impact of health information technology on quality, efficiency, and costs of medical care. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 144, 742-752.
- Chipps, J., Jarvis, M.A., & Ramlall, S. (2017). The effectiveness of e-Interventions on reducing social isolation in older persons: A systematic review of systematic reviews. *Jouranl of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 23(10), 817-827. doi. 10.1177/1357633XI77337773.

CITI Program. (n. d.). Human subjects research (HSR). Retrieved from <u>https://about.citiprogram.org/en/series/human-subjects-research-hsr/</u>.

- Cotterell, N., Buffel, T., & Phillipson, C. (2018). Preventing social isolation in older people. *Maturitas, 113*, 80-84.
- Cross, D. A., Levin, Z., & Raj, M. (2021). Patient portal use, perceptions of electronic health record value, and self-rated primary care quality among older adults: Cross-sectional survey. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(5), e22549. https://doi.org/10.2196/22549.
- Crouch, E., & Gordon, N. P. (2019). Prevalence and factors influencing use of internet and electronic health resources by middle-aged and older adults in a US health plan population: Cross-sectional survey study. *JMIR Aging*, 2(1), e11451.
- Czaja, S. (2015). Can technology empower older adults to manage their health? *Journal of the American Society on Aging, 39*, 46-51.
- Czaja, S. J., Charness, N., Fisk, A. S., Hertzog, C., Nair, S. N., Rogers, W. A., & Sharit, J.(2006). Factors predicting the use of technology: Findings from the Center for Research

and Education on Aging and Technology Enhancement (CREATE). *Psychology and Aging*, *21*(2), 333-352.

- Davis, F.D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. *MIS Quarterly*, *13*(3), 319-340.
- Davis, C., Bender, M., Smith, T., & Broad, J. (2015). Feasibility and acute care utilization outcomes of a post-acute transitional telemonitoring program for underserved chronic disease patients. *Telehealth and e-Health*, 21(9), 705-713.
- Dendere, R., Slade, C., Burton-Jones, A., Sullivan, C., Staib., A., & Janda, M. (2019). Patient portals facilitating engagement with inpatient electronic medical records: A systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *21*(4), e127779.
- Depatie, A., & Bigbee, J. L. (2015). Rural older adult readiness to adopt mobile health technology: A descriptive study. Online Journal of Rural Nursing and Health Care, 15, 150-184.
- Domènech-Abella, J., Lara, E., Rubio-Valera, M., Olaya, B., Moneta, M., Rico-Uribe, L. A., Ayuso-Mateos, J. L., Mundó, J., & Haro, J. M. (2017). Loneliness and depression in the elderly: The role of social network. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 52, 381-390. <u>https://doi.10.1007/s00127-017-1339-3</u>.
- Fang, M. L., Canham, S. L., Battersby, L., Sixsmith, J., Wada, M., & Sixsmith, A. (2019). Exploring privilege in the digital divide: Implications for theory, policy, and practice. *The Gerontologist*, 59(1), e1-e15. <u>https://doi.10.1093/geront/gny037</u>.

- Finlay, J. M., & Kobayashi, L. C. (2018). Social isolation and loneliness in later life: A parallel convergent mixed-methods case study of older adults and their residential contexts in the Minneapolis metropolitan area, USA. *Social Science & Medicine*, 208, 25-33.
- Gray, J. R., Grove, S. K., & Sutherland, S. (2017). Burns and Groves the practice of nursing research: Appraisal, synthesis, and generation of evidence (8th ed.). St. Louis, MO: Elsevier.
- Gordon, N. P., & Hornbrook, M. C. (2016). Differences in access to and preferences for using patient portals and other eHealth technologies based on race, ethnicity, and age: A database and survey study of seniors in a large health plan. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(3), e50. doi: 10.2196/jmir.5015.
- Grossman, T., Fitzmaurice, G., & Attar, R. (2009). A survey of software learnability: Metrics, methodologies and guidelines. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 649-658.
- Grossman, L. V., Masterson Creber, R. M., Benda, N. C., Wright, D., Vawdrey, D. K., & Ancker, J. S. (2018). Interventions to increase patient portal use in vulnerable populations: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association, 26*(8-9), 855-870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocz023</u>.
- Haase, K. R., Cosco, T., Kerin, L., Riadi, I., & O'Donnell, M. E. (2021). Older adults' experiences with using technology for socialization during the COVID-19 pandemic: Cross-sectional survey study. *JMIR Aging*, 4(2), e28010. <u>https://doi.10.2196/28010</u>.
- Hassenzhal, M., & Tractinsky, N. (2006). User experience: A research agenda. *Behavior & Information Technology*, 25, 91-97. doi: 10.1080/01449290500330331.

- HealthIT.gov. (2016). Health IT legislation. Retrieved from <u>https://www.healthit.gov/policy-</u> researchers-implementers/health-it-legislation.
- Hoogenbosch, B., Postma, J., de Man-van Ginkel, J. M., Tiemessen, N., van Delden, J., & van Os-Medendorp, H. (2018). Use and the users of a patient portal: Cross-sectional study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(9), e262.
- Huang, M., Khurana, A., Mastorakos, G., Wen, A., He, H., Wang, L., Liu, S., Wang, Y., Zong, N., Prigge, J., Costello, B., Shah, N., Ting, H., Fan, J., Patten, C., & Liu, H. (2022).
 Patient portal messaging for asynchronous virtual care during the COVID-19 pandemic: Retrospective analysis. *JMIR Human Factors*, 9(2), e35187.
- Hülür, G., & Macdonald, B. (2020). Rethinking social relationships in old age: Digitalization and the social lives of older adults. *American Psychologist*, 74(4), 554-566. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/amp0000604</u>.
- Izadi-Avanji, F. S., Rahemi, Z., Adib-Hajbaghery, M., & Yazdani-Darki, M. (2022). Factors influencing use of technology in older adults' daily life. *International Archives of Health Sciences*, 8, 190-195. <u>https://doi.10.4103/iahs.iahs_14_21</u>.
- Jaana, M., & Paré, G. (2020). Comparison of mobile health technology use for self-tracking between older adults and the general adult population in Canada: Cross-sectional survey. *JMIR Mhealth and Uhealth*, 8(11), e24718. <u>https://doi.10.2196/24718</u>.
- Kemperman, A., van den Berg, P., Weijs-Perrée, M., & Uijtdewillegen, K. (2019). Loneliness of older adults: Social network and the living environment. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(406), 1-16.

- Knapova, L., Klocek, A., & Elavsky, S. (2020). The role of psychological factors in older adults' readiness to use eHealth technology: Cross-sectional questionnaire study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(5), 1-12. <u>http://www.jmir.org/2020/5/e14670/</u>.
- Kruse, C. S., Argueta, D. A., Lopez, L., & Nair, A. (2015). Patient and provider attitudes toward the use of patient portals for the management of chronic disease: A systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *17*(2), 1-12. doi: 10.2196/jmir.3703.
- Lee, O.E., Kim, D. & Beum, K. (2020). Factors affecting information and communication technology use and eHealth literacy among older adults in the US and South Korea. *Educational Gerontology*, 46(9), 575-586.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10601277.2020.1790162.

- Lee, L., & Maher, M. (2021). Factors affecting the initial engagement of older adults in the use of interactive technology. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18, 2847. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/journal/ijerph</u>.
- Machado, A., Lima, F., Cavalcante, T., de Araujo, T., & Vieira, N. (2014). Instruments of health literacy used in nursing studies with hypertensive elderly. *Revista guacha de Enfermagem*, 35(4), 101-107.
- Matthews, E. B., Savoy, M., Paranjape, A., Washington, D., Hackney, T., Galis, D., & Zisman-Ilani, Y. (2022). Acceptability of health information exchange and patient portal use in depression care among underrepresented patients. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-022-07427-2</u>.
- Meleis, A. I. (2012). *Theoretical nursing: Development & progress* (5th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer Health.

- Mitchell, U. A., Chebli, P. G., Ruggiero, L., & Muramatsu, N. (2019). The digital divide in health-related technology use: The significance of race/ethnicity. *The Gerontologist*, 59(1), 6-14. <u>https://doi.10.1093/geront/gny138</u>.
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. *PloS Med 6*(7), e1000097. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed1000097</u>.
- Moore, B. (2014). Costs for hospital stays in the United States, 2012. Retrieved from <u>https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb181-Hospital-Costs-United-States-</u> <u>2012.jsp</u>.
- Morris, S. A., & Marshall, T. E. (2004). Perceived control in information systems. *Journal of Organizational and End User Computing*, *16*(2), 38-56.
- Nahm, E., Zhu, S., Bellantoni, M., Keldsen, L., Charters, K., Russomanno, V., Rietschel, M., Son, H., & Smith, L. (2020). Patient portal use among older adults: What is really happening nationwide? *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *39*(4), 442-450. https:///doi.org/1177/0733464818776125.
- National Poll on Healthy Aging. (2018). Logging in: Using patient portals to access health information. Retrieved from <u>https://www.healthyagingpoll.org/reports-</u> <u>more/report/logging-using-patient-portals-access-health-information</u>.
- National Poll on Healthy Aging. (2019). Virtual Visits: Telehealth and Older Adults. Retrieved from <u>https://www.healthyagingpoll.org/reports-more/report/virtual-visits-telehealth-and-older-adults</u>.

- Neuman, T., & Cubanski, J. (2015). Analysis of Medicare spending by age for beneficiaries in traditional Medicare. Retrieved from <u>https://www.kff.org/medicare/report/the-rising-cost-of-living-longer-analysis-of-medicare-spending-by-age-for-beneficiaries-in-traditional-medicare/</u>.
- Nolte, S., & Osborne, R. H. (2013). A systematic review of outcomes of chronic disease selfmanagement interventions. *Quality of Life Research*, 22(7), 1805-1816. doi: 10.1007/s11136-012-0302-8.
- Ong, A.D., Uchino, B.N., & Wethington, E. (2016). Loneliness and health in older adults: A mini-review and synthesis. *Gerontology* 62(4), 443-449. doi: 10.1159/000441651.
- Orthopaedic Healthcare Solutions. (2017). Helping older patients use their personal health records. Retrieved from <u>http://www.excribe.com/orthopedic-e-news/helping-older-patients-use-personal-health-records</u>.
- Pallant, J. (2016). SPSS survival manual: A step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS. McGraw-Hill Education.
- Patomella, A., Kottorp, A., Malinowsky, C., & Nygård, L. (2011). Factors that impact the level of difficulty of everyday technology in a sample of older adults with and without cognitive impairment. *Technology and Disability*, 23, 243-250. doi: 10.3233/TAD-2011-0331.
- Perissinotto, C., Holt-Lunstad, J., Periyakoil, V. S., & Covinsky, K. (2019). A practical approach to assessing and mitigating loneliness and isolation in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67(4), 567-662.

- Pew Research Center. (2017). Tech adoption climbs among older adults. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2017/05/17/tech-adoption-climbs-among-older-adults/.
- Pew Research Center. (2014). Older adults and technology use. Retrieved from http://www.pewinternet.org/2014/04/03/older-adults-and-technology-use/.
- Portz, J. D., Bayliss, E. A., Bull, S., Boxer, R. S., Bekelman, D. B., Gleason, K., & Czaja, S. (2019). Using the technology acceptance model to explore user experience, intent to use, and use behavior of a patient portal among older adults with multiple chronic conditions: Descriptive qualitative study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(4), 1-12. https://www.jmir.org/2019/4/e11604/.
- Poscia, A., Stojanovic, J., Ignazio La Milia, D., Duplaga, M., Grysztar, M., Moscato, U., ...
 Magnavita, N. (2017). Interventions targeting loneliness and social isolation among the older people: An update systematic review. *Experimental Gerontology*, *102*, 133-144.
- Price-Haywood, E. G., Harden-Barrios, J., Ulep, R., & Luo, Q. (2017). eHealth literacy: Patient engagement in identifying strategies to encourage use of patient portals among older adults. *Population Health Management*, 20(6), 486-494. doi: 10.1089/pop.2016.0164.
- Punnoose, A. C. (2012). Determinants of intention to use eLearning based on the Technology Acceptance Model. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, 11, 301-337.
- Ramsden Marston, H., Genoe, R., Freeman, S., Kulczycki, C., & Musselwhite, C. (2019). Older adults perceptions of ICT: Main findings from the Technology in Later Life (TILL) study. *Healthcare*, 7(86). <u>http://doi.10.3390/healthcare7030086</u>.

- Reed, M. E., Huang, J., Brand, R. J., Neugebauer, R., Graetz, I., Hsu, J., Ballard, D. W., & Grant, R. (2019). Patients with complex chronic conditions: Health care use and clinical events associated with access to a patient portal. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(6), e0217636.
- Rikard, R. V., Berkowsky, R. W., & Cotton, S. R. (2018). Discontinued ICT usage among older adults in continuing care retirement communities in the United States. *Gerontology*, 64(2), 188-200. <u>http://doi.10.1159/000482017</u>.
- Rodrigues, N. G., Han, C., Su, Y., Klainin-Yobas, P., & Wu, X. V. (2021). Psychological impacts and online interventions of social isolation amongst older adults during COVID-19 pandemic: A scoping review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 78(3), 609-644.
 <u>https://doi.10.111/jan.15063</u>.
- Rosenberg, L., Kottorp, A., Winblad, B., & Nygård, L. (2009). Perceived difficulty in everyday technology use among older adults with or without cognitive deficits. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *16*, 216-226.
- Russell, D. (1996). UCLA Loneliness Scale (Version 3): Reliability, validity, and factor structure. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 66, 20-40.
- Sands, D. Z., & Wald, J. S. (2014). Transforming health care delivery through consumer engagement, health data transparency, and patient-generated health information. *Yearbook of Medical Informatics*, 9, 170-176. doi. 10.15265/IY-2014-0017.
- Scheck McAlearney, A. S., Sieck, C. J., Hefner, J. L., Aldrich, A. M., Walker, D. M., Rizer, M. K., ... Huerta, T. R. (2016). High touch and high tech (HT2) proposal: Transforming patient engagement throughout the continuum of care by engaging patients with portal

technology at the bedside. *JMIR Research Protocols*, 5(4), e221. Doi: 10.2196/resprot.6355.

- Sheikh, J.I., & Yesavage, J.A. (1986). Geriatric depression scale (GDS). Recent evidence and development of a shorter version. In T.L. Brink (Ed.), *Clinical Gerontology: A Guide to Assessment and Intervention* (165-173). NY: The Haworth Press, Inc.
- Shelton, J. (2018). Depression definition and DSM-5 diagnostic criteria. Retrieved from https://www.psycom.net/depression-definition-dsm-5-diagnostic-criteria/.
- Son, H., & Nahm, E. (2019). Older adults' experience using patient portals in communities: Challenges and opportunities. *Computers, Informatics, Nursing, 31*(1), 4-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CIN.000000000000476</u>.
- Theisen, J. L., Snethen, J. A., Gwon, S. H., Ellis, J. L., & Sapp, M. (2021). Facilitators and barriers to patient portal use in the older adult: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Informatics Nursing*, 6(3), 23-34.
- Thompson, H. J., Dermiris, G., Rue, T., Shatil, E., Wilmowska, K., Zaslavsky, O., & Reeder, B.
 (2011). Brief communications: A holistic approach to assess older adults' wellness using e-Health technologies. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 17(10), 794-800.
- Turner, A. M., Osterhage, K., Hartzler, A., Joe, J., Lin, L., Kanagat, N., & Demiris, G. (2015). Use of patient portals for personal health information management: The older adult perspective. AMIA 2015: Annual Symposium Proceedings, 1234-1241.
- UNESCO. (2021). Information and communication technologies (ICT). Retrieved from http://uis.unesco.org/en/glossary-term/information-and-communication-technologies-ict.

- Vaportzis, E., Giatsi Clausen, M., & Gow, A. J. (2018). Older adults experiences of learning to use tablet computers: A mixed methods study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 1-12. <u>https://doi.10.3389/psyg.2018.01631</u>.
- Vogels, E. (2021). Digital divide persists even as Americans with lower incomes make gains in tech adoption. Retrieved from <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/06/22/digitaldivide-persists-even-as-americans-with-lower-incomes-make-gains-in-tech-adoption/</u>.
- Walker, D. M., Hefner, J. L., Fareed, N., Huerta, T. R., & Scheck McAlearney, A. (2020).
 Exploring the digital divide: Age and race disparities in use of an inpatient portal. *Telemedicine and e-HEALTH*, 26(5), 603-613. <u>https://doi.10.1089/tmj.2019.0065</u>.
- Wildenbos, G. A., Peute, L., & Jaspers, M. (2017). Facilitators and barriers of electronic health record patient portal adoption by older adults: A literature study. In R. Randell et al. (Eds.), *Informatics for health: Connected citizen-led wellness and population health*. Doi: 10.3233/978-1-61499-753-5-308.
- Wong, J. I. S., Steitz, B. D., & Rosenbloom, S. T. (2019). Characterizing the impact of health literacy, computer ability, patient demographics, and portal usage on patient satisfaction with a patient portal. *JAMIA Open*, 2(4), 456-464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/jamiaopen/ooz058</u>.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2017). Mental health of older adults. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-of-older-adults.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2015). Definition of an older adult or elderly person:
 Proposed working definition of an older person in Africa for the MDS project. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/ageingdefnolder/en/.

- Yoon, H., Jang, Y., Vaughan, P. W., & Garcia, M. (2020). Older adults' internet use for health information: Digital divide by race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 39(1), 105-110. <u>https://doi.10.1177/0733464818770772</u>.
- Zettel-Watson, L., & Tsukerman, D. (2014). Adoption of online health management tools among healthy older adults: An exploratory study. *Health Informatics Journal*, 22(2) 171-183.

Appendices

Appendix A

Demographic Questionnaire

Instructions: Answer all questions to the best of your ability. Either fill in the appropriate blank or fill in the circle next to the best choice.

- 1. Age: _____
- 2. Gender:
 - Male
 - Female
 - Other (please specify)
 - Prefer not to say
- 3. Race/Ethnicity: Select all that apply
 - o White
 - Hispanic or Latino
 - Black or African American
 - Native American or American Indian
 - Asian/Pacific Islander
 - Other
- 4. What is the highest degree or level of school you have completed? If you are currently enrolled in school, please indicate the highest degree you have received.
 - Less than a high school diploma
 - High school degree or equivalent
 - Bachelor's degree (e.g. BA, BS)
 - Master's degree (e.g. MA, MS, MEd)
 - Doctorate (e.g. PhD, EdD)
 - Other (please specify) ______
- 5. What is your household income?
 - o Below \$10k
 - o \$10k \$50k
 - o \$50k \$100k
 - o \$100k \$150k
 - Over \$150 k
- 6. Have you ever been told by a provider that you have any of the following chronic conditions?
 - Diabetes

- o Asthma
- Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)
- Heart failure
- Kidney dialysis
- Kidney disease
- Hypertension (high blood pressure)
- High cholesterol
- Lung disease
- o Arthritis
- Osteoporosis
- \circ Depression
- Alzheimer's Disease
- Cancer
- Other: _
- 7. How long have you had a computer?
 - I don't own a computer
 - I have owned a computer for 0-6 months
 - I have owned a computer for 6-12 months
 - I have owned a computer for 1-5 years
 - I have owned a computer for greater than 5 years
- 8. What previous experience have you had with using computers?
 - I have no experience using a computer
 - I have less than 3 months of experience using a computer
 - I have 3-6 months of experience using a computer
 - I have 6-12 months of experience using a computer
 - I have 1-5 years of experience using a computer
 - I have greater than 5 years of experience using a computer
- 9. How would you consider your experience with computer use?
 - Beginner
 - Intermediate
 - o Expert
- 10. Approximately how many hours per day on average do you use a computer?
 - I don't use a computer
 - I use a computer 0-2 hours per day on average
 - I use a computer 2-5 hours per day on average
 - I use a computer 5-8 hours per day on average
 - I use a computer more than 8 hours per day on average
- 11. Have you heard about electronic personal health records?
 - o I have never heard about electronic personal health records
 - I have heard about electronic personal health records, but I don't understand what they are

- I have heard about electronic personal health records, and I understand what they are
- I have heard about electronic personal health records, and I understand and use one for my health needs
- 12. How did you find out about electronic personal health records?
 - o I have never heard about electronic personal health records
 - From a provider
 - From a nurse
 - From other medical staff
 - From family/friends
 - From the internet
 - Other: _____
- 13. Have you ever received help to learn how to use an electronic personal health record?
 - I have never received help to learn how to use an electronic personal health record
 - I have received minimal help to learn how to use an electronic personal health record
 - I have received a moderate amount of help to learn how to use an electronic personal health record
 - I have received a significant amount of help to learn how to use an electronic personal health record
- 14. Where did you receive help to learn how to use an electronic personal health record?
 - I have never received help to learn how to use an electronic personal health record
 - From a provider
 - From a nurse
 - From other medical staff
 - From family/friends
 - Training program/course
 - From the internet
 - Other: ____

15. How long have you had an electronic personal health record?

- I don't have an electronic personal health record
- I have had my electronic personal health record for less than 3 months
- I have had my electronic personal health record for 3-6 months
- I have had my electronic personal health record for 6-12 months
- I have had my electronic personal health record for 1-5 years
- I have had my electronic personal health record for greater than 5 years
- 16. What previous experience have you had using an electronic personal health record?
 - I have no experience using an electronic personal health record
 - I have less than 3 months experience using my electronic personal health record
 - o I have 3-6 months experience using my electronic personal health record
 - I have 6-12 months experience using my electronic personal health record

- I have 1-5 years experience using my electronic personal health record
- I have greater than 5 years experience using my electronic personal health record
- 17. Have you used any features in an electronic personal health record? Select all that apply.
 - o I have not used any features in an electronic personal health record
 - I have logged into my electronic personal health record
 - I send and/or receive messages with my health care team in my electronic personal health record
 - I schedule medical appointments (i.e. clinic visits, lab visits) in my electronic personal health record
 - I look up my laboratory values in my electronic personal health record
 - I pay medical bills online in my electronic personal health record
 - I review my medications and/or my health history in my electronic personal health record
 - I request prescription refills in my electronic personal health record
 - Other (please specify):
- 18. Have you ever been told by a provider that you have a current and/or past hearing impairment?
 - o Yes
 - o No
- 19. Have you ever been told by a provider that you have a current and/or past visual impairment?
 - o Yes
 - o No
- 20. Do you use corrective eyeglasses?
 - o Yes
 - o No
- 21. Do you use corrective contact lenses?
 - Yes
 - o No
- 22. Do you use hearing aids?
 - Yes
 - o No
- 23. Do you use any other assistive devices to help your vision?
 - o Yes
 - o No
 - What type: _____
- 24. Do you use any other assistive devices to help your hearing?
 - o Yes
 - o No

• What type: _____

Appendix B

Variable Type	Variable Name	Adapted U.S.A.B.I.I.T.Y. Survey Items
Independent	Perceived control	 The electronic personal health record gave me a feeling of control over my health. I know what information I need and can access from the electronic personal health record. The information I received makes me feel in control.
Dependent	Intent to use	 I will change my habits because of the electronic personal health record. I will continue with what I am doing with my health. I plan to use electronic personal health records in the future.
Independent	User experience	 An electronic personal health record is exactly what I need. I am satisfied with the overall appearance of the electronic personal health record. I am satisfied with the audio of the electronic personal health record. I can successfully use the electronic personal health record. I would recommend an electronic personal health record to a friend. The electronic personal health record is pleasant to use.

Adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©] Item Measures of Variables

Appendix C

Dr. Caboral-Stevens,

I am following up on a previous email that I had sent regarding use of your developed U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey. I am a nursing doctoral student, and finishing up my dissertation. I had contacted you earlier in my process to obtain permission to use your framework and survey, which you granted. I can forward you any previous messaging we have had if that would be helpful. Due to time constraints among other things that have come up during my research, I am not able to measure each variable in your framework. I was wondering if I could use the subsets on the survey you have developed to help measure the select concepts I am measuring for my study. Basically, I am hoping to use some but not all of the questions, as I won't be measuring them all. Looking forward to your response. Thank you so much for your assistance thus far.

Hi Janelle

That should be ok. You just have to interpret each subscale and discuss them separately. If you do that you should be ok

Best

Meriam

Dr. Caboral-Stevens,

My name is Janelle Theisen, and I am a doctoral student in nursing at the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee. I had contacted you a while ago about using the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey for my dissertation study. I am researching facilitators and barriers to older adults using patient portals. From our initial conversation, you had agreed to let me use the survey. I am asking if you would be ok with me modifying the instructions and the visual scale to look like a 5-point Likert-type scale? Also, would it be possible for me to modify and/or add to the observer questions?

Janelle Theisen

Hi Janelle

Thank you for asking. Yes you may modify the scale and you may add the observer questions. Good luck on your studies.

Best regards,

Meriam

Dr. Caboral-Stevens,

My name is Janelle Theisen, and I am a nursing faculty member at the University of Northwestern in St. Paul, Minnesota. I am also a PhD student at the College of Nursing at the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee. My dissertation study is utilizing the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. framework as a theoretical model, and I would like to use the surveys for perceived control and user experience that you incorporated in your research. I am writing to you to ask your permission, and to receive a copy of the survey instrument. I would appreciate your response.

Janelle Theisen

Hi Janelle,

I am sorry for the late response. I am currently in the process of moving to a new house plus so everything is chaotic on my end.

But regarding the use of the U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Theory, you absolutely have my permission to use it and the instrument as well. I will have to send you a copy of the USABILITY instrument shortly. I will have to locate the memory stick that is was on or I have to look into my boxes for a clean copy, and send it to you. Could you please send me an email reminder if I do not send you the instrument by next week. Thank you for your consideration.

Thank you for your interest in using my theory. Please let me know if there is anything else I can do to assist you.

Best,

Meriam

Appendix D

Variable	Original U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey Item	Adapted U.S.A.B.I.I.T.Y. Survey Item
User experience	Item 14	Item 1
	Item 15	Item 2
	Item 16	Item 3
	Item 17	Item 4
	Item 18	Item 5
	Item 19	Item 6
Intent to use	Item 20	Item 7
	Item 21	Item 8
	Item 22	Item 9
Perceived control	Item 23	Item 10
	Item 24	Item 11
	Item 25	Item 12

Correlation of Original and Adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey Items

Appendix E

Geriatric Depression Scale: Short Form

Statement	Yes	No	Score
1. Are you basically satisfied with your life?	Yes	No	+
2. Have you dropped many of your activities and interests?	Yes	No	
3. Do you feel that your life is empty?	Yes	No	
4. Do you often get bored?	Yes	No	
5. Are you in good spirits most of the time?	Yes	No	
6. Are you afraid that something bad is going to happen to you?	Yes	No	
7. Do you feel happy most of the time?	Yes	No	
8. Do you often feel helpless?	Yes	No	
9. Do you prefer to stay at home, rather than going out and doing new things?	Yes	No	
10. Do you feel you have more problems with memory than most?	Yes	No	
11. Do you think it is wonderful to be alive now?	Yes	No	
12. Do you feel pretty worthless the way you are now?	Yes	No	
13. Do you feel full of energy?	Yes	No	
14. Do you feel that your situation is hopeless?	Yes	No	
15. Do you think that most people are better off than you are?	Yes	No	
Total Score			1

A score of \geq 5 suggests depression

(Russell, 1996)

Appendix F

UCLA Loneliness Scale Version 3

Statement	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	
*1. How often do you feel that you are "in tune" with the people around you?	1	2	3	4	
2. How often do you feel that you lack companionship?	1	2	3	4	
3. How often do you feel that there is no one you can turn to?	1	2	3	4	
4. How often do you feel alone?	1	2	3	4	
*5. How often do you feel part of a group of friends?	1	2	3	4	
*6. How often do you feel that you have a lot in common with the people around you?	1	2	3	4	
7. How often do you feel that you are no longer close to anyone?	1	2	3	4	
8. How often do you feel that your interest and ideas are not shared by those around you?	1	2	3	4	
*9. How often do you feel outgoing and friendly?	1	2	3	4	
*10. How often do you feel close to people?	1	2	3	4	
11. How often do you feel left out?	1	2	3	4	
12. How often do you feel that you relationships with others are not meaningful?	1	2	3	4	
13. How often do you feel that no one really knows you well?	1	2	3	4	
14. How often do you feel isolated from others?	1	2	3	4	
*15. How often do you feel you can find companionship when you want it?	1	2	3	4	

*16. How often do you feel that there are people	1	2	3	4
who really understand you?				
17. How often do you feel shy?	1	2	3	4
18. How often do you feel that there are people around you but not with you?	1	2	3	4
*19. How often do you feel that there are people you can talk to?	1	2	3	4
*20. How often do you feel that there are people you can turn to?	1	2	3	4

Scoring:

The items with an asterisk are reverse scored. Keep scoring on a continuous basis.

(Russell, 1996)

Appendix G

Ms. Theisen,

I left you a voicemail at your office number listed in your email that yes Twin Cities Physicians would be interested in this. Let me know what else you need from us and what time frame. Thank you.

Chad Werth RN BSN Nurse Liaison/Manager

Twin Cities Physicians, PC.

Good morning Chad. I wanted to give you an update as to where I am with my dissertation. As we had previously discussed, I am PhD student looking at facilitators and barriers to patient portal use in the older adult. Our last conversation was about access to a test account through your organization. My proposal was approved and I am almost ready to submit to IRB. Would you be able to get me access to the test account so I can verify my documents are correct before I submit? Once I have IRB approval, I will send you the approval letter, and I should be able to start my data collection this summer.

Janelle,

Thank you yes I was and we use a 2 factor authentication process for our portal and if you have any questions regarding it feel free to contact me. It should be set up today or tomorrow. Thank you

Chad Werth RN BSN Nurse Liaison/Manager

Twin Cities Physicians, PC.

Appendix H

Observation Checklist

Task	Time to Complete	Independent	Minimal Assistance	Moderate Assistance	Significant Assistance	Unable to Perform	Comments
Log into the electronic personal health record		5	4	3	2	1	
Send message		5	4	3	2	1	
Read notes or messages		5	4	3	2	1	
Look up lab values		5	4	3	2	1	
Review medications		5	4	3	2	1	
Log out of the electronic personal health record		5	4	3	2	2	
Appendix I

University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee Informed Consent to Participate in Research

Study title: Examining Facilitators and Barriers to Electronic Personal Health Record Use in Older Adults

Researcher[s]: Julia Snethen, PhD, RN (PI); Janelle Theisen, MAN, BSN

What is the purpose of this study?

We are interested in examining what promotes and what limits older adults using an electronic personal health record. An electronic personal health record is an online website where patients can access their personal health information, such as medications and laboratory results, or to communicate with their providers. We would like to have a great understanding of what factors impact the older adult's decision to use electronic personal health records.

What will I do?

You will be administered four surveys asking questions about hearing and visual deficits, depression, loneliness, and usability of electronic personal health records. I will be asking you the questions either over the phone, video conferencing such as Zoom, or in-person if it is permitted. I will be documenting your responses on the survey for you. No names or other information that can identify you will be included on the surveys. You are not required to answer any questions that you are uncomfortable with. The survey will take about 40-55 minutes. Surveys will be conducted either over the phone or by video conferencing. If social distancing and health risks have subsided enough to allow for in-person data collection, face-to-face interactions may be used instead of telephone or video conferencing. If you have video conferencing capability or if in-person observation is possible, you will be asked to perform basic tasks within a fake electronic personal health record, such as finding lab results and sending a message to a provider. The task observation should take about 10-15 minutes.

Risks

• Some questions may be personal or upsetting. You can skip them or quit the survey at any time. There is a small potential for a breach of confidentiality of data, but your name will not be attached to the data.

Possible benefits: There are no direct benefits to you for participating in this study. Participation in this study will aid the academic and research communities to gain a greater understanding of how easy or difficult it is to use an electronic personal health record, as well as the overall experience that older adults have with using an electronic personal health record. In addition, it will provide information on how well older adults are able to use features within an electronic personal health record, such as sending a message to a provider.

Estimated number of participants: 242 older adults

How long will it take? The total time to complete the study should be around 1 hour.

Costs: None

Compensation: None

Future research: Your data won't be used or shared for any future research studies.

Confidentiality and Data Security

All information collected during the course of this study will be kept confidential to the extent permitted by law. This means that no information that can identify you will be included on the surveys or during observation. Your name will not appear anywhere and no one will know about your specific answers. We may decide to present what we find to others, or publish our results in scientific journals or at scientific conferences in aggregate form only. Only the primary researcher and research dissertation committee members, including biostatisticians will have access to the de-identified information. However, the Institutional Review Board at UW-Milwaukee or appropriate federal agencies like the Office for Human Research Protections may review our records. Data will be stored in an encrypted, password-protected computer. Video conferencing will be recorded. Participants will be instructed to log into Zoom, the video conferencing software, using an assigned participant ID number, instead of names. In addition, the Zoom recording will be set up to screen share only, so your face will not be visible. This is to ensure that no identifying information is attached to the video recording.

Where will data be stored? All data will be stored in encrypted, password-protected computers of primary investigator.

How long will it be kept? Data will be kept up to 3 years after collection and then deleted. Video recordings will be reviewed for up to 10 minutes following data collection. Video conferencing will be recorded to a password-protected computer. The video will be reviewed for up to 10 minutes immediately following the survey and/or task performance. The recording will be used to verify participant responses, and then permanently deleted.

Who can see my data?

- We (the researchers) will have access to de-identified data collected from surveys and video observation recordings. This is so we can analyze the data and conduct the study.
- Agencies that enforce legal and ethical guidelines, such as
 - The Institutional Review Board (IRB) at UWM
 - The Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP)
- We may share our findings in publications or presentations. If we do, the results will be aggregated or group data, with no individual results.

Questions about the research, complaints, or problems: Contact Julia Snethen, PhD, RN at <u>julia@uwm.edu</u> or 414-229-5505 or Janelle Theisen, MAN, RN at <u>theise24@uwm.edu</u> or 651-235-6436.

Questions about your rights as a research participant, complaints, or problems: Contact the UWM IRB (Institutional Review Board) at 414-612-3544 / <u>irbinfo@uwm.edu.</u>

Please print or save this screen if you want to be able to access the information later. IRB # 20.014 IRB Approval Date: November 11, 2020

Agreement to Participate

Your participation is completely voluntary, and you can withdraw at any time. To take this survey, you must be:

- 65 years or older
- Able to speak and read English
- Willing to participate
- Have telephone access

By completing the surveys and optional video conferencing/in-person observation, you are giving your consent to voluntarily participate in this research project.

Appendix J

Adapted U.S.A.B.I.L.I.T.Y. Survey[©]

Instructions:

Rate your agreement with the following statements about how you feel in general when using electronic personal health records. Fill in the bubble that corresponds to the level of agreement that applies. For each question, 1 means strongly agree, 3 means neither disagree nor agree, and 5 means strongly disagree.

	Questions					
1.	An electronic personal health record is exactly what I need.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree
2.	I am satisfied with the overall appearance of the electronic personal health record.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree
3.	l am satisfied with the audio of the electronic personal health record.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree
4.	I can successfully use the electronic personal health record.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree
5.	I would recommend an electronic personal health record to a friend.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree
6.	The electronic personal health record is pleasant to use.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree

7. I will change my habits because of the electronic personal health record.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree
8. I will continue with what I am doing with my health.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree
9. I plan to use electronic personal health records in the future.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree
10. The electronic personal health record gave me a feeling of control over my health.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree
11. I know what information I need and can access from the electronic personal health record.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree
12. The information I received makes me feel in control.	1 Strongly Agree	2 Agree	3 Neither	4 Disagree	5 Strongly Disagree

(Caboral-Stevens, 2015)

Curriculum Vitae

Janelle Lynn Theisen MAN, RN, CNE

Education	University of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI
	PhD in NursingMay 2015-August 27, 2022
	Bethel University, St. Paul, MN
	August 2009-May 2011Masters of Arts in Nursing Education
	Bethel University, St. Paul, MN
	 August 2003-May 2007 Bachelors of Science Major in Nursing
Employment	Assistant Professor
	May 2015-presentUniversity of Northwestern, St. Paul, MN
	ATI Live Educator
	May 2022-presentATI Nursing Educator, Leawood, KS
	 Assistant Professor August 2011-May 2015 St. Catherine University, Minneapolis, MN
	Staff Nurse, Float Pool
	 July 2007-November 2015 St. John's Hospital, Maplewood, MN I floated to 5 adult medical-surgical units within St. John's Hospital, including the telemetry unit. I worked with a variety of patients, ranging from telemetry to oncology. Duties consisted of evaluating the patient, monitoring telemetry, labs and diagnostic studies, administering medications, and teaching patients about medications, treatments and diagnoses.
Teaching Experience	University of Northwestern, St. Paul, MN
	Assistant Professor-Baccalaureate Degree Nursing Program

- May 2015-Present
- Ranked faculty teaching in both the accelerated and traditional nursing programs
- Health Sciences Internship Course
 - o Summer 2022
 - o Spring 2022
 - Supervise nursing students during nursing internship with external healthcare organizations.
 - Provide academic oversight throughout the semester to ensure students achieve learning outcomes.
- Honors Component Course
 - Assist honors student to design, plan, and complete a scholarly project.
 - Provide guidance to allow student to produce a specific product that demonstrates learning.
 - Supervise and grade learning opportunity.
 - o Spring 2022
 - Student research in process on the evolution of the philosophy of nursing, including the concept of nursing as a vocation rather than an occupation.
 - o Fall 2021
 - Examining the Response to Fluid Bolus Therapy for Hypoperfusion to Kidneys due to Nephrolithiasis: A Case Study
 - o Fall 2020
 - HIV/AIDS
 - o Fall 2019
 - Effects of Sleep Deprivation Among Nurses: Poor Health Outcomes and Increased Occurrence of Medical Errors
 - o Fall 2018
 - Diabetes Mellitus
 - o Fall 2017
 - The Decline of Antibiotics
 - Physician-Assisted Suicide: A Nursing Perspective
- Success in Nursing Course
 - Co-teach a pre-nursing course on strategies to be successful in nursing school.
 - Develop and implement content and active learning strategies for course instruction.
- Medical-surgical courses (Semesters 1 and 2)
 - Responsible for teaching adult medical-surgical content in theory, laboratory, and clinical settings. Experience in active learning strategies, simulation,

skills validations, and curriculum development for these courses.

- Designed and implemented twelve, six-part unfolding simulations for the advanced med-surg course.
- Semester 3 Courses
 - Co-led transcultural trip to Quito, Ecuador spring semester 2021, and spring semester 2022.
 - Clinical faculty for mental health course at VA Hospital in inpatient and outpatient settings.
 - Assist in OB/Pediatrics summative simulation. Responsible for co-developing simulation and implementation of scenarios.
- Semester 4 Courses
 - Taught synthesis course spring semester 2019, including theory and laboratory simulation test-outs.
 - Taught NCLEX-RN prep course spring semester 2019.
 - Co-developed leadership clinical opportunities, such as Term 4 students teaching frontloading skills, study skills seminar, mentoring program and others.
- Remediation Course
 - Developed and implemented a remediation course for students who will be re-entering the program. Includes monthly learning sessions, additional learning resources, and frequent communication.

St. Catherine University, Minneapolis, MN

- Assistant Professor-Associate Degree Nursing Program
- August 2011-May 2015
- Ranked faculty teaching in the day traditional program.
- 2 and 3 Semester Medical-Surgical Courses
 - Responsible for teaching medical-surgical content across the lifespan for second and third semester nursing students in theory, laboratory, and clinical settings. Experience in active learning strategies, simulation, skills validations, and curriculum development for these courses.
- Course Coordinator January 2014-May 2015
 - Coordinate course activities, such as platform navigation, identifying course outcomes, calendar and syllabus, incorporating various learning activities and assignments, and team leadership.
- IPE Simulation Development September 2014

 Collaborated with nursing faculty, lab faculty/simulation expert, and physical therapy department to develop and implement an IPE simulation involving nursing students and physical therapy students, focusing on cardiac care and interpersonal interaction.

Scholarly Activities

Published Articles

- Theisen, J. L., Snethen, J. A., Gwon, S. H., Ellis, J. L., & Sapp, M. (2021). Facilitators and barriers to patient portal use in the older adult: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Informatics Nursing*, 6(3), 23-34.
- Theisen, J. L., & Sandau, K. E. (2013). Competency of new graduate nurses: A review of their weaknesses and strategies for success. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 44(9), 406-414. doi: 10.3928/00220124-20130671-38

Unpublished Article

• Kreuziger, S.K., Treisman, P.E., Kent, D.C., Theisen, J., Triesman, R.A., Kelber, S.T., & Snethen, J.A. (2020). *Nurse educator perceptions of student health needs*. Manuscript in preparation.

Poster Presentations

- Theisen, J., Snethen, J., Gwon, J., & Ellis, J. (2022, April). Facilitators and Barriers to Electronic Personal Health Record Use in the Older Adult Population. Poster session presented at MNRS Conference, Schaumburg, IL.
- Theisen, J. (2020, November). *Facilitators and Barriers to Older Adult Patient Portal Use: A Systematic Review of the Literature.* Poster session presented at the Eta Nu Chapter Poster Symposium, Milwaukee, WI.
- Brockway, C., Krist, D., & Theisen, J. (2019, July). To sim or not to sim? A comparative analysis of overall standardized test scores. Poster session presented at the NEC Conference, Vale, CO.
- Brockway, C., Krist, D., & Theisen, J. (2018, June). Utilization of simulation to educate nursing students on spiritual care. Poster session presented at the Innovations in Faith-Based Nursing Conference, Marion, IN.

Presentations

	 Theisen, J., Skoglund, A., & Wolgemuth, V. (2019, April). <i>HIPAA: Considerations for educational purposes</i>. Symposium presentation conducted at the Don't Hide From HIPAA Symposium, St. Paul, MN.
	Awards
	 1st place PhD Student Poster Award. Eta Nu Chapter 6th Annual Poster Symposium. November, 2020.
Continuing Education	SimCapture Training, June 18, 2021
	• Participated in hands-on SimCapture training by Laerdal.
	Sim Baby Virtual Training, June 11, 2021
	• Participated in virtual training of Sim Baby Simulator by Laerdal.
	UNW Faculty Symposium, May 6, 2021
	• Participated in virtual presentations.
	BLS Certification Course, April 2021BLS Renewal April 2023
	NEC Conference, July 9-12, 2019, Vale, CO
	• Poster presenter and participant in conference.
	Don't Hide From HIPAA Symposium, April 27, 2019, St. Paul, MN
	• Podium presentation and participant in conference.
	Nursing Anne Simulator Orientation, March 19, 2019
	• Participated in hands-on training of Nursing Anne Simulator by Laerdal.
	Preparing for CCNE Accreditation 2019: Getting a Jumpstart on the New Year, January 2019
	• Participated in webinar with UNWSP faculty.
	Social Media and the Law Webinar, January 2019
	• Participated in webinar with UNWSP faculty.
	Innovations in Faith-Based Nursing Conference, June 18-21, 2018, Marion, IN.

• Poster presenter and participant in conference with UNWSP faculty.

Saline Process Training, June 17, 2018

• Attended conference with UNWSP faculty.

Best Practices in Simulation Conference, May 17-18, 2017

• Attended conference with UNWSP faculty.

NLN SRIC Courses

• Completed 12 online courses on concepts related to simulation.

Elsevier Faculty Development Conference, March 15-18, 2017

• Attended and distributed information to faculty.

Simulation Conference-Regions Hospital, October 21, 2016

• Attended and distributed information to faculty.

Strengths Finder Assessment and Workshop, January, 2014

• Attended the workshop to identify strengths and utilize information for teamwork, collaboration, leadership, and service to students and colleagues.

Elsevier Faculty Development Conference, January 2-5, 2013

• Attended and distributed information to St. Catherine's University faculty members.

Certified Nurse Educator Course, December, 2013

- Participated in the course and passed the certified nurse educator exam in March, 2014.
- CNE certification renewal in March 2024.

Formation of the Heart: Dignity, Solidarity & Charity, January 2012

• Attended the workshop to better understand Catholic social teaching and how to incorporate that into the classroom.

Creating an Inclusive Nursing Environment, January 2012

• Attended the workshop to better understand how to incorporate different perspectives in the classroom.

NIH Stroke Scale Assessment, May 2011

	• Attended the class to become stroke certified on the stroke unit at St. John's Hospital.
	 Foundations of Telemetry, March 2010 Attended the class to become telemetry certified at St. John's Hospital.
	ECG Rhythm Interpretation, November 2009
	• Attended the class to become telemetry certified at St. John's Hospital.
Professional Service	St. Catherine University, St. Paul, MN
	 Committee on Students Member 2011-May 2015 Co-chair 2012-May 2015 Academic Advising September 2012-May 2015 Pinning Committee Co-chair 2012-May 2015 Pinning Committee Co-chair 2012-May 2015 Responsible for organizing biannual pinning ceremony for ADP nursing students. Educating Nurses Across Borders: Eritrea Project March 2014-January 2015 Mission is to provide comprehensive nursing education for remote communities around the world. Funded by the Catholic Health Association of the United States. Responsibilities include curriculum development, conversion of content to online format, participating in courses on instructional design, and collaboration with other healthcare professionals to develop an online curriculum for nuns providing nursing care in Eritrea, Africa. Curriculum Redesign Project for Associate Degree Nursing Program 2011-2012 academic year Focus on course NURS 7; 3rd level medical-surgical course My focus was collaborating with other faculty members to develop NURS 7, including outcomes, course description and activities

University of Northwestern-St. Paul

- Faculty Personnel Committee
 - o August 2021-present
 - Work with administration and faculty on issues of importance to individual faculty members.
 - Assist in developing, reviewing, and revising standards and procedures for promotion into professional ranks.
 - Review dossiers from applicants for promotion and make recommendations for promotion.
 - Review dossiers from applicants for extended contracts and make recommendations for extended contract.
 - Review grievance process.
 - Evaluate and make recommendations regarding faculty duties, working conditions, compensation and benefits.
 - Review the Faculty Handbook and submit recommendations, and submit suggested major changes to the administrative liaison and Faculty President to be presented to faculty-at-large.
- ATI Champion
 - January 2021 present
 - Serve as advocate for student success and program improvement. Function as an on-staff guide.
 - Help coordinate training, point faculty in the right direction, and ensure everyone is getting the most out of ATI solutions.
 - Develop yearly success plan for the program.
 - Explore and preview products and resources.
 - o Maintain open communication with representatives.
 - Coordinate the development, approval, implementation, and evaluation of a fair and equitable testing and remediation policy.
 - Evaluate student progress towards attainment of goals, identify at-risk students, refer students to appropriate resources for remediation and identify gaps in courses and program.
- ATI Taskforce Chair
 - November 2018-present
 - Chaired committee as liaison with ATI.
 Summarized recommendations for curriculum integration and presented findings to faculty.
- Nurse Mentor
 - o Summer 2020
 - Worked with nursing education graduate student as a nurse preceptor/mentor in the

academic setting. Supervised and evaluated nursing education activities in the online classroom environment.

- Spring 2018
 - Worked with nursing education graduate student as a nurse mentor in the academic setting. Supervised and evaluated nursing education activities, including clinical, simulation, and classroom teaching.
- UNWSP SON Scrub Run 5k
 - o May 6, 2017
 - Organized, obtained sponsors, and supervised students to host a 5k fundraiser.
- Mentor Program
 - o Fall 2017-present
 - Developed and oversaw a mentor program between cohorts as a way to provide support to incoming nursing students.
- Academic Technology Roundtable
 - o Fall 2017-present
 - Served on University committee
 - Faculty representative for SON and university faculty
- Eagle Advising
 - o 2016-present
 - Advise pre-nursing students upon acceptance to University of Northwestern
- Academic Advising
 - August 2016-present
 - Advise nursing students throughout program
- Simulation
 - February 2016-present
 - Developed and implemented a total of twelve, sixpart unfolding simulation experiences for the advanced medical-surgical course.
 - Develop and implement simulation scenarios throughout curriculum as needed and in collaboration with other course/faculty.
- Global Leadership Summit
 - August 13-14, 2016
 - Attended and facilitated discussion between nursing students and faculty members.